
City of Capitola Agenda

Mayor: Michael Termini 

Vice Mayor: Jacques Bertrand 

Council Members: Ed Bottorff 

Stephanie Harlan 

Kristen Petersen 

Treasurer: Peter Wilk 

REVISED CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

THURSDAY, JUNE 28, 2018 

7:00 PM 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA, CA  95010 

CLOSED SESSION – 6:15 PM 
CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE 

An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in 
the City Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.  Members of the public may, at 
this time, address the City Council on closed session items only.  There will be a report of 
any final decisions in City Council Chambers during the Open Session Meeting. 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54957.6] 

Negotiator: Dania Torres Wong 
Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Capitola Police 
Captains, (3) Capitola Police Officers Association, (4) Confidential Employees; (5) Mid-
Management Group; (6) Department Heads; and (7) City Manager 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL, EXISTING LITIGATION 

[Govt. Code §54956.9 (d)(1)] 

City of Capitola v. Water Rock Construction, Inc. 
Santa Clara Superior Court Case No. 16CV295795 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
[Govt. Code § 54956.9(d)(4)] 
1 potential case 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
June 28, 2018 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 6/22/2018 10:08 AM 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7 PM 

All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item. 
 
All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings. 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Kristen Petersen, Jacques Bertrand, Ed Bottorff, Stephanie Harlan, and 
Mayor Michael Termini 

 2. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Introduce New Sergeant  

B. Community Action Board Update  

 3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 

 4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet. 

 5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 

 6. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on 
any item not on the Agenda.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   
Individuals may not speak more than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must 
address the entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All 
speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so 
that their name may be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is 
set aside for Oral Communications at this time. 

 7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS 

City Council Members/City Treasurer/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or 
identify issues for staff response or future council consideration. 

 8. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS 

A. Review Regional Transportation Commission Bicycle Advisory Committee 
Appointment  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Recommend to the RTC Board that it approve 
appointment of Capitola’s representative to the Bicycle Advisory Committee. 
 
 
 

 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
June 28, 2018 

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 6/22/2018 10:08 AM 

 9. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed 
below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council 
votes on the action unless members of the public or the City Council request specific items 
to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered 
following General Government. 
 
Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have 
been read by title and further reading waived. 

A. Consider the May 30, 2018, Joint Budget Workshop Minutes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Consider the June 14, 2018, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

C. Planning Commission Action Minutes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive minutes. 

D. Approval of City Check Registers Dated May 4, May 11, May 18, and May 25, 2018  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 

E. Schedule Appeal of the Planning Commission Denial of Application 17-019, 4015 
Capitola Road  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Schedule the appeal hearing for the regular City Council 
meeting of October 25, 2018. 

F. Approval of Project Plans, Specifications, and Construction Estimate and 
Authorization of Advertising for Bids for 38th Avenue Sidewalk  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve the plans, specifications, and construction 
estimate for the 38th Avenue Sidewalk project; authorize the Department of Public 
Works to advertise for construction bids; and authorize the Public Works Director to 
award a contract to the lowest responsive bidder in an amount not to exceed the 
construction estimate. 

G. Consider a Resolution Calling the Election for November 6, 2018  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt a Resolution ordering an election, requesting 
Santa Cruz County Elections to conduct the election, and requesting consolidation of 
the Presidential General Election in the City of Capitola on Tuesday, November 6, 
2018. 

H. Second Reading of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 5.24 of the Capitola Municipal 
Code Pertaining to Entertainment Permits  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt an ordinance amending Municipal Code Chapter 
5.24. 

 10. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council 
deliberation; 5) Decision. 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
June 28, 2018 

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 6/22/2018 10:08 AM 

A. Consider the Fiscal Year 2018/2019 Budget and Capital Improvement Program for 
the City of Capitola  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve the Resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 
2018/19 City Budget and Capital Improvement Program. 

B. Review Options for Potential Ballot Measures for November 2018 General Election  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Provide direction to staff regarding items for potential 
placement on the November 2018 General Election ballot. 

C. Update on the Capitola Branch Library Project Construction Bids  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive report. 

D. Introduce an Ordinance Adding Chapter 5.36 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
Pertaining to Cannabis Retail Licenses and Amending Chapter 17.24 of the Regional 
Commercial Zoning District Pertaining to Conditional Land Uses to Authorize 
Commercial Retail Cannabis Uses in the Regional Commercial Zoning District and 
Adopt a Resolution to Authorize Criminal History Information for Licensing Purposes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
1. Direct staff on the maximum number of Cannabis Licenses to be permited within 

the Regional Commercial Zoning district;  

2. Approve first reading of an Ordinance adding Chapter 5.36 “Retail Cannabis 

Licenses” and amending Municipal Code Chapter 17.24 to authorize retail 

cannabis as a conditionally permitted use in the Regional Commercial zone; and  

3. Adopt a resolution approving an application for authorization to access State- 
and Federal-level summary criminal history information for licensing purposes. 

E. Consider Approval of Memoranda of Understanding with Labor Groups and Adopt 
Salary Schedule for FY 2018/19  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
1.  Authorize the City Manager to execute the successor agreements to existing 

Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) with negotiated changes from July 1, 2018, 
through June 30, 2020, for the following: 

a.  Association of Capitola Employees (ACE); 
b.  Mid-Management Employees’ Bargaining Unit; 
c.  Confidential Employees’ Bargaining Unit; 

2. Approve changes to the Management Compensation Plan. 

3. Approve changes to City Manager Employee Contract.  

4.   Adopt a Resolution approving the new salary schedule. 

F. Consider Fee Schedule for Fiscal Year 2018/19  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Conduct the noticed public hearing on the proposed City 
Fee Schedule for Fiscal Year 2018/2019 and adopt the proposed Resolution 
repealing Resolution No. 4077 and adopting the new fee schedule. 

 11. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
June 28, 2018 

City of Capitola Page 5 Updated 6/22/2018 10:08 AM 

Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court. 
 
Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org and at Capitola City Hall and at 
the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, prior to the meeting. Agendas are also 
available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, Capitola. Need more information? 
Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24-hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting Video.” 
Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at anytime. 

 



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Capitola Police Department 
 
SUBJECT: Introduce New Sergeant  
 

 
 

DISCUSSION: Sarah Ryan, a 12-year veteran of the Capitola Police Department, was 
promoted to police sergeant on May 20.  Sergeant Ryan was selected from a pool of six highly 
qualified candidates. She will be assigned to the Patrol Division, with many ancillary duties that 
include management of the City’s police department volunteers, the Reserves program, and the 
youth Explorer program.  In addition, Sergeant Ryan will oversee the entertainment permit and 
Alcohol Beverage Control regulatory process within the Police Department.   
 

 
Report Prepared By:   Terry McManus 
 Police Chief 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

2.A

Packet Pg. 6



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Community Action Board Update  
 

 
 
Representatives from the Community Action Board will present an overview of the nonprofit’s 
mission and programs. The City of Capitola holds a seat on its Board of Directors, currently 
filled by Council Member Kristen Petersen. 
 

 
Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

2.B

Packet Pg. 7



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Review Regional Transportation Commission Bicycle Advisory Committee 

Appointment  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Recommend to the RTC Board that it approve appointment of 
Capitola’s representative to the Bicycle Advisory Committee. 
 
BACKGROUND: The City of Capitola has a representative and alternate on the Santa Cruz 

County Regional Transportation Commission’s (RTC) Bicycle Advisory Committee. These 

positions are nominated by the City’s RTC representative, currently Council Member Bertrand, 

and approved by the RTC board. The nominations come first to the Capitola City Council for 

review since the positions represent the City’s interests. 

 

DISCUSSION: These positions have been vacant since March 2017, when the previous 

representative and alternate finished their terms and did not seek reappointment. City staff and 

Council Member Bertrand have been actively working with RTC staff to find a suitable applicant, 

and in early June Michael Moore applied (Attachment 1). Mr. Moore is a Capitola resident, 

active in the local bicycle community, and represented the City on the bicycle committee in 

previous decades. 

Council Member Bertrand is recommending support of Mr. Moore’s nomination. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Michael Moore Application & Statement_Redacted 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

8.A

Packet Pg. 8



Review RTC Bicycle Advisory Committee Appointment  
June 28, 2018 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.A

Packet Pg. 9



8.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ic
h

ae
l M

o
o

re
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 &
 S

ta
te

m
en

t_
R

ed
ac

te
d

  (
R

ev
ie

w
 R

T
C

 B
ic

yc
le

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

A
p

p
o

in
tm

en
t)



8.A.1

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ic
h

ae
l M

o
o

re
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 &
 S

ta
te

m
en

t_
R

ed
ac

te
d

  (
R

ev
ie

w
 R

T
C

 B
ic

yc
le

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

A
p

p
o

in
tm

en
t)



Michael Sean Moore 

517 Oak Drive 

Capitola, CA 95010 

831-334-1569 

mike@bicycletrip.com 

michaelseanmoore@gmail.com 

 

Statement of Qualifications; Bicycle Advisory Committee, Primary Representative-Capitola 

 

I’m a dynamic, passionate, entrepreneurial professional that has spent his life in the bicycle 

industry. I began cycling seriously in the 7th grade - training for cycle touring trips in Oregon - 

and a 24 hour bike marathon raising funds for the American Red Cross. I grew up in the 

Claremont Village - a one car household - walking and riding everywhere. Early on, I learned to 

appreciate safe and supportive pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure and resources. I moved to 

Santa Cruz in 1991 - and began working at Spokesman Bicycles in 1992; I’d later purchase that 

store with a friend and business partner. Prior to leaving Spokesman in 2003, I founded the 

Santa Cruz Bicycle Industry Coalition, in partnership with Piet Canin and Ecology Action. So too 

did I serve on the Bicycle Advisory Committee as Primary Representative for Capitola. Nine 

years ago, I joined Bicycle Trip, charged with expanding our impact in the community, growing 

revenue and enhancing profitability. On the heels of a successful 2017, we purchased Bike 

Station in Capitola’s Brown Ranch Marketplace - reopened the store this February as Bicycle 

Trip Capitola. As General Manager for Bicycle Trip Inc., I work in both store locations. My wife 

and I rented in the Capitola Village for years prior to purchasing a small cottage in the Riverview 

Terrace neighborhood in 2003. I commute to work by bicycle, often lengthening the trip with a 

boogie through the Santa Cruz Mountains. A dedicated recreational cyclist and retired bike 

racer, I train throughout our region, typically 10 hours a week. I’m personally and professionally 

dialed into the broad body of bicycle related issues in Santa Cruz County. I enjoy a profound 

connection to cyclists, roadway/bikeway conditions, bicycle and pedestrian plans and projects. 

As well, I’m keenly focused on contributing to and supporting the development and execution of 

true transportation solutions in our highly-impacted community. My views and values align with 

the crop of projects and policies driven by the RTC. I’m eager to re-join the Bicycle Advisory 

Committee as a civic-minded veteran bike commuter, recreational cyclist and bicycle industry 

insider. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ic
h

ae
l M

o
o

re
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 &
 S

ta
te

m
en

t_
R

ed
ac

te
d

  (
R

ev
ie

w
 R

T
C

 B
ic

yc
le

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

A
p

p
o

in
tm

en
t)

mailto:mike@bicycletrip.com�


 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the May 30, 2018, Joint Budget Workshop Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes of the joint budget 

workshop of May 30, 2018. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 5-30 joint budget minutes 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.A

Packet Pg. 13



 

 

DRAFT 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

JOINT BUDGET STUDY SESSION  
WEDNESDAY, MAY 30, 2018 – 6 PM 

 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Member Stephanie Harlan: Present, Council Member Ed Bottorff: Present, Mayor 
Michael Termini: Present, Vice Mayor Jacques Bertrand: Present, Council Member Kristen 
Petersen: Present. 
Treasurer Peter Wilk was present. 

 2. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS - None 

 3. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA - None 

 4. PUBLIC COMMENT - None 

 5. CITY COUNCIL / SUCCESSOR AGENCY / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS 

Treasurer Wilk encouraged public comment and suggestions about options for addressing 
future budget concerns. 
 
Council Member Bottorff responded to a previous suggestion to sell the Rispin mansion and 
noted that the City has struggled for more than 30 years with finding a use for it. 
 
Mayor Termini said the Twilight Concerts begin next Wednesday. 

 6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. Consider Approval of the May 16, 2018, Joint City Council/Successor Agency 
Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

 

MOTION: APPROVE AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Stephanie Harlan, Council Member 

SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

 7. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Continue Discussion of the Proposed 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget for the City of 
Capitola and the Capitola Successor Agency, with an Overview of the Capital 
Improvement Program [330-05/780-30] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
1. Receive a presentation on the FY 2018-19 proposed budgets,  
2. Provide staff direction on the proposed budgets, 
3. Determine whether or not to allow a new agency or organization to apply for the 

existing Community Grant Program for the upcoming grant cycle, and  
4. Continue budget deliberations to the next scheduled joint budget hearing on June 

6, 2108. 
 

City Manager Jamie Goldstein and Finance Director Jim Malberg provided an overview 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

-3
0 

jo
in

t 
b

u
d

g
et

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l B

u
d

g
et

 M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL /SUCCESSOR AGENCY  
JOINT BUDGET STUDY SESSION MINUTES 
May 30, 2018 

 

and update. Based on recent reports, sales tax receipts are slowing and other revenues 
are leveling out. The budget has been updated to reflect reduced sales tax revenues 
both in general fund and city sales tax measures. Funds from Measure F continue to be 
directed to wharf, jetty and flume projects, but revenue was reduced about $10,000. 
 

Public Works Director Steve Jesberg offered a look at how Public Works staff divides 
its time. The only flexibility is within capital improvement (CIP) and community 
(unscheduled) projects. Demands for administration, permits, public assistance, 
storm water programs, and development review demands remain constant over the 
years. Recent examples of unscheduled community projects are:  

• Topaz Street & Jewel Box traffic 

• Village employee permit parking 

• Parking & loading issues along Capitola Ave. 

• Trees - Park Avenue & Rispin 

• Creek access at railroad trestle 

• Perry Park restoration 

• Code enforcement 
 
The library is the major project for coming year.  
 
Director Malberg reviewed the proposal for the Community Grant Program and housing 
funds. 
 
City Manager Goldstein noted the City will spend the next year or more looking at ways 
to address the increase in Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) costs. Early 
options for increased revenue are a cannabis tax, a new hotel, increased transient 
occupancy tax, new sales taxes, updating the fee schedule, and contract services. 
Expenditure reductions would be based on City Council priorities. 
 
The existing PERS trust may earn more than the current 1.8 percent general fund return, 
but short-term market investment is more volatile. The PERS fund contains about 
$800,000 and could be used any year toward pension expenses. 
 
There was Council consensus to accept only applications from current grantees. 
 
Council Member Harlan clarified reasonings for reductions in contracts for United Way, 
recycling, and fish monitoring. 
 
Council Member Bottorff asked about funding status for the sidewalks on Park Avenue 
and the Rispin Park. Director Jesberg responded that he anticipates a shortage for the 
Rispin project of about $100,000, but Park Avenue should be fully funded.  
 
Council Member Bertrand confirmed that the Rispin project will be the full grounds 
except for the fountain. Staff also explained the process going forward to contract for 
Community Development Block Grants.  
 
The Finance Advisory Committee has recommended keeping all the fund balance liquid. 
Council Member Bottorff would like to fully fund Rispin Park with the remaining fund 
balance. Staff confirmed that leaving money in the fund balance would keep those funds 
available when bids come in.  
 
Council Member Harlan agreed that is important to discuss long-term budget options. 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

-3
0 

jo
in

t 
b

u
d

g
et

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l B

u
d

g
et

 M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL /SUCCESSOR AGENCY  
JOINT BUDGET STUDY SESSION MINUTES 
May 30, 2018 

 

 
The council reached consensus support for the draft budget as amended.  
 
 

MOTION: DIRECT STAFF TO PREPARE RESOLUTIONS TO ADOPT THE 
AMENDED BUDGET ON JUNE 28 AND CANCEL THE JUNE 6 AND JUNE 
21 BUDGET WORKSHOP MEETINGS 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Kristen Petersen 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

 8. ADJOURNMENT 

 The meeting adjourned at 6:43 p.m.  
 

    _________________________ 
     Michael Termini, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

-3
0 

jo
in

t 
b

u
d

g
et

 m
in

u
te

s 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l B

u
d

g
et

 M
in

u
te

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the June 14, 2018, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes of the regular 

meeting of June 14, 2018. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 6-14 draft minutes 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.B

Packet Pg. 17



 

 

DRAFT 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, JUNE 14, 2018 - 7:00 PM 

 
CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Termini called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. with the following items to be discussed 
in Closed Session: 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54957.6] 

Negotiator: Dania Torres Wong 
Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Capitola Police 
Captains, (3) Capitola Police Officers Association, (4) Confidential Employees; (5) Mid-
Management Group; and (6) Department Heads 
 

 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL, EXISTING LITIGATION 

[Govt. Code §54956.9 (d)(1)] 

City of Capitola v. Water Rock Construction, Inc. 
Santa Clara Superior Court Case No. 16CV295795 
 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION [Govt. Code §54957(b)]  

City Council’s Performance Evaluation of the City Attorney  
 

There was no public comment; therefore, the City Council recessed to Closed Session in the 
City Manager’s Office. Council Member Harlan joined the Council during closed session. 

 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7 PM 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Member Stephanie Harlan: Present, Council Member Ed Bottorff: Present, Mayor 
Michael Termini: Present, Vice Mayor Jacques Bertrand: Present, Council Member Kristen 
Petersen: Present. 
Treasurer Peter Wilk was present. 

 2. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 

City Attorney Tony Condotti announced that the Council received a report and gave direction 
regarding labor negotiations. There was no reportable action on the other items. 

 3. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

   A. Item 9.A – one public comment 

   B. Item 9.C – five public comments 

   C. Item 9.E – additional track changes attachment 

 4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA - None 

 5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Dan Finkel explained that road closures at both Blue Gum and Stockton Avenue prevent him 
from getting home and asked that there be coordination for such closures. 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



 

 

 
Lejla Bratovic, the new executive director of the Conflict Resolution Center, introduced 
herself and thanked the City for its ongoing partnership. 

 6. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS 

Community Development Director Katie Herlihy announced that her department just 
received notice it was awarded a Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) grant of 
$41,438 to update the City’s local hazard mitigation program. 
 
Treasurer Wilk noted the cost of providing biodegradable dog waste bags. 
 
Mayor Termini said the car show was successful. The second Twilight Concert was well 
attended, including by the mayor of Santa Cruz who was very complimentary. Mayor Termini 
noted that “Quiet Zone” signs along lower Monterey will be installed shortly in response to 
motorcycle noise concerns. He praised Council Members Bertrand and Bottorff, who 
attended a Regional Transportation Commission meeting all day and are here tonight. 

 7. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS 

A. Historical Museum Board Appointments 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Make appointments as recommended by the Historical 
Museum Board. 
 

MOTION: REAPPOINT PAM GREENINGER AND DAVID PEYTON TO FULL THREE-
YEAR TERMS AND APPOINT REBECCA HOBSON TO AN UNFINISHED 
TERM THROUGH JUNE 2019 AS RECOMMENDED  

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Jacques Bertrand, Vice Mayor 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen, Council Member 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

 8. CONSENT CALENDAR 

MOTION: ADOPT AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Stephanie Harlan, Council Member 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen, Council Member 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

A. Consider the May 24, 2018, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Consider the City's Investment Policy [100-10/350-10] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Confirm the City's Administrative Policy Number III-1, 
Investment Policy. 

C. Consider the Adoption of a Resolution Setting the Fiscal Year 2018/2019 
Appropriation Limit [330-05] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt Resolution No. 4113. 

D. Consider Brommer Street Complete Street Project Regional Transportation 
Improvement Program Funding Award and Award of an Engineering Design Contract 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Accept a Regional Transportation Improvement 
Program award from the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission in 
the amount of $470,000 for the Brommer Street Complete Street Project and award 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
June 14, 2018 

 

an engineering design contract to Kimley-Horn in the amount of $85,400. 

E. Consider Updated Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area Contract 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to enter into an updated 
agreement with the Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area. 

 9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Receive Report on Construction Bids Received for Capitola Branch Library Project 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive report and provide direction to staff.  

 
Public Works Director Steve Jesberg reported that bids were received last week and 
unfortunately came in well over the budget. Staff is meeting with the design team to 
provide options with the existing project or TO reject bids. Staff is not asking for direction 
at this point and hopes to bring back options soon. 
 
In public comment Jack Digby said the timing is difficult with competition for contractors 
and suggested delaying the project. 
 
TJ Welch supports the idea of a new library but is discouraged by how much over 
budget the bids are. He encouraged the City to redesign with a simpler plan. 
 
Gayle Ortiz asked the Council to find a way to build the library within budget. She also 
noted the city has a contract with the county to build a library now. 
 
Mayor Termini asked project manager David Tanza if the existing plans can be 
redesigned. Mr. Tanza said the construction market is unstable and other Bay Area 
cities are facing similar problems, but Capitola has opportunities. 
 
Council Member Bottorff encouraged expediting the process. 

 

RESULT: RECEIVED REPORT 

B. Receive Report on Status of Measure F Projects on the Beach Jetty, Flume and 
Wharf and Consider a Contract Amendment for Moffatt and Nichol for These Projects 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve a contract amendment to Moffatt and Nichol’s 
contract in the amount of $524,500 for engineering services for the permitting, 
engineering, and conceptual design of the Wharf, Flume, and Jetty Improvement 
Projects.  
 

Project Manager Kailash Mozumber gave a brief overview of actions to date and 
introduced Sam Tooley of Moffat and Nichol. He explained the amendment would take 
the flume and jetty projects through final design and permitting, and continue work on 
design development for the wharf. 
 
Mr. Tooley said that meetings are underway with the Army Corps of Engineers to repair 
the flume’s deteriorated concrete and install a lining. The jetty project will restore rocks 
and membrane that have shifted over time. 
 
He noted that engineers have recommended widening the portion of the wharf between 
the shore and the buildings to increase strength. Other opportunities include replacing 
buildings, replacing the public restroom to make it more accessible and building new 
restrooms at the foot of the wharf, and adding new seating elements, which were well 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



 

 

received by the public at outreach meetings. 
 
Mayor Termini confirmed that the scope of the contract can be modified. 
 
Council members asked how much of the contract includes work on the wharf buildings 
themselves, and were told design development is $70,000. Mr. Tooley said during this 
phase it is most important to clarify costs from the broad estimates that have been 
presented so far. Design development would provide more concrete figures. In response 
to questions, Director Jesberg confirmed that buildings could be undertaken in a second 
phase. 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Council Member Bottorff expressed concerns that the vision is more than the City can 
afford for the buildings and he does not wish to put multi-million-dollar structures on an 
unstable foundation, especially considering sea level rise. He asked if the level of the 
wharf can be raised and asked about the 20-year estimate under current plans. 
 
Council Member Bertrand asked how much longer life a higher wharf would have. 
 
Mr. Tooley said life estimates require risk analysis and could be included in this phase. 
He explained that the 20-year estimate for the original proposal is for how long before 
significant piling repair would be required, not the life of the wharf. Elevating the wharf 
would be quite complicated but a cost could be provided. 
 
City Manager Goldstein discouraged a more expensive option given that revenue and 
cost projections are challenging. In response to a question, he said increased height 
may increase regulatory scrutiny. Director Jesberg explained that the widening at the 
foot of the wharf supports the initial goal of fewer closings. He confirmed that the only 
way to raise the wharf is to completely rebuild, which would likely result in longer 
closures for the businesses on the wharf. 
 
There was Council consensus to approve the contract deferring the building design 
portion. 

 

MOTION: APPROVE AN AMENDED CONTRACT THAT DOES NOT INCLUDE 
DESIGN DEVELOPMENT FOR BUILDINGS ON THE WHARF 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

C. Consider Capitola Beach Festival Special Event Permit 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Review the Capitola Beach Festival Committee’s 
request for a Special Event Permit, including an Encroachment Permit, Amplified 
Sound Permit, and Banner Permit for the proposed Capitola Beach Festival and 
provide direction. 
 

Police Chief Terry McManus presented the staff report and noted the Council previously 
held a conceptual review on March 8. He said the "Little Wharf To Wharf" run and 
nautical parade would have the greatest staff impact. The run requires road and Village 
closures, and shuttling participants to their vehicles.  
 
 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
June 14, 2018 

 

Holding the nautical parade at night generated concern at the March meeting and the 
following conditions are recommended to address those worries: 
 

• The start time will be sunset and the event will end by 8:30 p.m. 

• Participation limited to 12 float barges 

• Provide four water marshals 

• Contract lifeguard services 

• Include portable beach lighting 

• Float lights will be turned on only past the trestle 

• First Alarm security hired for trestle entry points 
 
Staff noted that other permits from regulatory agencies may be required for a night 
parade. 
 
Council Member Bottorff clarified elements regarding lifeguards, trestle closing, and 
timing for the path lighting to go off. 
 
Council Member Bertrand said he walked the Riverview neighborhood and residents 
asked about liability for the evening event. Most were open to giving the event a try. 
 
Council Member Petersen asked about plans to move observers off the Riverwalk and 
learned event organizers will support that effort. 
 
Treasurer Wilk asked if there were concerns about overtime costs. The City will be 
reimbursed. 
 
In public comment, event committee member Dave Peyton offered details about the 
parade and floats to limit on-site construction. 
 
Laurie Hill, former Begonia Festival chair, said many festival leaders have joined this 
effort. 
 
Mayor Termini said that he has been cleared by the City Attorney to participate in this 
item, but that because he signed the permit application he will not offer comments. 
 
Council Member Bottorff praised the effort put into the planning and asked that a 
condition requiring two personal floatation devices on each float be added. 
 
Council Member Petersen echoed his praise and feels safety concerns have been 
addressed. 
 

MOTION: APPROVE THE REQUESTED PERMITS WITH THE ADDITION OF THE 
REQUIREMENT FOR TWO PERSONAL FLOATATION DEVICES PER 
FLOAT TO THE OTHER SPECIAL EVENT CONDITIONS. 

RESULT: ADOPTED AS AMENDED [4 TO 1] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen, Council Member 

SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

AYES: Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini, Jacques Bertrand, Kristen Petersen 

NAYS: Stephanie Harlan 

D. Consider a Resolution for the Levy of Capitola Village and Wharf Business 
Improvement Area Assessments for Fiscal Year 2018/2019 [140-05] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Conduct the public hearing and adopt Resolution No. 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



 

 

4114 levying the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Capitola Village and Wharf Business 
Improvement Area (CVWBIA) Assessments and accepting the CVWBIA Annual Plan 
and budget. 
 

Finance Director Jim Malberg provided a quick overview and introduced Carin Hanna of 
the CVWBIA to answer questions. 
 
Ms. Hanna said this year there will be more focus on social media marketing and the 
group hopes to get strong analytics to measure response. CVWBIA member Yellow Bus 
will help. 
 
Council Member Bertrand asked the history behind the fees and was told many 
meetings among business owners took place initially. The in-lieu option was added after 
the first year.  
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Council Member Bottorff said he is working with the CVWBIA on another project and 
hopes for increased cooperation. 

 

MOTION: ADOPT THE RESOLUTION AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen, Council Member 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

E. Introduce an Ordinance Amending Chapter 5.24 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
Pertaining to Entertainment Permits 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the first reading of an ordinance amending 
Municipal Code Chapter 5.24. 

 
Chief McManus presented the staff report. The proposed amendment would codify 
existing policy and practice. 
 
Council Member Bertrand confirmed that changes in allowed water use and storm water 
management prevent businesses from hosing off their own portions of the sidewalk. 
 
There was no public comment. 

 

MOTION: APPROVE FIRST READING AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPOTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Harlan, Bottorff, Termini, Bertrand, Petersen 

 10. ADJOURNMENT 

 The meeting adjourned at 8:37 p.m.  
 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
June 14, 2018 

 

    __________________________ 
     Michael Termini, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

-1
4 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Planning Commission Action Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive minutes. 
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for Council review are the action minutes of the June 7, 2018, Planning 

Commission regular meeting. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 06-07-2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.C

Packet Pg. 25



City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 6/14/2018 4:42 PM  

DRAFT ACTION MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, JUNE 7, 2018 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - April 5, 2018 7:00 PM 
 
MOTION: Accept minutes of April 5, 2018. 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

 
2. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - May 3, 2018 7:00 PM 
 
MOTION: Accept minutes of May 3, 2018. 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
A. 734 Orchid Avenue #18-0136 APN: 036-181-03 

Design Permit for an addition to a single-family home, located in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Nora Seaman 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, Designer, Filed: 03.27.2018 
 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

6-
07

-2
01

8 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
Ju

n
e 

7,
 2

01
8 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 A
ct

io
n

 M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 7, 2018 2 
 
MOTION: Approve Design Permit. 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

 
B. 4795 Garnet Street #18-0154 APN: 034-037-16 

Design Permit to add new roofs to an existing nonconforming duplex and detached garage 
in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: CBP Enterprises 
Representative: Heidi Anderson Spicer, Architect, Filed: 04.04.2018 
 

MOTION: Approve Design Permit. 

RESULT: APPROVED [4 TO 0] 

MOVER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Welch, Westman, Storey 

RECUSED: Newman 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. 620 Monterey Avenue #18-041 APN: 036-101-38 
Coastal Development Permit to demolish one classroom building and 12 existing portable 
buildings onsite and construct four new buildings for classrooms, art/woodshop rooms, 
physical education, and locker rooms at New Brighton Middle School.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is not 
appealable to the Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Soquel Union Elementary School District 
Representative: Madi Architecture and Planning 
 

MOTION: Approve Coastal Development Permit, as amended. 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

 
B. 105 Stockton Avenue #18-0170 APN: 035-171-21 

Amendment to the Master Sign Program at 103/105 Stockton Avenue to allow an additional 
wall sign in the C-V (Central Village) Zoning District. 
This project is located within the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Peter Hubback 
Representative: Vahan Tchakerian, Filed: 04.17.2018 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

6-
07

-2
01

8 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
Ju

n
e 

7,
 2

01
8 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 A
ct

io
n

 M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 7, 2018 3 
 
MOTION: Continue Amendment to the Master Sign Program to next regular meeting. 

RESULT: CONTINUED [UNANIMOUS]               Next Meeting: July 19, 2018  

MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

 
C. Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District   

Amendment to Regional Commercial Zoning District to allow a new conditional use for a 
limited number of retail cannabis establishments, subject to regulations and review criteria, 
in compliance with state law. The proposed ordinance shall only go into effect if a ballot 
measure for a cannabis tax is passed by Capitola voters in November 2018.  
This zoning amendment will not impact properties in the Coastal Zone and therefore does 
not require Coastal Commission adoption.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: All properties in the Regional Commercial zone 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director 
 

MOTION: Recommend adoption of Amendment to Regional Commercial Zoning District, as 
amended. 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [3 TO 2] 

MOVER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Westman, Storey 

NAYS: Newman, Welch 

 
D. 4015 Capitola Road #17-019 APN: 034-261-40 

Design Permit to renovate the existing SEARS into three tenant spaces (Sears, 
TJ Maxx/Homegoods, and PetSmart) with remodeled exterior facades, two 4,000 
square foot building pads for a future development phase, and a Master Sign 
Program located for the three tenants within the CC (Community Commercial) 
zoning district.  
This project is not located in the Coastal Zone. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption, Section 15270 of the 
CEQA guidelines  
Property Owner: Seritage SRC Finance LLC 
Representative: Mark Rone, Cypress Equities 
 

MOTION: Deny Design Permit with prejudice. 

RESULT: DENIED [3 TO 2] 

MOVER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Westman 

NAYS: Welch, Storey 

 
6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
8. ADJOURNMENT 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 0

6-
07

-2
01

8 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 A

ct
io

n
 M

in
u

te
s 

 (
Ju

n
e 

7,
 2

01
8 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 A
ct

io
n

 M
in

u
te

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers Dated May 4, May 11, May 18 and May 25, 

2018  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 
 

Account: City Main 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Check/EFT 

Count 
Amount 

5/4/2018 89403 89441 44 $186,786.05 

5/11/2018 89442 89488 47 $85,891.44 

5/18/2018 89489 89545 62 $187,895.91 

5/25/2018 89546 89630 87 $91,556.14 

The main account check register dated April 27, 2018, ended with check #89402. 
 

Account: Library 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Check/EFT 

Count 
Amount 

5/4/2018 67 67 1 $3,059.50 

5/18/2018 68 68 1 $3,135 

5/25/2018 69 69 1 $119,139.72 

The library account check register dated April 27, 2018, ended with check #66. 
 

Account: Payroll 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Check/EFT 

Count 
Amount 

4/28/2018 5325 5325 1 $21,425.62 

5/11/2018 5326 5331 97 $149,755.56 

5/25/2018 5332 5336 94 $220,462.47 

The payroll account check register dated April 27, 2018, ended with check #5324.  Check #5325 
was a final paycheck for the Community Development Director. 
 
Following is a list of checks issued for more than $10,000 and a brief description of the expenditure: 
 

Check Issued to Dept Description Amount 

EFT 601 CalPERS Health FN May health insurance $59,909.14 

9.D

Packet Pg. 29



Approval of City Check Registers  
June 28, 2018 
 

EFT 602 
CalPERS Member 

Services 
FN 

PERS contributions 

PPE 4/21/18 
$48,391.14 

EFT 604 IRS FN 
Federal taxes and Medicare 

PPE 4/21/18 
$24,121.13 

89470 Moffat and Nichol PW 
Wharf outreach, conceptual 

design, geotechnical study 
$20,713.11 

89477 SCC Auditor-Controller PD April citation processing $10,384 

89490 
Atchison Barisone 

Condotti & Kovacevich 
CM April legal services $32,879.74 

89501 
Emergency Vehicle 

Specialists 
PD 

2018 Ford SUV equipment 

installation 
$18,455.73 

89535 Wells Fargo Bank FN April credit card purchases $13,303.91 

EFT 605 
CalPERS Member 

Services 
FN 

PERS contributions 

PPE 5/5/18 
$47,960.10 

EFT 607 IRS FN 
Federal taxes and Medicare 

PPE 5/5/18 
$23,153.52 

89572 County of Santa Cruz CM 
Homeless Action Partnership 

cost share 
$31,525 

69 Noll and Tam Architects PW 

Library construction 

documents, 

supplemental services, donor 

recognition 

$119,139.72 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 5/4/18 City Check Register 
2. 5/11/18 City Check Register 
3. 5/18/18 City Check Register 
4. 5/25/18 City Check Register 

 
Report Prepared By:   Maura Herlihy 
 Account Technician 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.D

Packet Pg. 30



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.1

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/4
/1

8 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.2

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
1/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.3

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/1
8/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



9.D.4

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

/2
5/

18
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Schedule Appeal of the Planning Commission Denial of Application 17-019, 4015 

Capitola Road  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Schedule the appeal hearing for the regular City Council meeting of 
October 25, 2018. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: On June 7, 2018, the Planning Commission held a hearing for 

application #17-019, the Sears property at 4015 Capitola Road, and denied the application with 

prejudice. The applicant appealed the decision on June 18 (Attachment 1). Capitola Municipal 

Code §2.52.030 requires the City Council either to hear or schedule the appeal at its next 

regular meeting. The City Clerk reached out to the applicant’s attorney about setting the appeal 

for the July 26 meeting, but the applicant indicated its team could not make that date and 

requested October 25.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.E

Packet Pg. 68



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Public Works Department 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of Project Plans, Specifications, and Construction Estimate and 

Authorization of Advertising for Bids for 38th Avenue Sidewalk  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve the plans, specifications, and construction estimate for 
the 38th Avenue Sidewalk project; authorize the Department of Public Works to advertise for 
construction bids; and authorize the Public Works Director to award a contract to the lowest 
responsive bidder in an amount not to exceed the construction estimate. 
 
BACKGROUND: Included in the 2018-19 Capital Improvement Program is the 38th Avenue 

Sidewalk project that will construct new sidewalk along the western side of 38th Avenue from 

Capitola Road approximately 450 feet south. (See Attachment 1.) This project will fill in a gap in 

the sidewalk network that has been identified in both the General Plan and Regional 

Transportation Improvement Program. All the adjacent property owners have been consulted 

with regarding the sidewalk improvements and have signed right-of-entry agreements. The 

project will also include the replacement of a section of failed sidewalk along Capitola Road 

immediately west of 38th Avenue. 

 

DISCUSSION: The project schedule is as follows: 

 Plan approval   June 28, 2018 
 Bid opening  August 1, 2018 
 Contract Award August 9, 2018 
 Construction   September 2018 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The construction estimate is $108,661 (Attachment 2). Funding is from an 

Regional Surface Transportation Program Exchange grant from the Santa Cruz County 

Regional Transportation Commission of $96,450 with the balance coming from a general fund 

allocation to the project.  

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 38th Avenue Plans 
2. 38th Avenue Cost Estimate 

 
Report Prepared By:   Steve Jesberg 
 Public Works Director 

9.F

Packet Pg. 69



38th Avenue Sidewalk to bid  
June 28, 2018 
 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.F

Packet Pg. 70



9.F.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

id
ew

al
k 

to
 b

id
)



9.F.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

id
ew

al
k 

to
 b

id
)



9.F.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

id
ew

al
k 

to
 b

id
)



Construction Estimate Project: 38th Avenue Sidewalks 2018

Bid Opening Date:

Item Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Total

1 Concrete Sidewalk (New) SF 872 $20.00 $17,440

2 Concrete Curb & Gutter (New) LF 208 $90.00 $18,720

3 Concrete Curb & Approaches LF 50 $135.00 $6,750

4 Concrete Approaches & Ramps to scoring (4 total) SF 702 $37.00 $25,974

5 Driveway Conforms SF 372 $6.00 $2,232

6 Adjust Water Valve Boxes to Grade EA 4 $580.00 $2,320

7 Shrub Removal (Clear & Grub) SF 410 $1.50 $615

8 Demolition (included in remove & replace costs) LS 1 $10,000

9 Traffic Control and Construction Area Signs LS 1 $5,000

10 Temporary Water Polluition Control and Erosion Control LS 1 $1,500

11 Mobilization LS 10% Total $9,055

Subtotal $90,551

10% Contingency $9,055

Total $108,661

Probable Cost

Opinion of

1-Aug-18

9.F.2

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e 
C

o
st

 E
st

im
at

e 
 (

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

id
ew

al
k 

to
 b

id
)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider a Resolution Calling the Election for November 6, 2018  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt a Resolution ordering an election, requesting Santa Cruz 
County Elections to conduct the election, and requesting consolidation of the Presidential 
General Election in the City of Capitola on Tuesday, November 6, 2018. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 1.30 requires general 

municipal elections to be held on the same day as statewide general elections. The 2018 

election will be held in Capitola on Tuesday, November 6, 2018. The purpose of the 2018 

General Municipal Election will be to elect three members of the City Council for the full term of 

four years. An information sheet regarding the offices to be filled and nomination procedure is 

included as Attachment 1.  

 

The City’s elections have traditionally been consolidated with other local elections and 

conducted by Santa Cruz County Elections at the City’s request. The County requires that the 

City Council adopt a resolution ordering an election, requesting consolidation, and requesting 

County Elections to conduct the election. The City must also publish a notice of the election 

between July 2 and July 16. 

 

Discussion of potential ballot measures that may also be included on the November 2018 ballot 

is a separate agenda item under General Government. The language for any measures will be 

noticed at a later date. 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: The County estimates that costs for the consolidated election will be $2.50 

per voter. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Capitola General Municipal Election info sheet (PDF) 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

9.G

Packet Pg. 75



Call the November 6, 2018, Election  
June 28, 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.G

Packet Pg. 76



Call the November 6, 2018, Election  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA ORDERING AN 
ELECTION, REQUESTING COUNTY ELECTIONS TO CONDUCT THE ELECTIONS, AND 

REQUESTING CONSOLIDATION OF THE PRESIDENTIAL GENERAL MUNICIPAL 
ELECTION IN THE CITY OF CAPITOLA ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2018 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10002, the governing body of any City 
may by Resolution request the Board of Supervisors of the County to permit the County 
Elections Official to render specified services to the City relating to the conduct of an election; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Resolution of the governing body of the City shall specify the services 
requested; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10002, the City shall reimburse the 
County in full for the services performed upon presentation of a bill to the City; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10400, whenever two or more 
elections, including bond elections, of any legislative or congressional District, Public District, 
City, County, or other political subdivision are called to be held on the same day, in the same 
territory, or in territory that is in part the same, they may be consolidated upon the order of the 
governing body or bodies or officer or officers calling the elections; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10400, such election for cities may be 
either completely or partially consolidated; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10403, whenever an election called by a 
district, city or other political subdivision for the submission of any question, proposition, or office to 
be filled is to be consolidated with a statewide election, and the question, proposition, or office to be 
filled is to appear upon the same ballot as that provided for that statewide election, the district, city 
or other political subdivision shall, at least 88 days prior to the date of the election, file with the 
board of supervisors, and a copy with the elections official, a resolution of its governing board 
requesting the consolidation, and setting forth the exact form of any question, proposition, or office 
to be voted upon at the election, as it is to appear on the ballot, acknowledging that the 
consolidation election will be held and conducted in the manner prescribed in Section 10418. Upon 
such request, the Board of Supervisors may order the consolidation; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Elections Code Section 10418, if consolidated, the consolidated 
election shall be held and conducted, election boards appointed, voting precincts designated, 
candidates nominated, ballots printed, polls opened and closed, voter challenges determined, 
ballots counted and returned, returns canvassed, results declared, certificates of election issued, 
recounts conducted, election contests presented, and all other proceedings incidental to and 
connected with the election shall be regulated and done in accordance with the provisions of law 
regulating the statewide or special election, or the election held pursuant to Section 1302 or 1303, 
as applicable. 

WHEREAS, the Resolution requesting the consolidation shall be adopted and filed at the 
same time as the adoption of the Ordinance, Resolution, or order calling the election; and 

WHEREAS, various District, County, State and other political subdivision elections may 
be or have been called to be held on November 6, 2018; and 

9.G

Packet Pg. 77



Call the November 6, 2018, Election  
June 28, 2018 
 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk is directed to forward without delay to the Board of 
Supervisors and to the County Election Department, each a certified copy of this Resolution; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this Resolution 
and enter it into the book of original Resolutions. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the City Council of the 
City of Capitola hereby orders an election be called and consolidated with any and all elections also 
called to be held on November 6, 2018 insofar as said elections are to be held in the same territory 
or in territory that is in part the same as the territory of the City of Capitola and requests the Board of 
Supervisors of the County of Santa Cruz to order such consolidation under Elections Code Sections 
10401, 10403 and 10418. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the City 
Council of the City of Capitola hereby requests the Board of Supervisors to permit the Santa 
Cruz County Elections Department to provide any and all services necessary for conducting the 
election and agrees to pay for said services; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the Santa Cruz 
County Elections Department conduct the election for the following 
offices to be voted on at the November 6, 2018, election:   

Seats Open   Office                Term 
Three (3)  Member of the City Council  Four (4) Years 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Capitola on the 28th day of June, 2018, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

____________________ 
Michael Termini, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

9.G

Packet Pg. 78



 

Capitola General Municipal Election 
 
The City of Capitola will hold its General Municipal Election concurrently with the 
November 6, 2018, statewide election. Three of the five City Council at-large seats will 
be up for election. These are currently held by: 

• Jacques Bertrand 
• Stephanie Harlan (termed out) 
• Michael Termini (termed out) 

Terms are for four years, from December 2018 through December 2022. 

The nomination period runs from July 16 through August 10, 2018. Candidates for city 
office must be nominated by not less than 20 nor more than 30 Capitola voters. 
Nomination documents are obtained from and filed with the City Clerk. The nomination 
papers include an affidavit of the nominee (candidate) that he or she will accept the 
office if elected.  Please schedule an appointment to go over the required paperwork. 
Candidates must be registered voters of the City. 

Potential candidates who wish to raise or spend money must also file paperwork for 
the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) before any financial action, even if no 
other papers have been filed. 

The City and County elections staff will host a candidate information night Wednesday, 
June 27, from 6 to 7:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers. 

 

9.G.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 G
en

er
al

 M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 E
le

ct
io

n
 in

fo
 s

h
ee

t 
 (

C
al

l t
h

e 
N

o
ve

m
b

er
 6

, 2
01

8,
 E

le
ct

io
n

)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Second Reading of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 5.24 of the Capitola 

Municipal Code Pertaining to Entertainment Permits  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt an ordinance amending Municipal Code Chapter 5.24. 
 
BACKGROUND: The City Council adopted Ordinance 699 on October 25, 1990, introducing 
Chapter 5.24 of the Capitola Municipal Code to properly permit and regulate entertainment 
businesses.  Entertainment permits are separated into three classifications based upon type 
and potential impact to the community and staff resources. The three classifications are as 
follows: 
 

• Single-Event Entertainment Permit: issued for activities that will occur within a single 
seven-day period. 

• Minor Entertainment Permit: issued for a business that offers entertainment incidental to 
the primary business, does not qualify for a Single-Event permit, and which has no 
dance floor or elevated stage and which never has a cover charge.  

• Regular Entertainment Permit: issued for a business which offers entertainment, but 
which does not qualify for a Single-Event Permit or a Minor Event Permit.  

The City of Capitola currently has five Minor Entertainment Permits and four Regular 
Entertainment Permits that are re-issued on an annual basis after staff review of renewal 
applications.  There were no Single-Event Permits issued for the 2017 calendar year, and there 
have been no permits issued to date in 2018.     
 
 
DISCUSSION: The proposed ordinance amending Chapter 5.24 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
is intended to update the language related to the issuance of permits and the process for 
imposing specific conditions upon the permit.  Specifically, the proposed ordinance will codify 
the process established by the City Council in 2005, which called for the renewal of regular 
entertainment permits at a staff level.   
 
Additionally, the amended language is intended to clarify the revocation, non-renewal, and 
appeal process to properly reflect existing staff protocols, best practices, and Chapter 2.52 of 
the Capitola Municipal Code.   
 

9.H

Packet Pg. 80



Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit  
June 28, 2018 
 
Finally, staff recommends removing the requirement that Village entertainment permittees 
steam clean their sidewalks on a minimum bi-monthly basis.  This recommended change is due 
to water quality regulations and water district requirements, as well as the City’s expanded 
sidewalk cleaning program which includes steam cleaning sidewalks in front of the Village 
restaurants and bars two times per month and the entire Village one time per month during the 
summer months. 
 
The Council held a public hearing and passed the first reading of the proposed amendment at 
its regular meeting on June 14, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 
 

 
Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

9.H

Packet Pg. 81



Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
AMENDING CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 5.24 - ENTERTAINMENT PERMITS 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1: Chapter 17.24 - Entertainment Permits of the Capitola Municipal Code is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 

“5.24.005 Findings. 

The City Council finds as follows: 

A. Entertainment often produces noise which is obtrusive to persons not patronizing the 
business or activity which produces the noise. 

B. The availability of entertainment is often a significant factor in attracting patrons who infringe 
upon the peace and quiet and nightly sleep of non-patrons, and is exacerbated by any of the 
following: 

1. The entertainment is offered in conjunction with the distribution of alcohol. 

2. The entertainment is offered by businesses which are open after nine p.m. and do not, 
like theaters, have fixed beginning and ending times at which most of the patrons enter 
and exit. 

3. The entertainment is offered in an area where there is a concentration of similar 
businesses, thereby resulting in the area becoming an after-hours draw and the patrons of 
those businesses frequently entering and exiting the other establishments. 

4. The entertainment is offered in locations where many of the patrons, when leaving, 
pass through or near areas where people reside. 

C. To protect the peace and quiet of non-patrons and their nightly ability to sleep it is necessary 
to have a licensing system and to thereby limit and condition the establishments offering such 
entertainment. 

D. Policing and monitoring entertainment licenses entails considerable expense to the city, such 
that it is appropriate to collect a portion of such expenses from the entities providing the 
entertainment.  

5.24.010 Entertainment defined. 

“Entertainment,” as used in this chapter, means and includes: 

A. A performance by live entertainers for the purpose of entertaining the patrons of a business; 
or 

B. Playing recorded music, whether with or without video, for the specific purpose of 
entertaining the patrons, invitees or visitors of a business, commercial establishment or meeting 

9.H

Packet Pg. 82



Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit  
June 28, 2018 
 
facility. 

“Entertainment,” as used in this chapter, does not include a speech, pantomime or enactment 
(whether live or recorded), the primary purpose of which is to convey ideas of a political or 
religious nature, or to explain or critique the activities of public figures or of governmental or 
other institutions. It does not include mere background (“Muzak”) music played at moderate 
levels. (Ord. 745 § 2, 1992; Ord. 699 (part), 1990) 

5.24.020 Entertainment permit required. 

No owner, manager or operator of any business or establishment (except theaters, as defined in 
Section 5.24.025) may arrange for or allow entertainment to be conducted on the premises of 
any such business or establishment without obtaining an entertainment permit as provided in 
this chapter. No person shall arrange for or promote entertainment on any publicly-owned park, 
street or facility without first obtaining an entertainment permit as provided in this chapter. 
However, entertainment which is entirely enclosed within a structure and which cannot, at any 
time, be audible outside of that structure, need not have any entertainment permit.  

5.24.025 Theater defined. 

“Theater,” for purposes of this chapter, means an establishment: 

A. Whose primary activity is showing movies or staging theatrical productions which have fixed 
beginning and ending times; and 

B. Primarily offer food or drinks only to those attending the movie of theatrical event.  

5.24.030 Permit classifications. 

Entertainment permits shall be classified as follows: 

A. A Single-Event entertainment permit may be issued for activities that will all occur within a 
single seven-day period. 

B. A Minor Entertainment permit is for a business which offers entertainment incidental to the 
primary business, does not qualify for a Single-Event permit, and which has no dance floor or 
elevated state and which never has a cover charge. 

C. A Regular Entertainment permit is for businesses which offer entertainment, but which do not 
qualify for a Single-Event entertainment permit or a Minor Entertainment permit.  

5.24.040 Permit issuance. 

A. The city council shall issue new Regular Entertainment permits. 

B. The city manager or department head designee may issue recurring Regular Entertainment 
permits, Single Event entertainment permits and Minor Entertainment permits. The city 
manager, in the exercise of his or her discretion, may refer any Single Event entertainment 
permit application, recurring Regular Entertainment permit, or Minor Entertainment permit 
application to the city council for its consideration. 

C. Entertainment permits may be issued as herein provided for upon the city council’s or city 
manager’s finding that: 

9.H

Packet Pg. 83



Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit  
June 28, 2018 
 

1. No significant number of non-patrons will be disturbed by the entertainment, which is 
the subject of the permit application or, by the goings and comings of the people 
patronizing the entertainment events, which are the subject of the permit application; 

2. The establishment at which the entertainment is to be provided or the entity which is 
applying for the entertainment permit is currently in compliance with all applicable state 
and local building, zoning, fire, and other regulations pertaining to public health and safety 
as well as any other statutes, ordinances, regulations, or permits that pertain to the 
establishment or the property on which the establishment is situated. 

D. When necessary to assure that the entertainment which is the subject of the permit 
application will not result in disturbance to non-patrons, the city council or city manager may 
condition the permit to assure non-disturbance by imposing permit-specific conditions relating 
to, but not limited to, days of operation, hours of operation, best practices to minimize public 
safety issues, noise level limitations, noise reduction and other, similar measures.  

5.24.045 Appeals. 

A permit applicant whose application for a Single Event entertainment permit, recurring Regular 
Entertainment permits or Minor Entertainment permit is denied by the city manager, or who is 
dissatisfied with the conditions imposed upon the permit issued by the city manager, may 
appeal to the city council in accordance with Chapter 2.52 of this code. The city council’s 
decision with regard to the issuance and conditions of new Regular Entertainment permits and 
the city council’s decision on appeal or city manager referral with regard to Single Event or 
Minor Entertainment permits shall be final.  

5.24.050 Duration of permits. 

The operative period of time for a Single Event entertainment permit shall be set forth in the 
permit itself. All other permits shall expire no later than one year from the date of issuance. The 
issuance of a permit for one year does not establish a vested right to a renewal of the permit. If, 
during any permit period, the nature of the business activity or the circumstances surrounding 
the event to which the permit pertains change from the way it was initially permitted, the city in 
its sole discretion may require any permit holder to immediately apply for a new permit.  

5.24.060 Revocation or nonrenewal. 

A permit may be revoked by the city council, with at least five days’ written notice to the permit 
holder (who shall have an opportunity to be heard) for failure to comply with permit conditions or 
for having supplied false information in obtaining the permit. The City manager, or department 
head designee, may suspend or impose new conditions with at least five days’ written notice to 
the permit holder for failure to comply with permit conditions.  

5.24.065 Violation of permit conditions. 

Whenever a permit is suspended due to a violation of this chapter or of permit conditions, the 
city manager shall so report such suspension to the city council.  

5.24.070 Fees. 

The city council may establish fees for applications for any of the permits described in Section 
5.24.030 of this chapter. It may also prescribe fees for the issuance of the permit itself. Any 
schedule or formula of permit fees may be based on reasonable estimations of the cost to the 
city of monitoring or enforcing permit compliance.  

9.H

Packet Pg. 84



Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit  
June 28, 2018 
 
5.24.080 Application forms. 

The city manager may develop application forms pertinent to this chapter. Applicants may be 
required to submit any nonprivileged information reasonably related to the concerns expressed 
in Section 5.24.005.  

5.24.090 Violations. 

The operation of any business or entertainment activity contrary to the provisions of this chapter 
shall constitute a nuisance subject to abatement as provided in Title 4 of this code. Operating a 
business contrary to the business’s entertainment permit and associated conditions, or 
violations of this chapter are also criminal acts subject to penalties provided in Section 1.01.090 
and Title 4 of this code.  

Section 2.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from 
the date of its adoption by the City Council. 

This ordinance was introduced on the 14th day of June, 2018, and was passed and adopted by 
the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 28th day of June, 2018, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:    
NOES:   
ABSENT:    
ABSTAIN:   
   

         
    APPROVED:  
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
    Michael Termini, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

9.H

Packet Pg. 85



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the Fiscal Year 2018/2019 Budget and Capital Improvement Program 

for the City of Capitola  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve the Resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2018/19 City 
Budget and Capital Improvement Program. 
 
BACKGROUND: The Proposed Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/2019 Budget and Planned FY 2019/2020 
Budget was presented to the City Council at the May 16, 2018, special meeting. The City 
Council held a second public budget hearing on May 30, 2018, to review updates to the 
proposed budget based on lower revenues estimates, hear public comments, and receive input 
from the Finance Advisory Committee.  
 
Following a discussion regarding the allocation of projected General Fund balance, at the May 
30 meeting, City Council directed staff to prepare a resolution to adopt the budget. 
 
DISCUSSION: The General Fund is projected to end Fiscal Year 2017/18 with an estimated 
$979,000 fund balance. The minor increase in the estimated fund balance from initial 
projections is due to clean-up items to prior year numbers, revised estimates to current year 
amounts, and revisions to expenditure line items in FY 2018/19 and FY 2019/20 as follows: 
 

• Reduced contract services in FY 2015/16 - $72 

• Increased personnel costs in FY 2016/17 - $40,880 

• Reduced FY 2017/18 year-end estimates - $127,180 
o $80,560 – contract services 
o $46,620 – capital outlay 

• Increase FY 2018/19 expenditures - $11,991 
o $11,424 – contract services 
o $567 – internal service funds 

• Increase FY 2019/20 expenditures -$8,062 
o $885 – decrease personnel costs 
o $8,380 – increase contract services 
o $567 – increase internal service funds 

 
Pursuant to City Council direction, the City is holding the $979,000 estimated ending fund 
balance in the General Fund. 

10.A

Packet Pg. 86



Consider 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
A resolution is necessary to adopt the Fiscal Year 2018/19 Budget with the above 
appropriations and adjustments (Exhibit A), a General Fund overview (Exhibit B), and an 
estimation of 2018/19 fund balances (Exhibit C). In addition, the FY 2018/19 Proposed Budget 
is available on the City’s website. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The FY 2018/2019 Proposed Budget is balanced, with General Fund 
revenues exceeding expenditures by $10,979 as shown in the General Fund Summary. 
Additionally, the Fund Balance Summary shows beginning fund balances, revenues, 
expenditures, transfers, and estimated ending fund balances for all reserve, debt service, 
internal service, special revenue, and Successor Agency funds. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Exhibit A - Changes to Proposed Budget (PDF) 
2. Exhibit B - General Fund Summary (PDF) 
3. Exhibit C - Fund Balance Summary (PDF) 

 
Report Prepared By:   Jim Malberg 
 Finance Director 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.A

Packet Pg. 87



Consider 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA  

ADOPTING THE 2018/2019 FISCAL YEAR CITY BUDGET AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM BUDGET 

 
 WHEREAS, it is necessary to adopt the 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget for all City funds 

and Capital Improvement Program; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has conducted budget study sessions, has heard and 

considered public comments, and has modified the proposed budget accordingly, and wishes to 

adopt such budget for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2018, through June 30, 2019; and  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Capitola that the 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget is hereby adopted as amended, including Exhibit A 
(Changes to Proposed Budget), Exhibit B (General Fund Overview), and Exhibit C (Summary by 
Fund) to this Resolution; and  

   
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Finance Director is directed to enter the budget into 
the City's accounting records in accordance with appropriate accounting practices, and the City 
Manager, with the Finance Director's assistance, shall assure compliance therewith. 
 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted by the City 

Council of the City of Capitola on the 28th day of June 2018, by the following vote: 

 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

 
  

       _____________________ 
         Michael Termini, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

10.A

Packet Pg. 88



FY 2015/16 General Fund Amount

Contract Services (72)$                  

Total (72)$                  

FY 2016/17 General Fund Amount

Personnel 40,880$            

Total 40,880$            

FY 2017/18 General Fund Amount

Contract Services (80,560)$           

Capital Outlay (46,620)$           

Total (127,180)$         

FY 2018/19 General Fund Amount

Contract Services - Animal Services 11,424$            

Internal Service Funds - Self Liability Insurance 567$                 

Total 11,991$            

FY 2019/20 General Fund Amount

Personnel (885)$                

Contract Services - Animal Services 8,380$              

Internal Service Funds - Self Liability Insurance 567$                 

Total 8,062$              

Exhibit A

Changes to Proposed Budget

10.A.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 -
 C

h
an

g
es

 t
o

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 B
u

d
g

et
  (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 2
01

8/
20

19
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
B

u
d

g
et

)



Exhibit B

Major Categories

FY15/16

Actual 

FY16/17

Actual 

FY17/18

Adopted 

FY17/18

Estimated

FY18/19

Proposed

FY19/20

Planned

Revenues

Taxes $12,060,878 $12,300,276 $12,411,214 $12,208,898 $12,431,636 $12,557,491 

Licenses and permits $614,536 $597,996 $611,000 $632,100 $644,704 $646,216 

Intergovernmental revenues $219,504 $134,865 $152,850 $120,600 $141,000 $141,000 

Charges for services $1,977,668 $1,806,314 $2,134,481 $2,041,279 $1,919,723 $1,880,703 

Fines and forfeitures $660,013 $567,000 $663,700 $484,000 $616,300 $616,300 

Use of money & property $84,837 $76,082 $70,200 $101,000 $101,200 $101,200 

Other revenues $71,771 $74,267 $63,850 $121,500 $64,050 $64,414 

Revenues  Totals $15,689,205 $15,556,800 $16,107,295 $15,709,377 $15,918,613 $16,007,323 

Expenditures

Personnel $8,217,828 $8,668,590 $8,580,424 $8,131,190 $9,173,588 $9,738,755 

Contract services $2,537,488 $2,629,762 $2,950,500 $2,736,550 $2,871,000 $2,902,833 

Training & Memberships $101,308 $83,058 $118,550 $96,050 $126,850 $131,850 

Supplies $562,477 $526,946 $551,300 $509,150 $503,250 $504,450 

Grants and Subsidies $277,296 $274,970 $275,000 $275,000 $275,000 $275,000 

Capital outlay $0 $0 $10,000 $9,680 $15,000 $15,000 

Internal service fund charges $954,500 $1,159,000 $1,190,050 $1,246,350 $1,209,104 $1,222,535 

Other financing uses           3,083,811           1,658,730           3,290,550           3,872,550           1,733,843          1,755,160 

Expenditures  Totals $15,734,708 $15,001,056 $16,966,374 $16,876,520 $15,907,634 $16,545,583 

Impact on Fund Balance  $           (45,503) $          555,744 $        (859,079)  $     (1,167,143) $            10,979 $        (538,260)

Budgetary Fund Balance  $       1,590,724 $       2,146,467 $       1,287,388  $          979,324 $          990,303 $          452,042 

General Fund Summary

10.A.2

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 B

 -
 G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 2
01

8/
20

19
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
B

u
d

g
et

)



Estimated 

Balance 

7/1/2018 Revenues Transfers In Expenditures

Transfers 

Out

Estimated 

Balance 

6/30/2019

 General Fund 979,324$     15,918,613$  -$                 14,173,791$   1,733,843$  990,303$       

 Designated Reserves 

 Contingency Reserve 2,036,346$  -$                  -$                -$                   -$                 2,036,346$   

 PERS Contingency Reserve 818,186       10,000         -             -                -               828,186       

 Emergency Reserve 1,344,206    -               -             -                -               1,344,206    

 Donations 10,120         10,000         -             -                -               20,120         

 Facility Reserve 324,870       -               90,000       90,000           -               324,870       

 Total Designated Reserves 4,533,728$  20,000$        90,000$      90,000$          -$                 4,553,728$   

 Debt Service 

 Pension Obligation Bond 4,896$         -$                  -$            -$               -$                 4,896$          

 Pac Cove Lease Financing 132,033       -               165,066     165,066         -               132,033       

 Pac Cove Park (39,185)        -               88,812       88,812           -               (39,185)        

 Total Debt Service 97,744$       -$                  253,878$    253,878$       -$                 97,744$        

 Capital Improvement Fund 680,288$     -$                  1,082,663$ 1,082,663$    -$                 680,288$      

 Internal Service Funds 

 Stores 23,347$       37,250$        -$                37,250$          -$                 23,347$        

 Information Techology 105,836       296,241       -             310,000         -               92,077         

 Equipment Replacement 75,680         155,000       125,000     91,000           -               264,680       

 Self-Insurance Liability 207,769       419,299       -             419,299         -               207,769       

 Workers' Compensation 224,339       304,814       -             304,814         -               224,339       

 Compensated Absences (9,939)          -               209,939     200,000         -               -               

 Total Internal Service Funds 627,032$     1,212,604$   334,939$    1,362,363$    -$                 812,212$      

 Special Revenue Funds 

 SLESF-Suppl Law Enforcmnt Svc 7,939$         100,400$      -$                73,000$          25,000$       10,339$        

 SCCACT-SCC Anti-Crime Team                    -                       -                    -                        -                    -                      - 

 Gas Tax                    -           261,423                    -            261,000                    -                 423 

 RTC Streets                    -           300,000                    -            300,000                      - 

 Library     1,100,074      10,090,000          47,363       10,090,000                    -       1,147,437 

 SB1 RMRA                    -           168,750                    -                        -                    -          168,750 

 Wharf              (708)             85,100                    -              94,600                    -           (10,208)

 General Plan Update and Maint          51,437             50,000                    -              47,000                    -            54,437 

 Green Building Education        149,621             22,000                    -              38,000                    -          133,621 

 Public Arts Fee        205,005           100,000                    -            103,000                    -          202,005 

 Parking Reserve               737                       -        100,000                        -        100,000                 737 

 Technology Fee          44,777             11,500                    -              15,000                    -            41,277 

 PEG-Public Education and Gov.          75,855             16,200                    -              24,400                    -            67,655 

 Capitola Village/Wharf BIA          10,536             74,750                    -              76,334                    -              8,952 

 CDBG Grants          41,903                       -                    -                        -                    -            41,903 

 CDBG Program Income          29,251                       -                    -                        -                    -            29,251 

 HOME Reuse        205,905             11,500                    -                3,200                    -          214,205 

 Housing Trust          60,003             28,000                    -                        -          50,000            38,003 

 Cap Hsg Succ- Program Income        173,974                       -                    -              32,500                    -          141,474 

 Total Special Revenue Funds 2,156,309$  11,319,623$ 147,363$    11,158,034$  175,000$     2,290,261$   

 Successor Agency 370,928$     264,387$      -$                264,387$       -$                 370,928$      

Tot. Fund Balance - All Funds 9,445,353$  28,735,227$ 1,908,843$ 28,385,116$  1,908,843$  9,795,464$   

FY 2018/19 Fund Balance Summary

Exhibit C

10.A.3

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 C

 -
 F

u
n

d
 B

al
an

ce
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

C
o

n
si

d
er

 2
01

8/
20

19
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
B

u
d

g
et

)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Review Options for Potential Ballot Measures for November 2018 General 

Election  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Provide direction to staff regarding items for potential placement on 
the November 2018 General Election ballot. 
 
BACKGROUND: This spring City Council reviewed a contract with a public opinion survey group 

to consider whether to obtain voter feedback prior to placing any potential items on the ballot.  

At that hearing, the Council consensus was to not move forward on the community survey, but 

for staff to bring an item to a future City Council hearing regarding potential items for the 

November election. 

DISCUSSION: At prior City Council meetings several potential items for the November ballot 

have been discussed, including: 

Cannabis Tax: Voters in both the City and County of Santa Cruz approved not-to-exceed 

cannabis taxes of 10 percent in 2016. The tax in both jurisdictions is a general fund tax, 

requiring a simple majority voter approval. When it was passed, both jurisdictions set the tax 

rate at 7 percent. This year the City of Santa Cruz passed an ordinance increasing its rate to 8 

percent, with a resolution of intent that the 1 percent increase would be devoted to support 

enhancement of early childhood development and vulnerable youth programs.  

Staff estimates a 6-8 percent cannabis tax on retail sales in Capitola will generate approximately 

$200,000 to $300,000 per store. Staff recommends the Council:  

• Sets the maximum cannabis tax in the 8 to 10 percent range 

• Establishes an initial cannabis tax in the 6 to 8 percent range 

• Applies the cannabis tax to any cannabis business city-wide, understanding the current 

proposed ordinances would only allow retail sales in the Regional Commercial zoning 

district. 

Elected/Appointed Treasurer: Under state law the City is required to have a City Clerk and 

Treasurer. In Capitola both positions were originally elected roles, but in 1994 City voters 

approved switching the City Clerk to appointed to ensure the City had a qualified individual in 

the position. Today, approximately two-thirds of the cities in the state have appointed treasurers, 

including all the other jurisdictions in Santa Cruz County. 

Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT): Currently the TOT rate, or hotel tax, in the City is 10 percent. 

10.B

Packet Pg. 92



Potential Ballot Measures  
June 28, 2018 
 
Each 1 percent of TOT currently generates approximately $155,000 annually. The TOT in the 

City and County of Santa Cruz is 11 percent. Scotts Valley is considering a ballot measure to 

increase its TOT from 10 percent to 12 percent.  

FISCAL IMPACT: The City’s budget model projects a fiscal shortfall in coming years due to 

increased pension costs and the uncertain future of retail sales tax.  As a result, over the next 

several years the City will be exploring options to grow revenue and decrease expenses to 

maintain a balanced budget. 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Jamie Goldstein 
 City Manager 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.B

Packet Pg. 93



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Public Works Department 
 
SUBJECT: Update on the Capitola Branch Library Project Construction Bids  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive report. 
 
BACKGROUND: The low bid for the construction of the Capitola Branch Library from Otto 

Construction of $12,350,000 was 23 percent over the project budget.   Staff has met with project 

personnel to discuss value engineering alternatives to determine what options exist to modify 

various project elements to reduce the costs. 

 

DISCUSSION: At this time approximately $1.5 million in potential savings has been identified.  

Staff is continuing to work on confirming these savings and identifying others.  In addition, the 

Library Joint powers Authority (JPA) has formed a subcommittee, comprised of Capitola and 

County JPA representatives, to evaluate regional funding options for Measure S projects. A full 

update of the current status of this work will be provided at the Council meeting. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Steve Jesberg 
 Public Works Director 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.C

Packet Pg. 94



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Community Development 
 
SUBJECT: Introduce an Ordinance Adding Chapter 5.36 of the Capitola Municipal Code 

Pertaining to Cannabis Retail Licenses and Amending Chapter 17.24 of the 
Regional Commercial Zoning District Pertaining to Conditional Land Uses to 
Authorize Commercial Retail Cannabis Uses in the Regional Commercial Zoning 
District and Adopt a Resolution to Authorize Criminal History Information for 
Licensing Purposes  

 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

1. Direct staff on the maximum number of Cannabis Licenses to be permited within the 
Regional Commercial Zoning district;  

2. Approve first reading of an Ordinance adding Chapter 5.36 “Retail Cannabis Licenses” 
and amending Municipal Code Chapter 17.24 to authorize retail cannabis as a 
conditionally permitted use in the Regional Commercial zone; and  

3. Adopt a resolution approving an application for authorization to access State- and 
Federal-level summary criminal history information for licensing purposes. 

 
BACKGROUND: The City Council adopted Urgency Ordinance No. 989 on January 9, 2014, to 

prohibit commercial cultivation and processing of medical marijuana within the City of Capitola. 

In 2016, California voters approved Proposition 64 which decriminalized the possession, use, 

and sale of recreational marijuana for adults 21 or older and authorized the recreational sale of 

marijuana beginning on January 1, 2018. 

The City Council reviewed the City’s cannabis ordinance on February 8, 2018, and supported 
retaining the current prohibitions on manufacturing, cultivation, and recreational delivery 
services based in the City. The Council also directed staff to return with additional information 
and recommendations to allow limited retail sales exclusively in the Regional Commercial 
zoning district. 
 
On April 12, 2018, the City Council conceptually reviewed a draft cannabis regulatory structure 

and directed staff to move forward with drafting ordinances to allow retail cannabis sales within 

the Regional Commercial zoning district.  

On June 7, 2018, the Planning Commission reviewed the draft ordinance to conditionally allow 

Retail Cannabis Establishments within the Regional Commercial Zoning District.  The Planning 

Commission forwarded a positive recommendation onto the City Council in a 3- 2 vote.   

DISCUSSION:  To allow retail marijuana sales in the City, the Zoning Code must be amended 

10.D

Packet Pg. 95



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 
to establish retail cannabis establishments as a conditionally allowed land use type, and Title 5 

of the Municipal Code (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulation) must be expanded to 

establish a new cannabis retail license and a new cannabis retail tax.  As prepared, the 

proposed ordinance will require voter approval of the cannabis tax to take effect. A separate 

resolution will be prepared for the July 26, 2018, meeting to put the cannabis tax on the ballot. 

Zoning Amendment 
Based on previous Council direction, and a review of best practices applied by other California 
jurisdictions, staff drafted an ordinance to amend the Regional Commercial (CR) zoning district 
to add retail cannabis establishment to the land use table as a conditionally allowed use. The 
CR zoning district includes an approximately 2,800-foot-long area along 41st Avenue between 
Capitola Road and Highway 1, much of the Clares Street loop around the mall, and Auto Plaza 
Drive.   
 
During the June 7, 2018, Planning Commission meeting, the Commission reviewed the draft 
amendments to Section 17.24.020, including three options for retail cannabis establishment sign 
regulations. Many jurisdictions have adopted specific regulation for cannabis retail 
establishment signs.  For instance, Santa Cruz County limits signs for cannabis dispensaries to 
one sign stating the dispensary name, address, hours of operation, and a green cross; not 
exceeding a maximum size of six square feet; not directly illuminated; and not containing 
graphics identifying cannabis. Similarly, the City of Watsonville’s ordinance requires content “to 
not have reference, through language or symbol, to cannabis,” limits illumination to operating 
hours, and limits sign area to 15 square feet.  
 
The Planning Commission forwarded a positive recommendation to the City Council for the draft 
ordinance with the most conservative of the three presented sign options. The Planning 
Commission also suggested that the City Council discuss separation distance from residential 
neighborhoods when reviewing the draft ordinance.   
 
The draft ordinance amending the Regional Commercial zoning district includes the following 
standards: 

• Require a 1,000-foot minimum path of travel (buffer) distance between a retail cannabis 

establishment and schools/churches; 

• Require a minimum 500-foot buffer distance between retail cannabis establishments; 

• Require establishments to have an independent exterior entrance that is not shared with 

another business; 

• Require retailers to maintain a current Cannabis Retail License, issued through the 

Police Department, as outlined below; and 

• Require specific sign regulations to protect youth from marketing. 

o Limited to one exterior building sign per business location;  
o Sign may include only the name of business and one green cross; 
o Sign area maximum of 15 square feet, or one square foot per linear frontage of the 

business, whichever is less; 
o Sign may not have any reference, through symbols or language, to cannabis other 

than one green cross; 
o Sign shall not be directly illuminated except during operating hours; and 
o Sign shall otherwise be subject to Planning Commission review. 

 

10.D

Packet Pg. 96



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 
Cannabis Retail License 
In conjunction with the conditional use permit, a Cannabis Retail License will be required 
pursuant to the draft ordinance amending Chapter 5.36.  All Cannabis Retail Licenses will be 
maintained by the Police Department. Such licenses would require renewal on an annual basis, 
and incorporate best-practice, physical security, nuisance deterrent, and retail measures. In 
addition, the ordinance would: 
 

• Establish a maximum number of Cannabis Retail Licenses. As drafted, the Council 
should establish whether the ordinance will allow one, two, or three establishments. 

• Establish a competitive, merit-based license issuance system that accounts for legal 
cannabis retail experience, civil and criminal records, operations and security plans, and 
residency. The Council may also include criteria to promote minority- or woman-owned 
businesses, employee wages/benefits, or other factors. 

• Licenses would not run with the property and would have requirements for transferring 
locations and/or operators. 

• Require operators to undergo periodic inspections and review by the Police and 
Community Development Departments. If the retailer has serious or multiple violations, 
the Police Chief and/or Community Development Director may suspend or revoke the 
Cannabis Retail license. 

• Prohibit specific products that are attractive to children or youth and products with 
packaging or labeling that is attractive to children or youth. 

• Incorporate and require compliance with Conditional Use Permit requirements. 
 
The amendments adding Chapter 5.36 and amending Section 17.24.020 follow as a single 
Ordinance. 
 
The Cannabis Retail License application will require state and federal background checks. In 
order to process a background check for a license, the City Council must adopt a resolution 
authorizing staff to access to state and federal criminal history information for licensing 
purposes.  A draft resolution is included as Attachment 1.   
 
Cannabis Business Tax 
Under State Law local communities that seek to establish local cannabis business taxes are 

required to seek voter approval for a not-to-exceed tax, asking voters to approve a maximum 

amount that the City Council could adjust in the future based on market conditions. This tax 

would allow the City to capture some revenue from cannabis sales that could be used, in part, to 

offset any increased demands for City services.  

Currently both Santa Cruz County and the City of Santa Cruz have a voter-approved not-to-

exceed 10 percent cannabis tax on retail sales. The County currently has its tax set at 7 percent 

while Santa Cruz City increased its to 8 percent on January 1, 2018. Additionally, a ballot 

measure would allow for a high degree of citizen engagement on the issue; Capitola voters 

would decide if they want to allow retail marijuana sales in the City.  

CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15061 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The 
proposed project involves retail sales of cannabis in an existing regional commercial zoning 
district. The activity is covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects which 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment.  Where it can be seen with 
certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on 

10.D

Packet Pg. 97



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 
the environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA.  No possible adverse environmental 
impacts were discovered during ordinance review by Planning Staff as the retail use will occur in 
a zone where retail use has been principally permitted. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: Retail sales of marijuana have potential to generate revenue for the City. 
Most cities and counties in California charge a 5 percent to 10 percent local tax on retail 
marijuana sales. Any local tax would be in addition to the existing 9 percent sales tax and 15 
percent state marijuana tax. Staff estimates a single retail marijuana establishment could 
generate approximately $200,000 to $300,000 in annual revenue to the City, depending on the 
City’s tax rate and an establishment’s sales volume. While staff anticipates the City would 
receive more revenue by permitting multiple establishments, at some point the amount of 
revenue generated by individual businesses would be impacted based on the total number of 
permits/licenses issued due to increased competition and market saturation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Capitola Background Check Resolution (PDF) 
 

Report Prepared By:   Katie Herlihy 
 Community Development Director 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.D

Packet Pg. 98



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
AMENDING CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE BY ADDING CHAPTER 5.36 “RETAIL 
CANNABIS LICENSES” AND AMENDING CHAPTER 17.24 “COMMERCIAL AND 

INDUSTRIAL ZONING DISTRICTS” AT SECTION 17.24.020 TO AUTHORIZE RETAIL 
CANNABIS SALES IN THE C-R – REGIONAL COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1: Chapter 5.36 “RETAIL CANNABIS LICENSES” of the Capitola Municipal Code is 
hereby added to read as follows: 
 
“Chapter 5.36 
RETAIL CANNABIS LICENSES 
 Sections: 
5.36.010 Purpose 
5.36.020  Definitions 
5.36.030 Cannabis Retail Business – License Required 
 
5.36.010 Purpose 
 
Proposition 64, approved by the voters of California in November 2016, legalized the adult 
recreational use of cannabis.  This chapter is designed to regulate the sale of cannabis based 
upon the new state law.  
 
The city has determined to initially limit the number of cannabis retail outlets allowed to ensure 
that this use will not create unforeseen impacts.  To provide a process that limits the number of 
retail establishments without tying those establishments to specific properties, this chapter 
creates a licensing structure for cannabis retail businesses.  
 
5.36.020 Definitions 

For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply:  

A. “Adult use” shall refer to non-medicinal or non-medical use of cannabis by persons 21 
years of age or older in conformance with the Medical and Adult-Use Cannabis 
Regulation and Safety Act and the provisions of state law regarding cannabis use and 
sale. 

B. “Collective or cooperative cultivation” means the association within California of qualified 
patients, persons with valid identification cards, and designated primary caregivers to 
cultivate cannabis for medicinal purposes as defined in strict accordance with California 
Health and Safety Code sections 11362.5 et seq. 

C. “Commercial cannabis activity” includes the cultivation, manufacturing, processing, 
packaging, distribution, and sale of cannabis and cannabis products. 

D. “Cultivate” or “cultivation” is the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, processing, or 
storage of one or more cannabis plants or any part thereof in any location.    

10.D

Packet Pg. 99



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

E. “Medicinal cannabis” is defined in strict accordance with California Health and Safety 
Code sections 11362.5 et seq. 

F. “Processing” is defined as any method used to prepare cannabis or its byproducts for 
commercial sale, including but not limited to:  drying, cleaning, curing, packaging, and 
extraction of active ingredients to create cannabis related products and concentrates. 

G. “Primary caregiver” is defined in strict accordance with California Health and Safety 
Code section 11362.5 et seq. 

H. “Cannabis Retail Establishment” means a retail store in which cannabis or cannabis 
products are sold for Adult Use and/or Medicinal Use.  

5.36.030 Cannabis Retail Business – License Required 

A. It is unlawful for any person conducting, operating, owning, or in control of any premises 
to sell cannabis or cannabis product, whether medical (medicinal) or adult use 
(recreational) within the City of Capitola unless such person holds a valid Retail 
Cannabis License, except as outlined below in this subsection A.  

1. Single License.  A Retail Cannabis License may be issued to a single business 
owner/operator for a single location.   

2. Maximum Licenses. No more than [INSERT MAXIMUM NUMBER] Retail 
Cannabis Licenses shall be issued by the City of Capitola at any given time.   

3. Notice of Availability. When the number of active Retail Cannabis Licenses falls 
below the maximum number of licenses established herein, the city shall place 
an advertisement in at least one local newspaper of general circulation and post 
on the city’s website an announcement that the city will be accepting applications 
for Retail Cannabis Licenses. The notice shall include the location on the city’s 
website for the application and submittal requirements, application deadlines, 
and contact information for questions. 

4. Retail Cannabis License – Application Preparation and Filing.  

(a) Application Contents.  All license applications shall be filed on an official 
City Retail Cannabis License Application form available through the 
Police Department.  The Retail Cannabis License Application shall 
specify all submittal requirements including documentation, plans, and 
materials. 

(b) A complete application and the associated fees, including a Cannabis 
Retail License application fee, shall be filed with the City’s Police 
Department.  

5. Competitive, Merit-Based License Review.  Retail Cannabis Licenses shall be 
subject to a competitive, merit-based review.  The City may consider all of the 
following in the review of an application: 

(a) The proposed location of the Retail Cannabis License establishment is 
not identified as an area of increased or high crime activity by the Chief of 
Police;   

(b) Civil and Criminal background verification of business owner/operator 
with preference for applicant that has not engaged in unlawful, fraudulent, 
unfair, or deceptive business acts or practices; 

(c) Applicant’s experience in retail sales and legal cannabis sales; 

10.D

Packet Pg. 100



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

(d) Applicant’s residency and local enterprise within the region; 

(e) For those applicants that have operated other retail cannabis 
establishments, the numbers of calls for police, crimes, or arrest 
associated with the applicant’s other location(s) shall be considered; and 

(f) The site plan, operations plan, and security plan have incorporated 
features necessary to assist in reducing potential crime-related problems.   
These features may include, but are not limited to: 

1. security on-site;  

2. procedure for allowing entry;  

3. best practices to minimize risk of selling cannabis products to 
underage individuals 

4. surveillance and control of the premises, the perimeter, and 
surrounding properties;  

5. reduction of opportunities for congregating and obstructing public 
ways and neighboring property;  

6. illumination of exterior areas; and 

7. visibility of public entryway from the street. 

 

6. Selection Process. All complete applications received prior to the application 
deadline shall be reviewed by a panel of no fewer than three non-conflicted 
individuals as selected by the city manager.  The panel shall review the 
applications, considering factors of importance to the community including those 
listed within subsection B.5.  The application determined to best meet the 
requirements of this section and community’s needs shall be selected as a 
potential Retail Cannabis License holder. 

7. Issuance of License.  The issuance of a final cannabis retail license shall be 
contingent upon the following:  

(a) Applicant must have been identified as a potential Retail Cannabis 
License holder pursuant to subsection B.6;  

(b) Approval of a Conditional Use Permit by Planning Commission within six 
months of selection as a potential Retail Cannabis License holder; and 

(c) Appropriate State License(s) for retail sales of cannabis within six months 
of selection as a potential Retail Cannabis License holder. 

(d) Effective Date.  The Cannabis Retail License shall be issued upon receipt 
of a Conditional Use License and State License(s).    

(e) Expiration.  If the business owner/operator is unable to obtain either of the 
requirements outlined in this subsection B.7(a)-(b) within six months from 
the selection date, the selection will expire immediately and a Retail 
Cannabis License will be made available and publicly noticed. The six 
months shall commence six months from the date of official selection on 
the same day of the month.    

8. Requirements of License.  A Retail Cannabis License shall include specific 
operational and safety requirements established by the Chief of Police.    

10.D

Packet Pg. 101



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

9. License Transfer to New Owner.   

(a) License Transfer to New Owner.  No Licensee shall transfer ownership or 
control of a retail cannabis establishment to another person or entity 
unless and until the transferee obtains an amendment to the license from 
the Chief of Police stating that the transferee is now the licensee.  Such 
an amendment may be obtained only if the transferee files all required 
application materials in accordance with all provision of this Chapter, pays 
all applicable fees, pass the background check, and independently meets 
the requirements of the cannabis retail license, as determined by the 
Chief of Police. A license shall not be transferred to an owner that has 
engaged in unlawful, fraudulent, unfair, or deceptive business acts or 
practices. 

(b) Changes in ownership of a licensee’s business structure or a substantial 
change in the ownership of a licensee’s business entity (changes that 
result in a change of more than 51% of the original ownership), must be 
approved by the City Manager or his/her designee through the transfer 
process contained in this subsection (a). Failure to comply with this 
provision is grounds for license revocation.   

(c) A licensee may change the form of business entity without applying to the 
City Manager or his/her designee for a transfer of license, provided that 
either: 
  
1. The membership of the new business entity is substantially similar to 

the original license holder business entity (at least 51% of the 
membership is identical), or  
 

2. If the original licensee is an unincorporated association, mutual or 
public benefit corporation, agricultural or consumer cooperative 
corporation and subsequently transitions to or forms a new business 
entity as allowed under the MAUCRSA and to comply with Section 
5.36.030.A, provided that the Board of Directors (or in the case of an 
unincorporated association, the individual(s) listed on the City  retail 
cannabis license application) of the original retail cannabis licensed 
entity are the same as the new business entity.    

 
Although a transfer is not required in these two circumstances, the 
license holder is required to notify the Chief of Police in writing of the 
change within ten (10) days of the change.  Failure to comply with this 
provision is grounds for license revocation.   
 

(d) No retail cannabis license may be transferred when the Chief of Police 
has notified the licensee that the license has been or may be suspended 
or revoked. 

(e) Any attempt to transfer a retail cannabis license either directly or indirectly 
in violation of this section is hereby declared void, and such a purported 
transfer shall be deemed a ground for revocation of the license. 

 
10. License Transfer to New Location.  A cannabis retailer license does not run with 

the property.  Licensees may change locations contingent upon obtaining a letter 

10.D

Packet Pg. 102



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

of referral from the City’s Chief of Police, a Conditional Use Permit for the new 
location, and approval from the state licensing agency for the new location. 

11. Annual Renewal and Review of Retail Cannabis License.   

(a) Annual Renewal.  All Retail Cannabis Licenses shall be renewed 
annually.   

(b) Annual Review of Retail Cannabis License. The staff of the community 
development department and the police department are hereby 
authorized to conduct an annual review of the operation of each Retail 
Cannabis Establishment within the city for full compliance with the 
requirements of the Retail Cannabis License. 

(c) Upon verification of renewal of the state license and findings of 
compliance with the requirements of the Retail Cannabis License, and 
upon submission of required Annual Cannabis License fee, the police 
department may issue the annual renewal.   

(d) Annual Cannabis Retail License Review Fee.  A fee in an amount 
established by resolution of the City Council may be established in order 
to reimburse the City for the time involved in the annual review process.  

 

12. Promulgation of Regulations, Standards and Other Legal Duties. 
 

(a) In addition to any regulations adopted by the City Council, the City 
Manager, Chief of Police or his/her designee is authorized to establish 
any additional rules, regulations and standards governing the issuance, 
denial or renewal of retail cannabis license, the ongoing operation of a 
retail cannabis businesses and the City 's oversight, or concerning any 
other subject determined to be necessary to carry out the purposes of this 
Chapter.  

 
(b) Regulations shall be published on the City ’s website. 

 
(c) Regulations promulgated by the City Manager or Chief of Police shall 

become effective upon date of publication.  Retail cannabis businesses 
shall be required to comply with all state and local laws and regulations, 
including but not limited to any rules, regulations or standards adopted by 
the City Manager, Chief of Police or his/her designee. 

 

13. Suspension and Revocation of license.  

(a) Authority to suspend or revoke a Retail Cannabis License.  

1. Any Retail Cannabis License issued under the terms of this 
Section may be suspended or revoked by the Chief of Police if the 
retail cannabis establishment is being operated in a manner not in 
compliance with the requirements of the Retail Cannabis License, 
the operational plan, the security plan, or state law, or if the 
cannabis establishment becomes a public nuisance.  

2. Written Notice. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, a 
license shall be revoked or suspended by the Chief of Police 

10.D

Packet Pg. 103



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

under the authority of this Section in a written notice.  Such 
revocation or suspension notice shall state the specific reasons for 
the proposed suspension or revocation. Such notice shall contain 
a brief statement of the grounds to be relied upon for revoking or 
suspending such license. Notice may be given either by personal 
delivery to the licensee, or by certified U.S. mail in a sealed 
envelope, addressed to the business owner/operator to be notified 
at their address as it appears in their application for a Retail 
Cannabis License. 

14. Appeal of decision. An applicant or interested party aggrieved by any decision to 
approve, suspend, modify, or revoke a license under this Chapter may appeal 
such decision to the City Council by filing a written appeal in accordance with 
the requirements of Chapter 2.52 (Appeals to City Council). If an appeal is not 
submitted within ten working days following the review authorities’ decision, 
the decision shall be final.  

 

Except as expressly authorized herein, all commercial cannabis activity is prohibited in all areas 
of the City.”  
 
Section 2: Retail Cannabis in the C-R Zoning District. Section 17.24.020 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

“17.24.020  Land Use Regulations 

A. Permitted Land Uses.  Table 17.24-1 identifies land uses permitted in the commercial and 
industrial zoning districts. 

 

 

 

 
TABLE 17.24-1:  PERMITTED LAND USES IN COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

Key 
P Permitted Use 
A Administrative Permit 

required 
M Minor Use Permit required 
C Conditional Use Permit 

required 
–    Use not allowed 

Zoning District  

C-C C-R I Additional Requirements 

Residential Uses     

Single-Family Dwellings - - -  

Multi-Family Dwellings C C [9] -  

Residential Mixed Use C  C [7] - Section 17.24.040 

Public and Quasi-Public 
Uses 

    

Colleges and Trade Schools C C C  

10.D

Packet Pg. 104



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

Community Assembly C C -  

Cultural Institutions C C -  

Day Care Centers C C -  

Emergency Shelters - - P  Section 17.96.030 

Government Offices See 17.24.020.C C  

Medical Offices and Clinics See 17.24.020.C -  

Public Safety Facilities C C C  

Commercial Uses     

Alcoholic Beverage Sales C C C  

Banks  P [2] P [2] -  

Financial Institutions P [2] P [2] - Section 17.24.020.C 

Business Services  P [2] P [2] P  

Commercial Entertainment 
and Recreation 

M M - 
 

Drive-Through Facilities - C [4] -  

Eating and Drinking 
Establishments 

    

Bars and Lounges C C C  

Mobile Food Vendors - A [6]/C A [6]/C  

Restaurants and Cafes M [2] M [2] C  

Take-Out Food and 
Beverage 

M [2] M [2] -  

Food Preparation M [2] - P  

Gas and Service Stations C C -  

Liquor Stores C C -  

Lodging     

Bed and Breakfast C - -  

Hotel C C -  

Maintenance and Repair 
Services 

M C P  

Personal Services P [1] P [1] -  

Professional Offices See 17.24.020.C P  

Salvage and Wrecking - - P  

Self-Storage C - C Section 17.96.140 

Retail P  P -  

Retail Cannabis 
Establishment 

- C [10] - Section 17.24.020.D 

Vehicle Repair C C P  

Vehicle Sales and Rental C [5] C [5] -  

10.D

Packet Pg. 105



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

Vehicle Sales Display Room 
[8] 

P P -  

Wholesaling  - M [3] P  

Heavy Commercial and 
Industrial Uses 

  
  

Construction and Material 
Yards 

- - 
P  

Custom Manufacturing M M P  

Light Manufacturing - - P  

Warehousing and 
Distribution 

- - P  

Transportation, 
Communication, and Utility 
Uses 

  
  

Utilities, Major - C C  

Utilities, Minor P P P  

Recycling Collection 
Facilities 

C C C Section 17.96.130 

Wireless Communications 
Facilities 

See 17.104  

Other Uses     

Accessory Uses See 17.52  

Home Occupations A A - Chapter 17.96.040 

Permanent Outdoor Display C C C Section 17.96.100 

Temporary Uses See 17.76.180  

Urban Agriculture     

Home Garden P P -  

Community Garden M M -  

Urban Farm C C -  
 Notes: 

[1] Combination of two or more tenant suites within a multi-tenant building or greater than 5,000 sq. ft. requires Minor Use 
Permit 
[2] Combination of two or more tenant suites within a multi-tenant building or greater than 5,000 sq. ft. requires 
Conditional Use Permit 
[3] Without stock.  Storage of merchandise limited to samples only. 
[4] Prohibited within 100 feet of a residential zoning district or residential use including residential properties outside the 
City limits. 
 [5] Majority of vehicles for sale must be new. 
[6] Mobile food vendors in one location two times or less per year are regulated as a temporary use in accordance with 
Section 17.96.180 and are allowed with an Administrative Permit in accordance with Municipal Code Chapter 9.36. Mobile 
food venders in one location more than two times per year require a Conditional Use Permit. 
[7] Residential uses are prohibited on the first story. 
[8] Maximum 5,000 square feet. 
[9] Allowed only as a part of a mixed-use project integrated with commercial structures located on the same development 
site. 
[10] Requires Cannabis Retail License (Chapter 9.61) and compliance with 17.24.020.D 

 

B. Additional Permits.  In addition to permits identified in Table 17.24-1, development 
projects in the commercial and industrial zoning districts may also require a Design Permit 
pursuant to Chapter 17.120 (Design Permits).  Modifications to a historic resource may 

10.D

Packet Pg. 106



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

require a Historic Alternation Permit pursuant to Chapter 17.84 (Historic Preservation).  
Development in the coastal zone may require a Coastal Permit pursuant to Chapter 17.32 
(Coastal Overlay Zone) independent of and in addition to any other required permit or 
approval. 

C. Office Uses in the C-C and C-R Zoning Districts. 

1. New Office Uses. In the C-C and C-R zoning districts, permits required for new office 
uses and conversions of non-office space to office use are shown in Table 17.24-2. 
Offices include professional, medical, financial institutions and governmental offices. 

2. Existing Office Uses.  Within office building utilized exclusively for office uses as of 
[effective date of Zoning Ordinance], office uses may continue to occupy ground floor 
tenant spaces.   Within such office building, a new tenant is not subject to the permit 
requirements in Table 17.24-2 until such time that the building is redeveloped or all 
office space in the ground floor level is converted to a non-office use. 

 
TABLE 17.24-2:  PERMITTED NEW OFFICE USES IN THE C-C AND C-R ZONING DISTRICTS 

Key 
P Permitted Use 
A Administrative Permit required 
M Minor Use Permit required 
C Conditional Use Permit required 
–    Use not allowed 

C-C Zoning 
District 

C-R Zoning 
District 

Location and Size of Office Use   

Ground floor, less than 5,000 sq. ft. P - 

Ground floor, 5,000 sq. ft. or more C - 

Upper floor above a ground floor  P P 

Located within a multi-tenant site in which 
the office space is not located within a 
storefront and is setback from the front 
façade. 

P - 

D. Retail Cannabis in the C-R Zoning District.  A Retail Cannabis Establishment in the C-R 
zoning district must be in compliance with the following standards. 

1. Permit Requirements.   

a. Cannabis Retail License. Prior to conditional use permit application, an applicant 
shall obtain a potential Retail Cannabis License from the City, as outlined in 
Chapter 9.61.   

b. Conditional Use Permit. A Retail Cannabis Establishment must obtain a 
Conditional Use Permit from the Planning Commission.  The Retail Cannabis 
Establishment shall be in compliance with the following standards:   
(1) Distance from Schools and Churches.  Retail Cannabis Establishments are 

not permitted within a path of travel of 1,000 feet from any schools and 
churches.  The path of travel shall be measured following the shortest path of 
travel along a public right-of-way from the property line of the proposed Retail 
Cannabis Establishment parcel to the church or school.   

(2) Distance between Retail Cannabis Establishments.  A retail cannabis 
establishment shall not be located within a path of travel of 500 feet of 

10.D

Packet Pg. 107



First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance  
June 28, 2018 
 

another retail cannabis establishment. Path of travel is measured from the 
retail establishment suite on a multitenant property or the structure for a 
single tenant property.     

(3) Independent Access.  A retail cannabis establishment shall have an 
independent exterior entrance that is not shared with any other business or 
residence. 

(4) Signs. Notwithstanding other sections of the code for signs, a retail cannabis 
establishment shall be limited to one exterior building sign per business 
location to identify the business as a retail cannabis establishment in 
compliance with the following standards: 

a) Sign may include only the name of business and one green cross.  
b) Sign area maximum of 15 square feet, or one square foot per linear 

frontage of the business; whichever is less.  
c) Sign may not have any reference, through symbols or language, to 

cannabis with the exception of one green cross.   
d) Sign shall not be directly illuminated except during operating hours  
e) Sign shall otherwise be subject to Planning Commission review 

through a Sign Permit Application in accordance with Section 
17.132.” 

 
Section 3.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from 
the date of its adoption by the City Council or upon the certification of the passage of a ballot 
measure authorizing the establishment of a tax on retail cannabis sales by voters at the 
November 6, 2018 general election, whichever is later. 

This ordinance was introduced on the 28th day of June, 2018, and was passed and adopted by 
the City Council of the City of Capitola on the ____ day of _____, 2018, by the following vote: 

   
AYES:  
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

   
 

APPROVED:  
 
_____________________ 
Michael Termini, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 
 
 
 

10.D

Packet Pg. 108



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

 RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA APPROVING AN 

APPLICATION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO ACCESS STATE AND FEDERAL LEVEL 

SUMMARY CRIMINAL HISTORY INFORMATION FOR EMPLOYMENT, VOLUNTEERS, AND 

CONTRACTORS, LICENSING OR CERTIFICATION PURPOSES 

 WHEREAS, Penal Code Sections 11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11) authorize cities, counties, 

districts, and joint powers authorities to access state and local summary criminal history 

information for employment, licensing, or certification purposes; and 

 WHEREAS, Penal Code Section 11105(b)(11) authorizes cities, counties, districts, and joint 

powers authorities to access federal level criminal history information by transmitting fingerprint 

images and related information to the Department of Justice to be transmitted to the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation; and 

 WHEREAS, Penal Code Sections 11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11) require that there be a 

requirement or exclusion from employment, licensing, or certification based on specific criminal 

conduct on the part of the subject or record; and 

 WHEREAS, Penal Code Sections 11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11) require the City Council, 

Board of Supervisors, governing body of a city, county, or district or joint powers authority to 

specifically authorize access to summary criminal history information for employment, licensing, 

or certification purposes. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Capitola that the 

City of Capitola is hereby authorized to access state and federal level summary criminal history 

information for employment, and contract employees, licensing and certification of commercial 

cannabis operations for retail sales purposes and may not disseminate the information to a private 

entity. 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing resolution was passed and adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 28th day of June 2018, by the following vote: 

 

 AYES:  

 NOES:  

 ABSENT:  

 ABSTAIN:           

             ____________________________ 

        Michael Termini, Mayor 

         

 

 

ATTEST:     

________________________ 

Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

10.D.1

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 B
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
 C

h
ec

k 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
F

ir
st

 R
ea

d
in

g
 R

et
ai

l M
ar

iju
an

a 
O

rd
in

an
ce

)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Approval of Memoranda of Understanding with Labor Groups and 

Adopt Salary Schedule for FY 2018/19  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
1.  Authorize the City Manager to execute the successor agreements to existing Memoranda of 

Understanding (MOU) with negotiated changes from July 1, 2018, through June 30, 2020, 
for the following: 

a. Association of Capitola Employees (ACE); 
b. Mid-Management Employees’ Bargaining Unit; 
c. Confidential Employees’ Bargaining Unit; 

2. Approve changes to the Management Compensation Plan. 

3. Approve changes to City Manager Employee Contract.  

4.   Adopt a Resolution approving the new salary schedule. 

 
BACKGROUND: Capitola employee Memoranda of Understanding expire on June 30, 2018. As 

required by state law the City has negotiated with the bargaining units on working conditions, 

salary, and benefit changes.  

The City and the listed bargaining units have come to negotiated agreements on salary and 

benefit changes. In addition to the bargaining groups listed, City Council directed staff to change 

the Management Employees Compensation plan and the City Manager Employee contract to 

the same salary, health, and retirement changes as agreed to with the bargaining units. 

 

DISCUSSION: The City of Capitola and all the employee bargaining units began meeting in 

February 2018. The City and the bargaining units met with the City bargaining team on days of 

regular City Council meetings. The bargaining units listed above came to tentative agreement 

with the City based on the following major economic criteria: 

Term:  Two-year agreement 

Salary: Employees in each unit will receive a 2.25% cost of living adjustment (COLA) in 
in July 2018 and a 2.25% COLA in July 2019.  

Signing Bonus: $1,500 one-time bonus if agreement is ratified by June 28, 2018, for all 
groups excluding the City Manager. 

10.E

Packet Pg. 110



Approve MOUs  
June 28, 2018 
 

Pension: Employee contribution towards retirement 13.392% of salary for CalPERS 
Classic Miscellaneous Employees.  

Salary and Benefit Survey: Total Compensation Study prior to end of MOU term, for 
ACE, Mid-Management and Confidential bargaining units. 

Medical:  Groups and City negotiated changes to health contribution amounts. The 
negotiated health contribution program is different for ACE than the other groups. 

ACE has agreed to the following changes to the health contribution from the City. The 
City’s maximum per month contribution towards medical, dental, and vision premiums 
inclusive of required minimum contribution as follows: 

Date Employee Only  Employee plus one dependent Employee plus two 

Year 1 800.00 1,150.00 1,400.00 

Year 2 824.00 1,250.00 1,500.00 

 

The existing cash in lieu of medical insurance remains at $773 per month for those 
employees currently receiving the payment. For new employees, and for existing 
employees that move to the cash in lieu after June 28, 2018, the payment will be $250 
per month. 

The remaining bargaining groups listed agreed to the following changes to the health 
contribution from the City. The City’s maximum per month contribution towards medical, 
dental, and vision premiums inclusive of required minimum contribution as follows: 

Date  Employee Only Employee plus one dependent Employee plus two 

Year 1 800.00 1,300.00 1,700.00 

Year 2 824.00 1,339.00 1,751.00 

 

The ACE bargaining group and the City also agreed upon changes to tuition reimbursement, 
equipment operator pay, overtime, shift differential, and on-call pay.  

In addition to the salary and benefit changes, there are some language and process 
clarifications. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: The estimated cost of for each year of the agreements is as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year 2018/19 $175,000.00 

Fiscal Year 2019/20 $127,000.00 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Larry Laurent 
 Assistant to the City Manager 
 

10.E

Packet Pg. 111



Approve MOUs  
June 28, 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.E

Packet Pg. 112



Approve MOUs  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 

AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2018/2019 
PAY RATES AND RANGES (SALARY SCHEDULE) 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council establishes the legal current salary range from the salary 
schedule for each class of position; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employee’s Retirement Law, at Section 570.5 of the 
California Code of Regulations Title 2, requires the City to publish pay rates and ranges on the 
City’s internet site and the City Council to approve the pay rates and range in its entirety each 
time a modification is made; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City and the employee groups Association of Capitola Employees, Mid-
management, and Confidential have negotiated in good faith Memoranda of Understanding 
(MOUs) that include a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) beginning the first full pay period in 
July 2018 of 2.25 percent; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Council directed staff to modify the unrepresented, at-will employee 
agreements with the same COLA of 2.25 percent; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the attached salary schedule for each group does not go into effect until the 
MOUs are ratified by both the City Council and the employee groups; and 

 
 WHEREAS, a salary resolution is adopted annually by the City Council upon review and 
recommendation of the City Manager. 

  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Capitola does 
hereby:  
 

Authorize and approve City of Capitola pay rates and ranges (salary schedule, Exhibit A) for 
permanent employees from July 1, 2018, through June 30, 2019. 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing resolution was passed and adopted by 
the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 28nd day of June 2018, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.E

Packet Pg. 113



Approve MOUs  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 
Fiscal Year 2018/2019 Salary Schedule 
 

POA SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1, 2018 - JUNE 30, 2019

Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E Step F Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E Step F

Community Service Officer $4,819.72 $5,062.76 $5,314.74 $5,581.01 $5,861.58 $6,154.66 $27.81 $29.21 $30.66 $32.20 $33.82 $35.51

Police Officer Trainee $5,799.03 $33.46

Police Officer $6,088.54 $6,394.12 $6,712.22 $7,048.19 $7,402.03 $7,771.95 $35.13 $36.89 $38.72 $40.66 $42.70 $44.84

Records Manager $5,554.20 $5,832.99 $6,124.28 $6,429.87 $6,753.32 $7,091.08 $32.04 $33.65 $35.33 $37.10 $38.96 $40.91

Sergeant $7,457.43 $7,830.93 $8,224.08 $8,633.32 $9,067.58 $9,519.70 $43.02 $45.18 $47.45 $49.81 $52.31 $54.92

Monthly Hourly

 
 
JULY 1, 2018 - JUNE 30, 2019

Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E Step F Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E Step F

Captain $8,932.11 $9,379.04 $9,847.72 $10,341.41 $10,859.02 $11,402.73 $51.53 $54.11 $56.81 $59.66 $62.65 $65.79

Monthly Hourly

 
 

ACE SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 2, 2017 - JUNE 30, 2018 

2.25% COLA Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E

ACCOUNT TECHNICIAN $4,442.11 $4,663.21 $4,895.27 $5,140.13 $5,397.77 $25.63 $26.90 $28.24 $29.65 $31.14

ACCOUNTANT I $5,366.71 $5,635.32 $5,916.72 $6,212.74 $6,521.55 $30.96 $32.51 $34.13 $35.84 $37.62

ACCOUNTANT II $5,918.55 $6,214.56 $6,523.37 $6,850.46 $7,193.98 $34.15 $35.85 $37.63 $39.52 $41.50

ACCOUNTS CLERK $4,030.97 $4,231.97 $4,442.11 $4,665.03 $4,897.10 $23.26 $24.42 $25.63 $26.91 $28.25

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT $4,065.69 $4,270.34 $4,484.13 $4,708.89 $4,944.61 $23.46 $24.64 $25.87 $27.17 $28.53

ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK I $3,163.01 $3,320.16 $3,484.61 $3,660.03 $3,842.76 $18.25 $19.15 $20.10 $21.12 $22.17

ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK II $3,660.03 $3,842.76 $4,034.62 $4,237.45 $4,449.42 $21.12 $22.17 $23.28 $24.45 $25.67

ADMINISTRATIVE RECORDS ANALYST $4,800.25 $5,039.63 $5,289.96 $5,556.75 $5,832.66 $27.69 $29.07 $30.52 $32.06 $33.65

ASSISTANT PLANNER $5,182.15 $5,439.80 $5,712.06 $5,997.12 $6,296.79 $29.90 $31.38 $32.95 $34.60 $36.33

BUILDING INSPECTOR I $4,538.95 $4,767.36 $5,003.08 $5,255.24 $5,518.37 $26.19 $27.50 $28.86 $30.32 $31.84

BUILDING INSPECTOR II $5,295.44 $5,560.40 $5,839.97 $6,130.51 $6,437.49 $30.55 $32.08 $33.69 $35.37 $37.14

DATA ENTRY CLERK $3,173.98 $3,331.12 $3,499.23 $3,674.65 $3,859.21 $18.31 $19.22 $20.19 $21.20 $22.26

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES TECHNICIAN $4,270.34 $4,484.13 $4,708.89 $4,944.61 $5,191.29 $24.64 $25.87 $27.17 $28.53 $29.95

EQUIPMENT OPERATOR $4,253.90 $4,465.86 $4,686.96 $4,922.68 $5,169.36 $24.54 $25.76 $27.04 $28.40 $29.82

MAINTENANCE WORKER I $3,025.97 $3,177.63 $3,336.61 $3,504.71 $3,678.31 $17.46 $18.33 $19.25 $20.22 $21.22

MAINTENANCE WORKER II $4,051.07 $4,253.90 $4,465.86 $4,690.62 $4,924.51 $23.37 $24.54 $25.76 $27.06 $28.41

MAINTENANCE WORKER III $4,253.90 $4,465.86 $4,690.62 $4,924.51 $5,171.19 $24.54 $25.76 $27.06 $28.41 $29.83

MECHANIC $4,445.76 $4,668.69 $4,900.75 $5,145.61 $5,403.25 $25.65 $26.93 $28.27 $29.69 $31.17

MUSEUM CURATOR $4,030.97 $4,231.97 $4,445.76 $4,666.86 $4,898.93 $23.26 $24.42 $25.65 $26.92 $28.26

PARKING ENFORCEMENT OFFICER $3,669.17 $3,850.07 $4,043.76 $4,246.59 $4,458.55 $21.17 $22.21 $23.33 $24.50 $25.72

RECEPTIONIST $3,480.96 $3,654.55 $3,837.28 $4,030.97 $4,231.97 $20.08 $21.08 $22.14 $23.26 $24.42

RECORDS COORDINATOR $4,065.69 $4,270.34 $4,484.13 $4,708.89 $4,944.61 $23.46 $24.64 $25.87 $27.17 $28.53

RECORDS MNGNT CLERK $3,976.15 $4,175.32 $4,385.46 $4,604.73 $4,834.97 $22.94 $24.09 $25.30 $26.57 $27.89

RECORDS TECHNICIAN $3,919.51 $4,115.02 $4,321.51 $4,537.13 $4,763.71 $22.61 $23.74 $24.93 $26.18 $27.48

RECREATION ASSISTANT $2,976.63 $3,124.64 $3,283.61 $3,446.24 $3,618.01 $17.17 $18.03 $18.94 $19.88 $20.87

RECREATION COORDINATOR $3,850.07 $4,041.93 $4,244.76 $4,458.55 $4,679.65 $22.21 $23.32 $24.49 $25.72 $27.00

RECREATION FACILITY CUSTODIAN $2,876.13 $3,020.49 $3,172.15 $3,331.12 $3,499.23 $16.59 $17.43 $18.30 $19.22 $20.19

RECREATION RECEPTIONIST $3,226.97 $3,387.77 $3,557.71 $3,734.95 $3,923.16 $18.62 $19.54 $20.53 $21.55 $22.63

Monthly Hourly

 
 

10.E

Packet Pg. 114



Approve MOUs  
June 28, 2018 
 
CONFIDENTIAL SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 2, 2017 - JUNE 30, 2018

2.25% COLA A B C D E A B C D E

ASSIST TO CITY MGR $7,145.02 $7,501.93 $7,876.64 $8,271.36 $8,684.99 $41.22 $43.28 $45.44 $47.72 $50.11

CITY CLERK $6,597.96 $6,928.20 $7,273.99 $7,637.58 $8,020.07 $38.07 $39.97 $41.97 $44.06 $46.27

EXEC ASSIST TO CITY MGR $5,163.62 $5,421.58 $5,694.00 $5,978.64 $6,277.74 $29.79 $31.28 $32.85 $34.49 $36.22

INFORMATION SYSTEMS SPECIALIST $5,096.91 $5,351.53 $5,618.39 $5,899.70 $6,194.35 $29.41 $30.87 $32.41 $34.04 $35.74

Monthly Hourly

 
MID-MANAGEMENT SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1 2018 - JUNE 30, 2019

2.25% COLA A B C D E A B C D E

ASSOCIATE PLANNER $6,042.02 $6,344.45 $6,661.34 $6,994.91 $7,345.16 $34.86 $36.60 $38.43 $40.36 $42.38

BUILDING OFFICIAL $7,989.16 $8,389.39 $8,808.79 $9,248.66 $9,711.54 $46.09 $48.40 $50.82 $53.36 $56.03

CIVIL ENGINEER/PROJECT MANAGER $6,947.10 $7,295.12 $7,659.82 $8,042.31 $8,444.82 $40.08 $42.09 $44.19 $46.40 $48.72

ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECTS MANAGER $6,042.02 $6,344.45 $6,661.34 $6,994.91 $7,345.16 $34.86 $36.60 $38.43 $40.36 $42.38

MAINTENANCE SUPERINTENDENT $5,944.13 $6,243.80 $6,554.44 $6,881.52 $7,225.05 $34.29 $36.02 $37.81 $39.70 $41.68

FIELD SUPERVISOR $5,538.47 $5,814.39 $6,106.76 $6,411.91 $6,729.86 $31.95 $33.54 $35.23 $36.99 $38.83

RECREATION SUPERVISOR $5,355.74 $5,624.35 $5,907.58 $6,203.60 $6,512.41 $30.90 $32.45 $34.08 $35.79 $37.57

SENIOR PLANNER $6,947.10 $7,295.12 $7,659.82 $8,042.31 $8,444.82 $40.08 $42.09 $44.19 $46.40 $48.72

SENIOR ACCOUNTANT $6,947.10 $7,295.12 $7,659.82 $8,042.31 $8,444.82 $40.08 $42.09 $44.19 $46.40 $48.72

SENIOR MECHANIC $5,145.61 $5,403.25 $5,673.69 $5,956.92 $6,254.76 $29.69 $31.17 $32.73 $34.37 $36.09

Monthly Hourly

 
 

MANAGEMENT SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1, 2018 - JUNE 30, 2019
2.25% COLA Annually Monthly Hourly

Admin. Services Director $101,484.58 $8,457.05 $48.79

City Manager $197,712.63 $16,476.05 $95.05

Chief of Police $163,341.58 $13,611.80 $78.53

Director of Public Works $149,931.92 $12,494.33 $72.08

Director of Finance $148,270.96 $12,355.91 $71.28

Community Development Director $131,902.50 $10,991.88 $63.41  

10.E

Packet Pg. 115



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF JUNE 28, 2018 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Fee Schedule for Fiscal Year 2018/19  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Conduct the noticed public hearing on the proposed City Fee 
Schedule for Fiscal Year 2018/2019 and adopt the proposed Resolution repealing Resolution 
No. 4077 and adopting the new fee schedule. 

 
BACKGROUND: Part of the annual budget process is a review of the City’s Fee Schedule. The 
current fee schedule is based on the comprehensive fee study adopted on November 24, 2015. 
The consultant recommended that the City review the fee schedule on a yearly basis and 
implement a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment, which accounts for most of the increases 
in fees. 
 

State law requires the City to conduct a public hearing where testimony can be taken 

before any fees are added or existing fees are altered. Staff is recommending a couple of 

changes to the FY 2018/19 Fee Schedule including a 3.2 percent CPI adjustment.  
 
DISCUSSION:  
Miscellaneous Fees: Miscellaneous fees include the CPI adjustment of 3.2 percent with the 
following exceptions: Notice of Intent to Circulate Initiative Petition fee is set by the state at a 
maximum of $200, which is consistent with our existing fee schedule. Notary Service Fees, 
which are also set by the state, have increased from $10 to $15. 
 
In addition, the state-mandated Business License Disability Access and Education fee has 
increased from $1 to $4. In prior years the City has not implement this fee, which means the 
City has used approximately $1,300/ a year of General Fund monies to reimburse the State.  
However, due to this increase, staff is recommending increasing the fee from zero to $4 per 
business license, which is then passed through to the State. If the fee is not set to $4, the City 
will be required to pay the State approximately $5,000 from the General Fund. 
 
Parks and Recreation Fees: Staff is recommending no changes to the Parks and Recreation 
Fee Schedule. 
 
Police Department Fees: Police department fees include a 3.2 percent inflationary adjustment. 
 

10.F

Packet Pg. 116



Adopt FY 2018-19 Fee Schedule  
June 28, 2018 
 
Animal Service Fees: Animal service fees are adopted by Santa Cruz County and this 
Resolution adopts the fee schedule it has in place. 
 
Historical Museum Fees: The Historical Museum fees include a 3.2 percent inflationary 
adjustment. 
 
Building Fees: Building fees include a 3.2 percent inflationary adjustment. 
 
Planning Fees: Planning fees include a 3.2 percent inflationary adjustment. 
 
Public Work Fees: Public work fees include a 3.2 percent inflationary adjustment. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The CPI adjustment helps offset increased costs to provide services to the 
community. The Fiscal Year 2018/19 Budget includes the higher fees and the fee schedule 
goes into effect July 1, 2018.   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Exhibit A 2018-19 Fee Schedule (PDF) 
2. Exhibit B Animal Service Fees 18-19 (PDF) 
3. Fee Schedule Comparison (PDF) 

 
Report Prepared By:   Mark Sullivan 
 Senior Accountant 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

10.F

Packet Pg. 117



Adopt FY 2018-19 Fee Schedule  
June 28, 2018 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA REPEALING 

RESOLUTION NO. 4077 AND ADOPTING THE CITY’S FEE SCHEDULE FOR  

FISCAL YEAR 2018/2019 

 

 WHEREAS, the Government Code of the State of California, Section 66018 requires 

local agencies to notice and hold at least one open and public meeting prior to levying a new fee 

or increasing an existing fee; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Capitola has held a duly noticed public 

hearing on June 28, 2018, to consider increases to existing fees charged for various City 

services; and 

WHEREAS, this fee schedule sets forth the City’s cost recovery fee programs, which 

includes minimum deposits against which staff costs, adjusted for overhead, are assessed; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 3285 on May 22, 2003, stating that 

all flat fees, with the exception of those established by law, shall be adjusted annually by the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the San Francisco, Oakland, San Jose area, which was 3.2 

percent for 2017; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola will analyze the fee schedule on a yearly basis to 

ensure hour estimates and staff costs are reasonable; and   

WHEREAS, the fee schedule has been updated as described in Exhibit A; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola has made available to the public the required data 

pursuant to Government Code Section 66018 for at least ten days prior to adoption of a revised 

fee schedule. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Capitola 

does hereby: 

• Repeal Resolution 4077; and 

• Adopt the City of Capitola Fee Schedule pursuant to the changes in Exhibit A 
attached hereto to become effective on July 1, 2018; and 

• Adopt the Animal Services Fees identified in Exhibit B attached hereto to become 
effective on July 1, 2018. 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted by the 

City Council of the City of Capitola at its regular meeting held on the 28th day of June, 2018, by 

the following vote: 

10.F

Packet Pg. 118



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Administrative Decision Appeal Fee $516
Bingo Permit $62
Capitola Municipal Code $652
Capitola Municipal Code Supplement Service (Per 
year)

$196

Copies: 
1 – 5 copies $0
6 or more copies (Per copy) $0.25 / page
      Gov’t Code § 81008 (Political Reform Act) 
statements/reports  (Per copy) 

$0.10 / page

Video Tapes, Flash Drive, CD/DVD Production Cost + $51.60 1st Hour (Minimum) + $25.80 / hour
Entertainment Permit Application Fee $38
Single Event Permit $38
Minor Entertainment Permit $160
Regular Entertainment Permit $598
Pet Shops and Kennel License Fee (Municipal Code 
§ 5.20.020) set only by ordinance

$23

Returned Check Fee $38
Business License Overpayment Refund Fee 
(resolution 3532, ord 871)

0 (Set to -0- by Council in 2011)

Business License Late Payment Penalty Admin. Fee $35 + 10% each month late

Business License Application Fee (Reso. 3532) $38
Business License - Disability Access and Education 
Fee (State)

$4

Temporary, Publicly Attended Activities, 
Application Fee (Municipal Code § 9.36.040) 

$34

Public Art (Total Building Valuation $250,000 or 
more) (Municipal Code Chapter 2.58)

2% of TBV or 1% in lieu to City

Notice of Intent to Circulate Initiative Petition 
(Elections Code  § 9103(b))

$200

Bandstand Rental Fee $222 / 4 hrs or $666 all day / deposit $1,500
Notary Service Fees (State Code) $0

Acknowledgment or proof of a deed, or other 
instrument, to include the seal and   writing of the 
certificate    

$15 / signature

Administering an oath or affirmation to one 
person and executing the jurat, including the seal

$15 / signature

Credit Card Transaction Fee 3%
Electric Vehicle Charging Fee $0.50 / hour

MISCELLANEOUS FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

All fees are evaluated annually to determine if they are competitive with other recreation
programs in Santa Cruz County
Classes
Negotiated Instructor Activity Fee (Instructor receives 65% of this fee, Department retains 35%) Negotiated

Registration Fee - Resident (Capitola Residents Only) $16 per class
-Department retains this fee
 Non-Resident (Anyone residing outside of the City) in addition to Residential Registration Fee $14 per class
-Department retains this fee
  Senior Discount 10%
Sports
League Fees Costs + 30% admin fee
League fees will change depending upon number and type of leagues offered, number of games per 
league, number of officials, amount of equipment needed, field/site prep and maintenance, and whether or 
not playoffs & awards are offered.  Fees are calculated based on direct costs + 30% admin fee. 

Junior Guards
  4 weeks resident/non resident $220/$284
Camp Capitola
  All day 2 week session, resident/non resident $238 / $262
        1/2 day resident/non resident $135 / $152
  All day 3 week session, resident/non resident $353 / $389
        1/2 day resident/non resident $184 / $201
  Extended Care--daily resident/non resident $8.00
  Extended Care--weekly resident/non resident $35
  Transportation fee to Jr. Guards (1st Session / 2nd Session)  $54 / $42
Private Tennis Lessons 75% of Activity Fee
Facility Rentals
  Softball & Soccer fields hourly rental; non profit youth groups/other non profit & Cap residents/all 
others

$13 / $25 / $33

  Jade Street Community Center
    Rooms A&B hourly rent $42
    Room C hourly rent $58
    Kitchen hourly rent $21
    Entire Center hourly rent $150
    Non profit discount of Jade Street Facility rents 25%
Field Prep and/or additional staffing required to prepare for or supervise the Sports rentals only $13 / hr

Notes: Resident include Soquel Union School District 
Costs mean staff costs adjusted for benefits, department overhead, and City overhead as calculated by the 
City Manager.  Costs can also mean direct cost of a consultant.  When consultant costs are included 21% 
of such costs will be charged to cover staff time for contract management. Staff costs do not accrue 
during an appeal unless appeal is made by applicant.

Deposits are stated as minimums.  Actual deposits depend on the evaluation by staff of an individual 
project or application.  The City Manager may lower minimum deposits if the application or project 
justifies a lower deposit.  When an application involves multiple minimum fees the highest minimum fee 
applies.

PARKS AND RECREATION FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Special Event Permit $59
Amplified Sound Permit (Municipal Code 9.12.040) $30
DUI Cost Recovery Fee (Res. 3533) Not to exceed $12,000
Copies of reports:  Crime Reports, Special Reports, etc. (Regardless of number of pages) $0.25 / page
Copies of:  Citations, Code sections, Ordinances, etc. $0.25 / page
Bicycle Licenses (New) $10
Bicycle Licenses (Renewal) $7
Citation Sign-Offs $0
Photographs $19 + administration fees
VIN verifications $15
Video Tapes, Flash Drive, CD/DVD Production Cost + $51.60 1st Hour (Minimum) + 

$25.80 / hour
Local Fire Arm dealers (set by state)
  New application set by state
  Renewal set by state
Second Dealers License (set by state)
  Application set by state
  Renewal set by state
Taxi Fee per application set by state
Civil Subpoena (per case) (set by state) set by state
Parking Permits (separate action by the Council)
 Neighborhoods per year  (Resolution No. 3733) $25
Village Preferential Permit   (Resolution No. 3733) $50 per year
Village Employer/Employee Permit   (Resolution No. 3733) $50 per year
  Morning Village Parking Permit (Resolution No. 3715) $50 per year
Concealed Weapon Permits (set by state)
  Application
    Standard set by state
    Judicial set by state
    Employment set by state
  Renewal
    Standard set by state
    Judicial set by state
    Employment set by state
Firearm Surrender Fees (set by state law)
  1-5 guns set by state
  6+guns set by state
Vehicle Storage per day $26
Administrative fee to release Impounded / Stored Vehicle $126
Surf School Permit Fee $516

Animal Services Fees
See Exhibit B "Animal Services Fees"

POLICE DEPARTMENT FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

The cost of a “combination building permit” shall be 1.5 times the
amounts shown in Table 1-A. A “combination building permit” is defined
as a permit for a scope of construction work regulated by two or more of
the model codes. The model codes are the building code, the plumbing
code, the mechanical code and the electrical code.

The cost of a “building permit”shall be the amounts shown in Table 1-A.
A “building permit” is defined as a permit for a scope of construction
work regulated solely by a single model code. The model codes are the
building code, the plumbing code, the mechanical code and the electrical
code.

   TABLE 1-A
Total Valuation FEES
$1.00 to $500.00 $25.66 
$501.00 to $2,000.00 $25.66 for the first $500.00 plus $3.33 for 

each additional $100.00 or fraction thereof. 

$2,001.00 to $25,000.00 $75.61 for the first $2,000.00 plus $15.28 
for each additional $1000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 

$25,001.00 to $50,000.00 $427.05 for the first $25,000.00 plus $11.02 
for each additional $1,000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 

$50,001.00 to $100,000.00 $702.55 for the first $50,000.00 plus $7.64 
for each additional $1,000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 

$100,001.00 to $500,000.00 $1,084.55 for the first $100,000.00 plus 
$6.12 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof. 

$500,001.00 to $1,000,000.00 $3,532.55 for the first $500,000.00 plus 
$5.18 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof. 

$1,000,001.00 and up $6,122.55 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus 
$2.83 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof.

Building Plan Check Fee 65% of Building Permit Fee
Building Permit Reinstatement Fee 50% of the original, singular building 

permit fee or combo building permit fee,
whichever is applicable to the permit being 

reinstated

Stop Work Order Fee 2x the singular building permit fee

BUILDING FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule
Greywater System Permit $0
Electric Vehicle Charging Permits (* Note: These fees were added to the 
fee schedule for FY2011-12, but will be waived per the Green Energy 
Increntive Program)

  a. Level I (120 volts) $0
  b. Level II (208-240 volts) $0
  c. Level III (480 volts) $0
Solar P.V. System $0
Solar P.V. System (Commercial Sale/Distribution) Cost
Solar Hot Water Heater $0
Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3786 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee

Temporary Trailer/Mobile Home Occupancy Permit $52
Structural Review of Engineered Plans cost + 21%
Outside Consultant Plan Review cost + 21%

Grading Plan Review Fees
50 cubic yard or less -$                                                              
51 to 100 cubic yard 25.66$                                                          
101 to 1,000 cubic yards 40.39$                                                          
1,001 to 10,000 cubic yards 52.41$                                                          
10,001 to 100,000 cubic yards $52.41 for first 10,000 plus $26.75 for each 

additional 10,000 cubic yards 
100,001 to 200,000 cubic yards $293.15 for first 100,000 plus $14.46 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
200,001 cubic yards or more $423.28 for first 200,000 plus $7.92 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

Grading Permit Fees
50 cubic yard or less 25.66$                                                          
51 to 100 cubic yard 40.39$                                                          
101 to 1,000 cubic yards $40.39 for first 100 plus $19.11 for each 

additional 100 cubic yards 
1,001 to 10,000 cubic yards $212.38 for first 1,000 plus $15.83 for each 

additional 1,000 cubic yards 
10,001 to 100,000 cubic yards $354.85 for first 10,000 plus $72.05 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
100,001 to 200,000 cubic yards $1,003.30 for first 100,000 plus $39.85 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Administration/Documents
Continuance Request - Applicant (2+) $161
Staff Billing Rate Cost
Appeals-by Applicant Cost
Appeals- by City Officials $0

Appeals- by Other $516

Coastal Development Permit Appeal $0
Appeals -Building/Zoning Code Violations $516
Records Search/Research/Special Report Cost

Administrative Permits
Tree Remova l- Staff  Review $131
Tree Removal -- 3 or more trees on a property $280
Tree Installation Deposit (Refundable) $500 Deposit
Commercial Sidewalk/Parking Lot Sale Permit $78
Tenant Use Permit (MCUP)--Staff approval $79
Transient Rental Occupancy Use Permit $546
Home Occupation Use Permit $164
Fence Permit- Staff approval $44
Fence Permit- PC approval $819
Temporary Sidewalk Dining $79
Temporary Use Administrative Permit $79

Sign Permits
Temporary Signs and Banner Permits $39
Signs permit - Staff Review $132
Signs  permit - PC Review $546
Master Sign  Program Cost; $3,000 min deposit
Village Sidewalk Sign Permit $67

Design Permits
Residential Single Family/Minor Design Permit - Staff Review $798
Residential Single Family - PC Review $2,730
Residential Multi-Family - PC Review $3,819
Commercial - PC Review $4,000 Deposit
Secondary Dwelling Unit- Staff Review $546
Secondary Dwelling Unit- PC Review $1,638
Residential Multi-Family/Minor Design Permit - Staff Review $2,000 deposit
Commercial Minor Design Permit $2,000 deposit

Use Permits
Master Conditional Use Permit Cost; $3,500 min. deposit
Conditional Use Permit/Minor Use Permit - Staff Review $1,638
Conditional Use Permit - PC approval Cost; $3,000 min. deposit
Temporary Use Permit $83

Subdivisions
Certificate of Compliance & Lot Merger $546
Boundary Line Adjustment $872
Tentative Parcel Map Cost; $2,000 min. deposit
Tentative Map Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Revised Map $2,000 Deposit
Time Extension $2,000 Deposit
Subdivision Modification $2,000 Deposit

Plan Amendments
General Plan Amendment Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Local Coastal Plan Amendment Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Rezone Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Planned Development Rezone Cost; $3,500 min. deposit

PLANNING  FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Other Discretionary Permits
Variance $1,638
Coastal Development Permit $819
Coastal Permit Exclusion $92
Mobile home Park Change of Use or Closure $5,000 Deposit
Development Agreement Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Specific Plan Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Permit Time Extension -Staff Review $546
Permit Time Extension - PC Review $1,638
Permit Amendment (any permit) 50% of original cost
Annexation Costs+ overhead / $3,000 min. deposit
Minor Modification $1,638

Environmental Review
Negative Declaration (and Mitigated ND) Cost; $2,000 min deposit
EIR Processing Cost; + 17% of consultant; $10,000 min deposit
Mitigation/Condition Monitoring Program Cost + 21%
NEPA Compliance Cost + 21%

Other Permits/Fees
Conceptual Review Fee- PC $1,638
Conceptual Review Fee- PC and CC $2,456
Technical Study Preparation and Review Cost + 21%
  NOTE:  Third party review costs to be required as necessary Cost + 21%
Code Compliance Double Application Fees
Code Compliance confiscated property recovery fee $258
Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost

Pre-Application Review $229
Building Plan Check & Final Inspection 20% of Building Permit Fee
Major Development Project Fee Cost; $5,000 min. deposit

Inclusionary Housing
Inclussionary Housing -Unit Sale $546
Inclussionary Housing -Unit Refinance $219
Single Family Residence $2.50 per square foot

Other Fees and Assessments
General Plan Maintenance Fee Total Building Valuation X 0.5%
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3786 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee
Green Building Educational Resource Fund Fee (Municipal Code 17.10.080) Fee equals .0025 times the overall building permit 

valuation of the project.

Affordable Housing In-Lieu Fees
For Sale Housing Developments of two to six units (Municipal Code Chapter 18.02/Reso. 3473) :
     All Units $10 per sq. ft.
For Sale Housing Developments of Seven or more units
#Units                            #Units Built   
   7                                          1                   $0
  8-13                                      1                   Total # units minus 7 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit
  14                                         2                   $0
   15-20                                   2                  Total # units minus 14 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit
   21                                        3                   $0
   22-27                                   3                   Total # units minus 21 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit
  28                                         4                   $0

Rental Multi-Family $6 per sq. ft.

NOTES:

1. All Fees are non‐refundable.   
2.   Deposit accounts are billed on a time and material basis.   Additional deposits may be necessary depending on the complexity of the project.  Any   

unused monies in a deposit account will be refunded following case closure.
3.  The Community Development Director may reduce  the total fee/deposit requirements for applications which are unlikely to require the full                        

deposit  amounts established herein.
4.  Applications which include a fee and a deposit payment will be processed with a single deposit account.
5.  Outside agency fees, including but not limited to County recordation fees, State Fish and Wildlife fees, etc. are charged at cost.
6.  The Community Development Director may establish a reasonable fee or deposit amount for permit types required by the Capitola Municipal Code 

or State law which are not included in the fee schedule.
7.  Flat fee applications are entitled up to two public hearings.  Additional public hearings shall be charged to the applicant at cost
8.  The Community Development Director may designate a project as a Major Development Project if it has a valuation of $2M+ or is considered technically           

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Encroachment Permits
  Non-Construction Items (includes materials storage within right-of-way 
road and sidewalk closures $65
Village Sidewalk Encroachment Permit $38

Construction Items
Level A $197
Level B $437
Level C $872
Level D $1,418
Level E $1,965

Residential Blue Curb Application Fee $206
Residential Blue Curb Annual Fee $52

Blanket Permits (repair and maintenance of existing facilities) $2,182
Private Improvement Permits/Encroachment Agreement
  Applications for Minor Permits $218
  Applications for Major Permits $546
Memorial Bench $1,092
Memorial Plaque (wharf) $819
Memorial Plaque (Grand Ave) $819
Memorial Plaque (tree) $500 + Cost of Tree
Memorial Picnic Table $1,582
Seasonal Boat Storage Permits
     Seasonal Permit $400 per month
     Short Term Permit $15 per day
Stormwater Development Review Fee

Stormwater Plan Review Fee $108
Large Project Plan Review Deposit

Tier 2 $3,275
Tier 3 & 4 $4,366

Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost 
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3796 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee
Final Map Cost; $3,000 min. deposit

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Exhibit A

Description 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost 
 Print of an electonically available Photograph in 
Collection

$7

Digital Copies of Collection Items $19
Scan High Resolution Tiff File of any collection 
item for a customer

$23

HISTORICAL MUSEUM FEES

10.F.1

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 A

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

A
d

o
p

t 
F

Y
 2

01
8-

19
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

)



Animal Service Fees

Charged by Santa Cruz County

Current 2017-18 Proposed 2018-19
Adoption Fees
Dogs

Puppies 2-6 months $195
Adults 7 mon-6 yrs $130
Sr. Adult 6 yrs+ $60

Cats
Kittens 2-12 months $120
Adults 1-6 yrs $100
Sr. Adult 6 yrs+ $55

Rabbits $50
Rodents $25
Small caged birds $25
Exotic birds (i.e. parrots) $75
Small Livestock Goats $75
Large Livestock Cow $100
Horse $250
Chicken/Rooster $10

Adoption Hold Fee, until 5:00 p.m. next business day, not applicable to adoption,
non-refundable Cat $20

Dog $25

Adoption fee for rescue/non-profit agencies is equal to the cost of the spay/neuter for only adoptable animals
Adoption fee for rescue/non-profit agencies for Rabbits $20
Adoption fee for rescue/non-profit agencies include a microchip

Impound Fees
Altered * Unaltered

Cat First Impound $  30 $  30 + Penalty $ 35
Second Impound $  50 $  50 + Penalty $ 50
Third Impound $  75 $  75 + Penalty $100
Fourth/Subsequent $  75 $  75 + Penalty $100

Dog First Impound $  75 $  75 + Penalty $ 35
Second Impound $ 115 $115 + Penalty $ 50
Third Impound $ 195 $195 + Penalty $100
Fourth/Subsequent $ 225 $225 + Penalty $100

*Unaltered animal penalty fee provided under California Food and Agriculture Code section 30804.7 and 31751.7

Livestock:   Large: First Impound $200
Second/Subsequent $250
Small: First Impound $75
Second/Subsequent $125
A.C. Officer Services $75 /hour min.2 hours (after hrs) 

Board Fees - Daily
Cats $20/day
Dogs $25/day
Other $25

10.F.2

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 B

 A
n

im
al

 S
er

vi
ce

 F
ee

s 
18

-1
9 

 (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Animal Service Fees

Charged by Santa Cruz County

Current 2017-18 Proposed 2018-19

License Fees – Dogs
Altered - one year $29
Unaltered - one year $100 with Unaltered Animal Certificate
Late Penalty $15
Senior Citizen (65+) - Altered dog $29
Senior Citizen (65+) - Unaltered dog $100
Potentially Dangerous/Vicious dog $200
Late Penalty for dog licenses for dogs designated $100
Potentially Dangerous, Vicious, Habitual or Public
Nuisance.
Unaltered Animal Certificate -- one time $250 $350
Exemption from Unaltered Animal Certificate $15 plus license fee
Administrative fee for mailed licenses $1
Replacement License Tag Fee $5
Failure to License Penalty (per dog, if impounded) $30

License Fees – Cats
Unaltered Animal Certificate $250 $350

Quarantine Fees
Home Quarantine (Field Check) $75
Shelter Quarantine $50 plus board fees

Service Fees
Microchip/walk-in service $15
Microchip for impounded dogs and cats $25
Dog/Cat trap rental $10 N/C
Dog Humane Trap Deposit $255
Cat Humane Trap Deposit $70
Trap Processing Fee $10
Pick-Up Animal in a Trap $75
Pick-Up of Owned Animal $75
Pick-up and Disposal of Deceased Animal on Private Property $85
Use of Livestock Trailer $100/$150   (1st /2nd time)

Medical Fees
Medical groom $45
Medical nail tirm $15
Medication dispensed $20
Vet procedure $25
Rabies $14
Medical bath $20
Wound prep $35

Owner Surrender of Animal Residing in Santa Cruz County
Owner Surrender of Dog $0
Owner Surrender of Cat $0
Owner Surrender of Rabbit $0
Owner Surrender of Exotic $0
(snake, lizard, bird, turtle) $0
small rodents $0
Large livestock $0
small livestock $0
Large Exotic $0

Owner Surrender of Animal Residing Outside of Santa Cruz County
Owner Surrender of Dog $50
Owner Surrender of Cat $35

10.F.2

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 B

 A
n

im
al

 S
er

vi
ce

 F
ee

s 
18

-1
9 

 (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Animal Service Fees

Charged by Santa Cruz County

Current 2017-18 Proposed 2018-19
Owner Surrender of Rabbit $25
Owner Surrender of Exotic $55
(snake, lizard, bird, turtle) $15-$35
small rodents $10-$25
Large livestock $100
small livestock $75
Large Exotic $55

Protective Custody Fee
Owner Arrest $75 /hour min.(2 hours after hrs)
Confiscate/Humane $75 /hour min.(2 hours after hrs)

 Emergency Hospital $25

Owner Requested Euthanasia $75 Plus Disposal

Disposal of Owned Dead Animals $50

Refund Processing Fee $25

Animal Control Officer Services        $75/hour (2 hr minimum after hours)
      

Field Return of Owned Animal $75

Spay/Neuter Fees for Impounded Animals
Cats $50

Dogs $195

Planned Pethood Spay/Neuter Fees
Dog $190 
Cat $25 
Rabbit $75 
Pit Bulls & Chihuahuas $50 
Animals over 100 lbs., in heat, pregnant or cryptorchid add $25 
Animals determined obese by veterinarian add $50 

Microchip $10 
License $29 
Rabies $10 
Late drop-off fee $20 
Late pick-up fee     $40/night
Blood panel for dogs over 7 yrs of age and cats over 10 yrs of age        $55

Dog $50 
Cat $10 
Rabbit $50 
*Limited income eligibility determined through proof of receipt of government assistance  
OR through a year-to-date pay stub or W2 tax form that proves the following:
1 person household--maximum of $35,350 annual income
2 person household--maximum of $40,350 annual income
3 person household--maximum of $45,400 annual income
4 person household--maximum of $50,400 annual income

ONE STOP Fees with Purchase of License
Rabies $10
Microchip $15

Fees for Additional Required Services

Planned Pethood Spay/Neuter Fees for Limited Income*

*Animals over 100 lbs., in heat, pregnant or cryptorchid – add $25. Animals 

determined obese by veterinarian add  $50. Animals over 7 years of age are 

required to receive a blood panel for an additional $55.  Late drop-off fee (more 

than 20 minutes) is $20. Reschedule fee for missed appointments is $25.

10.F.2

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 B

 A
n

im
al

 S
er

vi
ce

 F
ee

s 
18

-1
9 

 (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Animal Service Fees

Charged by Santa Cruz County

Current 2017-18 Proposed 2018-19

Nuisance Abatement Appeals Fee (County) $75

Non-sufficient Funds Check Fee $40

Puppy Training Deposits     $100-$200
Training Room Rental Fees $22

FINES FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANIMAL ORDINANCE – ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION PROGRAM

*Failure to license
First offense in one year $100
Second offense in one year $200
Third offense in one year $500

**Failure to microchip
First offense in one year $100
Second offense in one year $200
Third offense in one year $500

***Failure to provide rabies vaccination
First offense in one year     $100
Second offense in one year                           $200
Third offense in one year                              $500

Failure to display license (each dog)                                       $50

****Failure to spay or neuter dog or cat over 6 months, unless owner holds unaltered animal certificate
First offense $250
Second offense                            $500
Third offense                                $750

Dog running at large, first offense $100
Dog running at large, second offense $200
Dog running at large, third offense $250

Dog off leash, first offense $50
Dog off leash, second offense $150
Dog off leash, third offense $250

Safety of animal in parked vehicle $250

Failure of owner to pick up after dog or cat defecating $100

Habitual noisy animals (6.12.090) $100

Permitting livestock to trespass, per offense $200

All first offense recommended penalties not subject to cure will be reduced by 50% if they are paid in full by 5:00 p.m. 
  of the first business day following issuance.
*Citations for failure to license will be dismissed if cured within 7 calendar days, including day of issuance

**Citations for failure to microchip will be dismissed if cured within 7 calendar days, including day of issuance.

***Citations for failure to provide rabies vaccination will be dismissed if cured within 7 days, including day of issuance.

****Citations for failure to spay or neuter dog or cat over 6 months, unless owner holds unaltered animal certificate, 
           will be dismissed if ASA receives evidence that animal was spayed or neutered within 30 calendar days,
           including day of issuance.

10.F.2

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
 B

 A
n

im
al

 S
er

vi
ce

 F
ee

s 
18

-1
9 

 (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Administrative Decision Appeal Fee $500 $516
Bingo Permit $60 $62
Capitola Municipal Code $632 $652
Capitola Municipal Code Supplement Service (Per 
year)

$190 $196

Copies: 
1 – 5 copies $0 $0
6 or more copies (Per copy) $0.25 / page $0.25 / page
      Gov’t Code § 81008 (Political Reform Act) 
statements/reports  (Per copy) 

$0.10 / page $0.10 / page

Video Tapes, Flash Drive, CD/DVD Production Cost + $50 1st Hour (Minimum) + $25 / hour Cost + $51.60 1st Hour 
(Minimum) + $25.80 / hour

Entertainment Permit Application Fee $37 $38
Single Event Permit $37 $38
Minor Entertainment Permit $155 $160
Regular Entertainment Permit $579 $598
Pet Shops and Kennel License Fee (Municipal Code 
§ 5.20.020) set only by ordinance

$22 $23

Returned Check Fee $37 $38
Business License Overpayment Refund Fee 
(resolution 3532, ord 871)

0 (Set to -0- by Council in 2011) 0 (Set to -0- by Council in 
2011)

Business License Late Payment Penalty Admin. Fee $35 + 10% each month late $35 + 10% each month late

Business License Application Fee (Reso. 3532) $37 $38
Business License - Disability Access and Education 
Fee (State)

$0 $4

Temporary, Publicly Attended Activities, 
Application Fee (Municipal Code § 9.36.040) 

$33 $34

Public Art (Total Building Valuation $250,000 or 
more) (Municipal Code Chapter 2.58)

2% of TBV or 1% in lieu to City 2% of TBV or 1% in lieu to 
City

Notice of Intent to Circulate Initiative Petition 
(Elections Code  § 9103(b))

$200 $200

Bandstand Rental Fee $215 / 4 hrs or $645 all day / deposit $1,500 $222 / 4 hrs or $666 all day / 
deposit $1,500

Notary Service Fees (State Code) $0 $0
Acknowledgment or proof of a deed, or other 
instrument, to include the seal and   writing of 
the certificate    

$10 / signature $15 / signature

Administering an oath or affirmation to one 
person and executing the jurat, including the seal

$10 / signature $15 / signature

Credit Card Transaction Fee 3% 3%
Electric Vehicle Charging Fee $0.50 / hour $0.50 / hour

MISCELLANEOUS FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

All fees are evaluated annually to determine if they are competitive with other recreation
programs in Santa Cruz County
Classes
Negotiated Instructor Activity Fee (Instructor receives 65% of this fee, Department retains 35%) Negotiated Negotiated

Registration Fee - Resident (Capitola Residents Only) $16 per class $16 per class
-Department retains this fee
 Non-Resident (Anyone residing outside of the City) in addition to Residential Registration Fee $14 per class $14 per class
-Department retains this fee
  Senior Discount 10% 10%
Sports
League Fees Costs + 30% admin fee Costs + 30% admin fee
League fees will change depending upon number and type of leagues offered, number of games per 
league, number of officials, amount of equipment needed, field/site prep and maintenance, and 
whether or not playoffs & awards are offered.  Fees are calculated based on direct costs + 30% admin 
fee. 

Junior Guards
  4 weeks resident/non resident $220/$284 $220/$284
Camp Capitola
  All day 2 week session, resident/non resident $238 / $262 $238 / $262
        1/2 day resident/non resident $135 / $152 $135 / $152
  All day 3 week session, resident/non resident $353 / $389 $353 / $389
        1/2 day resident/non resident $184 / $201 $184 / $201
  Extended Care--daily resident/non resident $8.00 $8.00
  Extended Care--weekly resident/non resident $35 $35
  Transportation fee to Jr. Guards (1st Session / 2nd Session)  $54 / $42 $54 / $42
Private Tennis Lessons 75% of Activity Fee 75% of Activity Fee
Facility Rentals
  Softball & Soccer fields hourly rental; non profit youth groups/other non profit & Cap residents/all 
others

$13 / $25 / $33 $13 / $25 / $33

  Jade Street Community Center
    Rooms A&B hourly rent $42 $42
    Room C hourly rent $58 $58
    Kitchen hourly rent $21 $21
    Entire Center hourly rent $150 $150
    Non profit discount of Jade Street Facility rents 25% 25%
Field Prep and/or additional staffing required to prepare for or supervise the Sports rentals only $13 / hr $13 / hr

Notes: Resident include Soquel Union School District 
Costs mean staff costs adjusted for benefits, department overhead, and City overhead as calculated by 
the City Manager.  Costs can also mean direct cost of a consultant.  When consultant costs are 
included 21% of such costs will be charged to cover staff time for contract management. Staff costs 
do not accrue during an appeal unless appeal is made by applicant.

Deposits are stated as minimums.  Actual deposits depend on the evaluation by staff of an individual 
project or application.  The City Manager may lower minimum deposits if the application or project 
justifies a lower deposit.  When an application involves multiple minimum fees the highest minimum 
fee applies.

PARKS AND RECREATION FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Special Event Permit $57 $59
Amplified Sound Permit (Municipal Code 9.12.040) $29 $30
DUI Cost Recovery Fee (Res. 3533) Not to exceed $12,000 Not to exceed $12,000
Copies of reports:  Crime Reports, Special Reports, etc. (Regardless of number of pages) $0.25 / page $0.25 / page
Copies of:  Citations, Code sections, Ordinances, etc. $0.25 / page $0.25 / page
Bicycle Licenses (New) $10 $10
Bicycle Licenses (Renewal) $7 $7
Citation Sign-Offs $0 $0
Photographs $18 + administration fees $19 + administration fees
VIN verifications $15 $15
Video Tapes, Flash Drive, CD/DVD Production Cost + $50 1st Hour (Minimum) + $25 

/ hour
Cost + $51.60 1st Hour (Minimum) 

+ $25.80 / hour
Local Fire Arm dealers (set by state)
  New application set by state set by state
  Renewal set by state set by state
Second Dealers License (set by state)
  Application set by state set by state
  Renewal set by state set by state
Taxi Fee per application set by state set by state
Civil Subpoena (per case) (set by state) set by state set by state
Parking Permits (separate action by the Council)
 Neighborhoods per year  (Resolution No. 3733) $25 $25
Village Preferential Permit   (Resolution No. 3733) $50 per year $50 per year
Village Employer/Employee Permit   (Resolution No. 3733) $50 per year $50 per year
  Morning Village Parking Permit (Resolution No. 3715) $50 per year $50 per year
Concealed Weapon Permits (set by state)
  Application
    Standard set by state set by state
    Judicial set by state set by state
    Employment set by state set by state
  Renewal
    Standard set by state set by state
    Judicial set by state set by state
    Employment set by state set by state
Firearm Surrender Fees (set by state law)
  1-5 guns set by state set by state
  6+guns set by state set by state
Vehicle Storage per day $25 $26
Administrative fee to release Impounded / Stored Vehicle $122 $126
Surf School Permit Fee $500 $516

Animal Services Fees
See Exhibit B "Animal Services Fees"

POLICE DEPARTMENT FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

The cost of a “combination building permit” shall be 1.5 times the
amounts shown in Table 1-A. A “combination building permit” is
defined as a permit for a scope of construction work regulated by two or
more of the model codes. The model codes are the building code, the
plumbing code, the mechanical code and the electrical code.

The cost of a “building permit”shall be the amounts shown in Table 1-
A. A “building permit” is defined as a permit for a scope of
construction work regulated solely by a single model code. The model
codes are the building code, the plumbing code, the mechanical code
and the electrical code.

   TABLE 1-A
Total Valuation FEES FEES
$1.00 to $500.00 $24.86 $25.66 
$501.00 to $2,000.00 $24.86 for the first $500.00 plus $3.23 for 

each additional $100.00 or fraction 
thereof. 

$25.66 for the first $500.00 plus $3.33 for 
each additional $100.00 or fraction thereof. 

$2,001.00 to $25,000.00 $73.31 for the first $2,000.00 plus $14.81 
for each additional $1000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 

$75.61 for the first $2,000.00 plus $15.28 
for each additional $1000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 
$25,001.00 to $50,000.00 $413.94 for the first $25,000.00 plus 

$10.68 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof. 

$427.05 for the first $25,000.00 plus 
$11.02 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof. 
$50,001.00 to $100,000.00 $680.94 for the first $50,000.00 plus $7.40 

for each additional $1,000.00 or fraction 
thereof. 

$702.55 for the first $50,000.00 plus $7.64 
for each additional $1,000.00 or fraction 

thereof. 
$100,001.00 to $500,000.00 $1,050.94 for the first $100,000.00 plus 

$5.93 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof. 

$1,084.55 for the first $100,000.00 plus 
$6.12 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof. 
$500,001.00 to $1,000,000.00 $3,422.94 for the first $500,000.00 plus 

$5.02 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof. 

$3,532.55 for the first $500,000.00 plus 
$5.18 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof. 
$1,000,001.00 and up $5,932.94 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus 

$2.74 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof.

$6,122.55 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus 
$2.83 for each additional $1,000.00 or 

fraction thereof.
Building Plan Check Fee 65% of Building Permit Fee 65% of Building Permit Fee
Building Permit Reinstatement Fee 50% of the original, singular building 

permit fee or combo building permit fee, 
whichever is applicable to the permit 

being reinstated

50% of the original, singular building 
permit fee or combo building permit fee, 

whichever is applicable to the permit being 
reinstated

Stop Work Order Fee 2x the singular building permit fee 2x the singular building permit fee

Greywater System Permit $0 $0
Electric Vehicle Charging Permits (* Note: These fees were added to 
the fee schedule for FY2011-12, but will be waived per the Green 
Energy Increntive Program)
  a. Level I (120 volts) $0 $0
  b. Level II (208-240 volts) $0 $0
  c. Level III (480 volts) $0 $0
Solar P.V. System $0 $0
Solar P.V. System (Commercial Sale/Distribution) Cost Cost
Solar Hot Water Heater $0 $0
Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost Cost
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3786 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee 5% of Permit Fee

Temporary Trailer/Mobile Home Occupancy Permit $50 $52
Structural Review of Engineered Plans cost + 21% cost + 21%
Outside Consultant Plan Review cost + 21% cost + 21%

Grading Plan Review Fees
50 cubic yard or less -$                                                            -$                                                             
51 to 100 cubic yard 24.86$                                                        25.66$                                                          
101 to 1,000 cubic yards 39.14$                                                        40.39$                                                          
1,001 to 10,000 cubic yards 50.78$                                                        52.41$                                                          
10,001 to 100,000 cubic yards $50.78 for first 10,000 plus $25.92 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
 $52.41 for first 10,000 plus $26.75 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

BUILDING FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

100,001 to 200,000 cubic yards $284.05 for first 100,000 plus $14.01 for 
each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

 $293.15 for first 100,000 plus $14.46 for 
each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

200,001 cubic yards or more $410.16 for first 200,000 plus $7.67 for 
each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

 $423.28 for first 200,000 plus $7.92 for 
each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

Grading Permit Fees
50 cubic yard or less 24.86$                                                        25.66$                                                          
51 to 100 cubic yard 39.14$                                                        40.39$                                                          
101 to 1,000 cubic yards $39.14 for first 100 plus $18.52 for each 

additional 100 cubic yards 
 $40.39 for first 100 plus $19.11 for each 

additional 100 cubic yards 
1,001 to 10,000 cubic yards $205.82 for first 1,000 plus $15.34 for 

each additional 1,000 cubic yards 
 $212.38 for first 1,000 plus $15.83 for 

each additional 1,000 cubic yards 
10,001 to 100,000 cubic yards $343.88 for first 10,000 plus $69.82 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
 $354.85 for first 10,000 plus $72.05 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
100,001 to 200,000 cubic yards $972.26 for first 100,000 plus $38.61 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 
$1,003.30 for first 100,000 plus $39.85 for 

each additional 10,000 cubic yards 

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Administration/Documents
Continuance Request - Applicant (2+) $156 $161
Staff Billing Rate Cost Cost
Appeals-by Applicant Cost Cost
Appeals- by City Officials $0 $0

Appeals- by Other $500 $516
Coastal Development Permit Appeal $0 $0
Appeals -Building/Zoning Code Violations $500 $516
Records Search/Research/Special Report Cost Cost

Administrative Permits
Tree Remova l- Staff  Review $127 $131
Tree Removal -- 3 or more trees on a property $271 $280
Tree Installation Deposit (Refundable) $500 Deposit $500 Deposit
Commercial Sidewalk/Parking Lot Sale Permit $76 $78
Tenant Use Permit (MCUP)--Staff approval $77 $79
Transient Rental Occupancy Use Permit $529 $546
Home Occupation Use Permit $159 $164
Fence Permit- Staff approval $43 $44
Fence Permit- PC approval $794 $819
Temporary Sidewalk Dining new $79
Temporary Use Administrative Permit new $79

Sign Permits
Temporary Signs and Banner Permits $38 $39
Signs permit - Staff Review $128 $132
Signs  permit - PC Review $529 $546
Master Sign  Program Cost; $3,000 min deposit Cost; $3,000 min deposit
Village Sidewalk Sign Permit $65 $67

Design Permits
Residential Single Family/Minor Design Permit - Staff Review $773 $798
Residential Single Family - PC Review $2,645 $2,730
Residential Multi-Family - PC Review $3,701 $3,819
Commercial - PC Review $4,000 Deposit $4,000 Deposit
Secondary Dwelling Unit- Staff Review $529 $546
Secondary Dwelling Unit- PC Review $1,587 $1,638
Residential Multi-Family/Minor Design Permit - Staff Review new $2,000 deposit
Commercial Minor Design Permit new $2,000 deposit

Use Permits
Master Conditional Use Permit Cost; $3,500 min. deposit Cost; $3,500 min. deposit
Conditional Use Permit/Minor Use Permit - Staff Review $1,587 $1,638
Conditional Use Permit - PC approval Cost; $3,000 min. deposit Cost; $3,000 min. deposit
Temporary Use Permit $80 $83

Subdivisions
Certificate of Compliance & Lot Merger $529 $546
Boundary Line Adjustment $845 $872
Tentative Parcel Map Cost; $2,000 min. deposit Cost; $2,000 min. deposit
Tentative Map Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Revised Map $2,000 Deposit $2,000 Deposit
Time Extension $2,000 Deposit $2,000 Deposit
Subdivision Modification $2,000 Deposit $2,000 Deposit

Plan Amendments
General Plan Amendment Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Local Coastal Plan Amendment Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Rezone Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Planned Development Rezone Cost; $3,500 min. deposit Cost; $3,500 min. deposit

Other Discretionary Permits
Variance $1,587 $1,638
Coastal Development Permit $794 $819
Coastal Permit Exclusion $89 $92
Mobile home Park Change of Use or Closure $5,000 Deposit $5,000 Deposit
Development Agreement Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Specific Plan Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit
Permit Time Extension -Staff Review $529 $546
Permit Time Extension - PC Review $1,587 $1,638
Permit Amendment (any permit) 50% of original cost 50% of original cost
Annexation Costs+ overhead / $3,000 min. deposit Costs+ overhead / $3,000 min. deposit
Minor Modification new $1,638

Environmental Review
Negative Declaration (and Mitigated ND) Cost; $2,000 min deposit Cost; $2,000 min deposit
EIR Processing Cost; + 17% of consultant; $10,000 min deposit Cost; + 17% of consultant; $10,000 min 

deposit
Mitigation/Condition Monitoring Program Cost + 21% Cost + 21%

PLANNING  FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule
NEPA Compliance Cost + 21% Cost + 21%

Other Permits/Fees
Conceptual Review Fee- PC $1,587 $1,638
Conceptual Review Fee- PC and CC $2,380 $2,456
Technical Study Preparation and Review Cost + 21% Cost + 21%
  NOTE:  Third party review costs to be required as necessary Cost + 21% Cost + 21%
Code Compliance Double Application Fees Double Application Fees
Code Compliance confiscated property recovery fee $250 $258
Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost Cost

Pre-Application Review $222 $229
Building Plan Check & Final Inspection 20% of Building Permit Fee 20% of Building Permit Fee
Major Development Project Fee Cost; $5,000 min. deposit Cost; $5,000 min. deposit

Inclusionary Housing
Inclussionary Housing -Unit Sale $529 $546
Inclussionary Housing -Unit Refinance $212 $219
Single Family Residence Erroneously removed in a prior year $2.50 per square foot

Other Fees and Assessments
General Plan Maintenance Fee Total Building Valuation X 0.5% Total Building Valuation X 0.5%
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3786 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee 5% of Permit Fee
Green Building Educational Resource Fund Fee (Municipal Code 17.10.080) Fee equals .0025 times the overall building permit 

valuation of the project.
 Fee equals .0025 times the overall 

building permit valuation of the project.

Affordable Housing In-Lieu Fees
For Sale Housing Developments of two to six units (Municipal Code Chapter 18.02/Reso. 3473) :
     All Units $10 per sq. ft. $10 per sq. ft.
For Sale Housing Developments of Seven or more units
#Units                            #Units Built   
   7                                          1                   $0 $0
  8-13                                      1                   Total # units minus 7 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit Total # units minus 7 @ $10 per avg. sq. 

ft. per unit
  14                                         2                   $0 $0
   15-20                                   2                  Total # units minus 14 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit Total # units minus 14 @ $10 per avg. 

sq. ft. per unit
   21                                        3                   $0 $0
   22-27                                   3                   Total # units minus 21 @ $10 per avg. sq. ft. per unit Total # units minus 21 @ $10 per avg. 

sq. ft. per unit
  28                                         4                   $0 $0

Rental Multi-Family $6 per sq. ft. $6 per sq. ft.

NOTES:

1. All Fees are non‐refundable.  
2.   Deposit accounts are billed on a time and material basis.   Additional deposits may be necessary depending on the complexity of the project.  Any   

unused monies in a deposit account will be refunded following case closure.
3.  The Community Development Director may reduce  the total fee/deposit requirements for applications which are unlikely to require the full                        

deposit  amounts established herein.
4.  Applications which include a fee and a deposit payment will be processed with a single deposit account.
5.  Outside agency fees, including but not limited to County recordation fees, State Fish and Wildlife fees, etc. are charged at cost.
6.  The Community Development Director may establish a reasonable fee or deposit amount for permit types required by the Capitola Municipal Code 

or State law which are not included in the fee schedule.
7.  Flat fee applications are entitled up to two public hearings.  Additional public hearings shall be charged to the applicant at cost
8.  The Community Development Director may designate a project as a Major Development Project if it has a valuation of $2M+ or is considered technically           

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Encroachment Permits
  Non-Construction Items (includes materials storage within right-of-
way road and sidewalk closures $63 $65
Village Sidewalk Encroachment Permit $37 $38

Construction Items
Level A $191 $197
Level B $423 $437
Level C $845 $872
Level D $1,374 $1,418
Level E $1,904 $1,965

Residential Blue Curb Application Fee $200 $206
Residential Blue Curb Annual Fee $50 $52

Blanket Permits (repair and maintenance of existing facilities) $2,114 $2,182
Private Improvement Permits/Encroachment Agreement
  Applications for Minor Permits $211 $218
  Applications for Major Permits $529 $546
Memorial Bench $1,058 $1,092
Memorial Plaque (wharf) $794 $819
Memorial Plaque (Grand Ave) $794 $819
Memorial Plaque (tree) $500 + Cost of Tree $500 + Cost of Tree
Memorial Picnic Table $1,533 $1,582
Seasonal Boat Storage Permits
     Seasonal Permit $400 per month $400 per month
     Short Term Permit $15 per day $15 per day
Stormwater Development Review Fee

Stormwater Plan Review Fee $105 $108
Large Project Plan Review Deposit

Tier 2 $3,173 $3,275
Tier 3 & 4 $4,231 $4,366

Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost Cost 
Information Technology Fee (Resolution No. 3796 adopted 11/12/09) 5% of Permit Fee 5% of Permit Fee
Final Map Cost; $3,000 min. deposit Cost; $3,000 min. deposit

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



Description 2017/18 Fee Schedule 2018/19 Fee Schedule

Research Fee - 1/2 hour minimum charge Cost Cost 
 Print of an electonically available Photograph in 
Collection

$7 $7

Digital Copies of Collection Items $18 $19
Scan High Resolution Tiff File of any collection 
item for a customer

$22 $23

HISTORICAL MUSEUM FEES

10.F.3

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ee
 S

ch
ed

u
le

 C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
A

d
o

p
t 

F
Y

 2
01

8-
19

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



 

          

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES 

AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD   7/01/2018 to 6/30/2020 

     TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                              Page 

 

SECTION I: UNION RECOGNITION.………………………...……………………….1 

 

SECTION II: WAGE ………………………...…………………………………………...4 

 A. Wage Schedule and Wage Increases………………………...…………………..4       
 B. Specialty Pay for Police Department Administrative Assistant.…………………5 

 C. Conversion to Hourly Rate………………………...…………………………….5 

 D. Service…………………..……………………………………………………….5 

 E. Types of Appointments…………..………………………………………………5 

 F. Public Works Employees, Shift Changes, Shift Differential..…………………   6 

 G. Emergency Call Back Compensation………………………….………………...6  

 H. Parking Enforcement Officers…………………………….……..………………7 

 I. License and Certification Reimbursement…………. ……………………………7 

 

SECTION III: OVERTIME………………………...……………………………………7 

 

SECTION IV: MERIT PAY AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF INCREASES ………….8 

 

SECTION V: VACATION………………………...………………………………………8 

 A. Accrual..…………………………………………………………………………..8 

 B. Accumulation.…………………………………………………………………….8  

 C. Scheduling.………………………………………………………………………..8 

 D. Vacation Cash Out On Termination………………………………………………9 

 E. Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination………………………………………...9 

 F. Optional Vacation Cash Out.……………………………………………………..9 

 

SECTION VI: SICK LEAVE.………………………...……………………………………9 

 A. Sick Leave Accrual.……………………………………………………………….9 

 B. Sick Leave – Family Care…………………………………………………………9 

 C. Sick While on Vacation.…………………………………………………………...9 

 D. Sick Leave Cash Out.……………..……………………………………………….9 

 

SECTION VII: HOLIDAYS………………………...……………………………………...10 

 A. Schedule…….……………………………………………………………………..10 

 B. Personal Holidays...………………………………………………………………..10 

 C. Holiday Hours Bank……………………………………………………………….10 

 

SECTION VIII: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE  ………………………...………………….10 

 

SECTION IX: JURY DUTY ………………………………………………………………11 

 

SECTION X: LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY……………………………………..11 



   

 

SECTION XI: ACCRUALS AFTER DATE OF SEPARATION……………………………11 

 

SECTION XII: BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES……………………………...11 

 

SECTION XIII: FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTION…………11 

 

SECTION XIV: RETIREMENT BENEFITS.………………………………………………....12 

 A. CalPERS………..……………………………………………………………………..12 

B. LIUNA National Industry Pensions……………………………………………...……..13 

 

SECTION XV: PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS..………………………………..….….……....14 

 

SECTION XVI: LIFE INSURANCE.…………...………………………………..….…….…....14 

 

SECTION XVII: MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT…………….………………….………......14 

 

SECTION XVIII: UNIFORMS…………………..……………………………….…….…..…....14 

 

SECTION XIX: SHOES, APPAREL AND EQUIPMENT REIMBURSEMENT………......14 

 

SECTION XX: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS...…………………..…………………………..….14 

 A. Longevity Pay Incentive…………………………………………………………...……14 

 B. Education Reimbursement Program……………………………………. …………...…15 

 C. Bilingual Pay………………………………………………………………………...…..15 

 

SECTION XXI: PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS..…………………………………….….…..15 

 

SECTION XXII: LUNCH AND REST PERIODS……….…………………………..…….…16 

 

SECTION XXIII: EMERGENCY MEALS…..……………………………….………..….…..16 

 

SECTION XXIV: LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT.……………………………………..….….16 

 

SECTION XXV: PROBATIONARY PERIOD…………..……………….……….…………..16 

 A. Regular Appointment Following Probationary Period……………………….….….…..16 

 B. Objective of Probationary Period…..………………………………………….….….…17 

 C. Rejection of Probationer………………………………………………... …….…….….17 

 D. Rejection following Promotion………………………...……………………….……….17 

 

SECTION XXVI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE……………..……………….……….….…..17 

 A. Definition of a Grievance………………………………………………………...….….17 

 B. Right to Representation……………..………………………………………….….……17 

 C. Limitations on Money Damages……………………………………….….……….……17 

 D. Procedure………………………………………….……………………………….……17 

 

SECTION XXVII: LAYOFFS……………………………………….…………………………..19 

 

SECTION XXVIII: SAFETY……………………………………………………………..…..…20 

 

SECTION XXIX: MISCELLANEOUS ..   .    .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .   . . 20 



   

 A. Legal Defense…………………………………………………………………………....21 

 B. Use of Employer Facilities…………………………………………………………....…21 

 C. Bargaining Time………………………………………………………… ….……….......21 

 D. Re-opener.……………………………………………………………………………......20 

 D. Required Meetings……………………………………………………… …….…...........21 

 E. Disciplinary Appeal……...………………………………………………………….........22 

 F. Personnel Rules…………………………………………………………...………...........22 

 G. Fair Labor Standards Act...……………………………………………………...........….22 

 I. POA “Me Too” Clause...……………………………………………………................….20 

 H. Compensation Study……………………………………………………………………..22 

 



 

 
1   

 

ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and Laborers International of North American 

(LIUNA) Local 792 (herein referred to as “the union”) for the Association of Capitola Employees 

(ACE) for and on behalf of its members identified.  This agreement shall cover the period from 

July 1, 2012 through June 30 2015, July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2020 amended on 12/12/2013 

extending the term through June 30, 2018, and shall be effective upon ratification by the bargaining 

unit and approval by the Capitola City Council. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

The City’s “Standard MOU Provisions” and “Additional MOU Provisions” are hereby 

incorporated into this MOU by this reference.  To the extent there is a conflict between either the 

Standard MOU Provisions or Additional MOU Provisions with this MOU, this MOU shall govern.  

The City and Union agree that, prior to March 31, 2007, they shall incorporate provisions from the 

Standard MOU Provisions and Additional MOU Provisions not specifically set forth in this MOU 

into this MOU, so long as incorporation does not result in a substantive change in the terms and 

conditions of employees covered by this MOU. 

 

I.  UNION RECOGNITION 

 

1. Pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act and the City’s Employer-Employee 

Relations Resolution, the Union, affiliated with Laborer’s International Union of 

North America, Local792, is hereby recognized as the exclusively recognized 

employee organization of the General Government Employees and Association of 

Capitola Employees bargaining unit.  Classifications in the bargaining unit are 

listed in Section I.16 below.  Pursuant to language in the Employee-Employer 

Relations Ordinance, this list can be amended from time to time. 

2. The parties hereto recognize that membership in the Union is not compulsory, that 

employees have the right to join, not join, maintain, or drop their membership in 

the Union and that neither party shall exert any pressure on or discriminate 

against an employee regarding such matters.  In light of the agency fee provisions 

contained in this section, the Union agrees that it is obligated to represent all of 

the employees in the bargaining unit fairly and equally, without regard to whether 

or not an employee is a member of the Union.  (Government Code Section 3502) 

3. Effective 30 days after the effective date of this MOU, in accordance with 

Government Code Section 3502.5, employees who are members of the bargaining 

unit represented by the Union, as a condition of continued employment, shall be 

required to either belong to the Union or to pay to the Union an amount equal to a 

service fee in an amount not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues, 

and general assessments for the Union.  (Government Code Section 3502.5(a))  

The Union shall notify the City in writing as to the amount of the service fee.   



 

 
2   

4. Any employee of the City subject to this MOU who is a member of a bona fide 

religion, body or sect that has historically held conscientious objections to joining 

or financially supporting a public employee organization will, upon presentation 

of verification of active membership in such religion, body or sect be permitted to 

make a charitable contribution equal to the service fee in lieu of Union 

membership or service fee payment.   

Declarations of or applications for religious exemption and any supporting 

documentation will be forwarded to the Union within fifteen days of receipt by 

the City.  The Union will have fifteen days after receipt of a request for religious 

exemption to challenge any exemption that the City grants.  If challenged, the 

deduction to the charity of the employee’s choice will commence but will be held 

in escrow pending resolution of the challenge.  Charitable contributions will be by 

regular payroll deduction only.  For purposes of this paragraph, charitable 

deduction means a contribution to a non-religious and non-labor charitable 

organization exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the IRS Code 

chosen by the employee.  (Government Code Section 3502.5(c)) 

5. The City shall notify new employees that the Union is the exclusive recognized 

bargaining representative for employees in the bargaining unit and provide new 

employees with a copy of the current Memorandum of Understanding.  Within 30 

days after employment, new employees shall, as a condition of continued 

employment, be required to either belong to the Union or to pay to the Union an 

amount equal to a service fee in an amount not to exceed the standard initiation 

fee, periodic dues, and general assessments for the Union.  (Government Code 

Section 3502.5(a)) 

6. This section of the MOU shall not apply to supervisory employees.  (Government 

Code Section 3502.5(e)) 

7. The City shall make available payroll deductions for unit members for both 

regular Union dues and for payment of the service fee to the Union pursuant to an 

appropriate authorization form signed by the employee or the provisions of this 

Section.  Those funds shall be remitted to the Union on a monthly basis.  An 

employee’s earnings must be regularly sufficient after other legal and required 

deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues or service fee.  When an 

employee is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no withholding will be 

made to cover the pay period from future earnings.  In the case of an employee 

who is in a non-pay status during only part of the pay period, and the salary is not 

sufficient to cover the full dues or service fee, no deduction shall be made.  In 

addition, all other legal and required deductions have priority over Union dues 

and the service fee.   

8. The Union shall keep an adequate itemized record of its financial transactions and 

shall make available annually, to the City and to the employees who are members 

of the Union, within 60 days after the end of its fiscal year, a detailed written 

financial report in the form of a balance sheet and an operating statement, certified 

as to accuracy by its president and treasurer or corresponding principal officer, or 

by a certified public accountant.  The Union, if it is required to file financial reports 

under the Labor-Management Disclosure Act of 1959 or required to file financial 

reports under Government Code Section 3546.5, may satisfy this financial reporting 



 

 
3   

requirement by providing the City with a copy of those financial reports. 

(Government Code §3502.5(f)) 

9. The Union shall indemnify, defend and hold the City, its employees, officials, 

representatives and agents harmless against any claims made, and against any suit 

instituted against the City on account of payroll deductions made pursuant to this 

Section for dues or service fees.  In addition, the Union shall refund to the City any 

amount paid to it in error upon presentation of supporting evidence. 

10. Any dispute between the Union and any employee on the interpretation or 

application of this Section shall, at the request of the Union or the affected 

employee, be decided by final and binding arbitration under the rules of the 

American Arbitration Association.  The Union and the employee shall each bear 

one half the cost of the arbitration, including the fee of the American Arbitration 

Association, the arbitrator and any court reporter fees and costs.  The City will not 

protest or interfere with any final and binding decision under this Section. 

11. Union Notification.  The City shall give reasonable written notice to Union when it 

is affected by any ordinance, rule, resolution, or regulation proposed to be adopted 

and directly relating to matters within the scope of representation.  

12. Bulletin Boards.  The Union shall be provided a bulletin board in the employee 

break room.  The Union agrees that notices posted on the bulletin boards shall not 

contain anything that may be construed as maligning or derogatory to the City or 

its representatives.  The Union shall be responsible for maintaining the bulletin 

board in a business-like manner.  The Union shall be responsible for placement of 

and removal of outdated material.  However, the City shall retain the right to 

remove maligning, derogatory, or inappropriate or outdated material. 

13. Time Off for Union Officials.  During the term of this agreement, two employees 

from the unit shall be allowed a reasonable amount of paid release time off for 

“meet and confer” or “meet and consult” sessions scheduled with the City’s 

designated representatives, providing there is no disruption of work.  The Union 

shall notify the City Manager in advance of the meeting of the specific members 

who will be in attendance.  Union members shall obtain permission through 

supervisory channels before leaving their work or work locations. 

14. Time Off Without Loss of Pay.  The Union may request, and the City may grant, 

time off without loss of pay to Union representatives to assist the City in the 

formulation of policies and procedures mutually beneficial to the City and the 

Union.  However, such time off shall be at the discretion of the City Manager. 

15. Union Stewards.  The unit shall be authorized to designate two employees within 

the unit as stewards and must furnish a list of these stewards to the City Manager 

within five working days after appointment or election.  One steward at a time shall 

be allowed a reasonable amount of paid release time for the purpose to representing 

a unit employee within the steward’s area of representation in the filing or 

processing of grievances or disciplinary appeals, as long as there is no interruption 

of work in the employee’s division.  Stewards must first obtain permission. 

16. Represented Employees.  This unit represents the following classifications:  

Accounts Receivable/Payable Clerk, Account Technician, Accountant I, 



 

 
4   

Accountant II, Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative 

Clerk II, Administrative Records Analyst, Building Inspector I, Building Inspector 

II, Class Coordinator, Development Services Technician, Data Entry Clerk, 

Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, II III, Mechanic,  Museum Curator, 

Parking Enforcement Officer, Assistant Planner, Receptionist, Records Clerk, 

Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Recreation Assistant, 

Recreation Facility Custodian, Recreation Receptionist, and Sports Coordinator.   

Account Technician, Accountant I, Accountant II, Accounts Clerk, 

Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Assistant Planner, Building Inspector I, 

Building Inspector II, Data Entry Clerk, Development Services Technician, 

Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, Maintenance Worker II, 

Maintenance Worker III, Mechanic, Museum Curator, Parking Enforcement 

Officer, Receptionist, Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, 

Records Technician, Recreation Assistant,  Recreation Coordinator, 

Recreation Facility Custodian, Recreation Receptionist 

17. When a new position is created by the City that is not managerial, supervisory or 

confidential, the City will provide the Union with a position description and will 

advise the Union as to whether or not, in its judgment, the position is appropriate 

for inclusion in the bargaining unit.  If the Union disagrees with the City’s 

decision, it will notify the City, and the City and the Union will meet to resolve 

the disagreement. 

II.  WAGES  

   

A. Wage Schedule and Wage Increases:  The wage schedule attached to this 

Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, subject to such adjustments 

(such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  Letters “A” to 

“E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include 

overtime or benefits. The City will compile and average the San Francisco – 

Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for 

January 2013 through October 2013* See (a).  If the resulting figure for averaged 

CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the percentage for salary increase 

for members of the unit, effective the first full pay period in  January, 2014 through 

the pay period ending July 5th 2014.  A 5% salary increase shall be made for the 

Administrative Assistant and the Mechanic effective first full pay period in July, 

2012. 

 a. Effective the first pay period after union ratification of the MOU and 

Council approval of the successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, 

the salary range for each classification in this Unit shall be readjusted by 

2.25%. 

 b. Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for 

each classification in this Unit shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each 

classification in this Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price 

Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban Consumers, Annual Average January 



 

 
5   

- December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a maximum of 3.5%.  

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each 

classification in this Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price 

Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban Consumers, Annual Average January 

- December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a maximum of 3.5%.  

 

B. Police Department Administrative Assistant:  The Police Department 

Administrative Assistant will be granted a specialty pay increase of 5% when 

certified by POST to conduct back ground investigations.  This pay will be 

retroactive to the time of certification. In addition, in 2012 a compensation analysis 

was conducted for the Police Department Administrative Assistant. The result is 

the Police Department Administrative Assistant will be granted an increase of 5% 

for recognition of an equity adjustment effective the first full pay period in July, 

2012. 

 

C. Conversion To Hourly Rate:  Whenever it is necessary to compute an hourly pay 

rate in order to apply any provision of this MOU, that will be done by multiplying 

any monthly rate by 12 in order to derive an annual rate, and dividing the annual 

rate by 2080 (or proportionate number of hours for part time positions, e.g., 1040 

for a half-time position). 

 

D. Service: The word "service" as used in this MOU means continuous full-time 

service in the position in which the employee is being considered for salary 

advancement, service in a higher position, or service in a position allocated to the 

same salary schedule and having generally similar duties and requirements.  A lapse 

of service of any employee for a period of time longer than thirty days by reason of 

resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the accumulated length of service 

time of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the service of the City 

shall be considered as a new employee, unless another standard is established by 

the personnel rules, in which case that standard shall apply. 

 

E. Types of Appointment 

For all types of appointments, refer to the personnel rules, except for Acting 

Appointments. 

   

 1. Acting Appointments 

Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by 

the City Manager.  An acting appointment occurs when an employee is 

temporarily appointed to a higher-class position.  While serving under an 

acting appointment, an employee will receive additional compensation as 

determined by the City Manager.  Such pay will be no less than 5% above 

the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be up to, but ordinarily will 

not be in excess of the first step of the position occupied.  Such pay shall 

begin on the first work day of the appointment. 

 

  2. Work Out of Class 

Work out of class occurs when an employee is designated to work in a 

higher classification and actually performs or is responsible for 



 

 
6   

performing the majority of duties of the higher classification.  If an 

employee works out of class for four or more consecutive hours, the 

employee will receive work out of class pay for all hours worked out of 

class.  The employee shall receive either 5.0% above the employee’s usual 

rate of pay, or pay at the next highest pay step in the out of class job 

classification, whichever is greater.  

 

  3. Acting Supervisors Pay for Public Works 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department 

Head’s designee to perform the duties of Park’s Maintenance Supervisor 

or Facilities and Street Maintenance Supervisor for a period of three 

consecutive days, with Fridays and Mondays being consecutive days, then 

that employee shall receive a 10% increase to his or her salary for all such 

hours worked. 

 

  4. Equipment Operators Pay 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department 

Head’s designee to perform the duties of an Equipment Operator for a 

period of at least four consecutive hours or longer, then that employee shall 

receive a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked. 

 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the 

Department Head’s designee to perform the duties of an Equipment 

Operator on the following equipment;  

 

• Five-yard and above size truck and trailer (license required). 

• Sweeper 

• Bull Dozer 

• Large Front Loader 

 

then that employee shall receive a 5% increase to salary for all such 

hours worked.  

 

 

 F. Public Works Employees, Shift Changes Shift Differential 

1. Shift Changes: In order to provide necessary services, the hours of Public 

Works employees may be adjusted from time to time.  However, when a 

change in a schedule occurs within the given two-week pay period, all non-

overtime hours worked outside of the pre-adjustment work schedule shall 

be additionally compensated at a rate equal to 5% of base wage rate. 

 

2. Shift Differential: Employees who are required to report to work two or 

more hours before the employee’s regular time to begin work, shall receive 

a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked prior to regular work 

hours. 

 

Employees who are required to report to work two four or more hours before 

the employee’s regular time to begin work, shall receive a 5% 7% increase 

to salary for all such hours worked prior to regular work hours. 

 



 

 
7   

 

G. Emergency Call Back Compensation 

1. “Call back” refers to a situation where an employee has completed his/her 

regular work day without knowing that he/she would be called back (by 

his/her superior or as a result of emergency circumstances) to work during 

hours of the day not occurring during the employee’s regular workday.  An 

employee who is required to come to work not more than one hour early, 

but is not thereafter released from work before the start of the regular 

workday is not on “call back”. 

 

2. Employees called back to work shall be treated as having worked at least 

two three hours, even if actual time is less. 

 

3. Public Works: The rate of pay for Public Works department employees 

covered by this agreement (except the department head and the 

Maintenance Superintendent) call back hours is as follows 

 

i. Two and a half times the employee’s hourly base rate for hours 

served between the hours of 10pm and 6 am; or 

 

ii. Two times hourly base rate for hours served during other times of 

the day. 

4. For all employees not covered by subsection, (c) (except those in the 

management bargaining unit) call back hours will be paid the same as 

overtime. 

 

5. Time spent traveling to and from the place of call back work is not counted 

in applying the provisions of this section, or XXIX. E.  

 

6. Units of time that are both call back and overtime will receive the most 

favorable of the two treatments, but no single unit of time will be treated as 

both call back and overtime. 

 

H. Parking Enforcement Officers: Parking enforcement officers shall receive a 

minimum of 4 hours pay for court appearances that are not scheduled as part of 

their regular workday. 

 

I. License and Certificate Reimbursement:  The City will reimburse employees for 

the cost of specialized licenses and certificates required to perform their job. 

 

J.  Signing Bonus: Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018.  All 

full-time employees at the time of ratification in the ACE bargaining unit shall 

receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The one-time 

signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the 

Capitola City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time 

shall receive a prorated signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week 

shall receive a one-time $1125 signing bonus, employees working 20 hours per 

week shall receive a one-time $750 signing bonus). 

 

III.  OVERTIME 



 

 
8   

All employees within the Union are hourly employees and can accrue overtime subject to 

the laws, rules, regulations and any other MOU provisions of the City, state and federal 

government.  The normal regular work week commences on Sunday and consists of forty 

(40) hours except that the regular work week of public works department personnel 

engaged in maintenance activities shall be as approved by the City Manager.  Except for 

employees exempt under the FLSA, overtime will be compensated at the rate of one and 

one-half times the base rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 hours per week in a 

workweek.  Such additional compensation shall, at the employee’s election, be either in 

cash or compensatory time off, in accordance with Labor Code section 204.3.  The 

Department Head must approve overtime. 

  

“Hours worked” shall not include sick leave,  Nor shall such a definition include vacation, 

or compensated leave time off not scheduled in advance by at least ten working days.  

“Hours Worked” shall also not include workers compensation time off unless immediate 

treatment is required on the date of injury for the injury incurred, in which case overtime 

is allowed providing the overtime accrued is an extension of the workday and the hours 

worked for the week exceed 40 hours. 

 

 

 

 

IV.  MERIT PAY AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF INCREASES 

 

A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

Any other mid-pay period payroll adjustments will occur at the beginning of the pay period 

in which the adjustments falls for all odd numbered calendar years; and, at the beginning 

of the following pay period for the even number calendar years. 

 

When an employee has not been approved for advancement to the next higher wage step, 

the employee shall be reconsidered for such advancement after the completion of either 

three months of additional service, or after a period of three to six months of additional 

service if the supervisor concludes that three months will be insufficient time to evaluate 

whether the performance deficiencies that led to the denial of the step increase have been 

adequately addressed.  At the time a step increase is denied, the supervisor shall identify 

in writing the timing of reconsideration of the step increase.  An employee whose step 

increase is denied shall also be advised in writing (typically in a performance evaluation) 

of the reason(s) why the step increase was denied.  Grants and denials of step increases 

shall be on a merit basis only. 

 

Regardless of whether subsequent reconsideration of a denial of a step increase does or 

does not result in a step increase, the employee’s annual review date shall be as originally 

designated.  
 

V.  VACATION 

 A. Accrual 

Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of 

accrual are as follows: 

 

  Years of Employment  Vacation Days 



 

 
9   

  1 and 2    12 

  3 and 4    14 

  5 through 9   17 

  10 through 19   22 

  20 and higher   27 

 B. Accumulation 

1. An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must 

cash out pursuant to Section V.E. below, all accumulated vacation in 

excess of 360 hours; except that  

 

2. An employee who had accumulated more than 360 hours as of January 1, 

2011 may maintain that level: provided, however, that if accumulated 

vacation falls below 360 hours, the provisions of Section V.B.1, above, 

shall thereafter apply. 

 

 C. Scheduling 

Vacations shall be scheduled upon the request of the employee and the approval 

of the Department.  The Department shall consider both the desire of the 

employee and the needs of the Department in deciding whether to approve or 

deny a vacation request. 

 

Vacation sign-ups shall be on a first come first serve basis.  If more employees 

request vacation for a given time than can be accommodated by the Department, 

the more senior employee shall be given the time off.  Nothing herein shall 

require the cancellation of an already approved vacation for a less senior 

employee upon the request of a more senior employee.  “Seniority” as used in this 

section shall mean length of continuous employment in a paid status in a regular 

position. 

 

 D. Vacation Cash Out On Termination 

Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the 

separation date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate.  

Alternatively, an employee may individually contractually establish, in writing, 

with the City Manager, mutually agreeable provisions regarding the timing and 

terms of the cash payout. 

 

 E. Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours or who is subject to a 

higher accumulation level under Section V(B)(2),as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly 

pay rate for all hours in excess of 360 or that applicable higher accumulation level 

except that such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation accrual 

amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first 

full pay period in May. 

 

 F. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

In any calendar year, an employee may cash out up to 40 hours of accumulated 

vacation. 

 

VI.  SICK LEAVE 

 



 

 
10   

 A. Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days 

accrue each calendar year.  Parking Enforcement Officers working a 4/10 shift shall 

accrue 120 hours per calendar year. 

  

B  Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in 

accordance with the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 

 

C. An employee who becomes ill or is hospitalized while on vacation and provides a 

written statement from a licensed physician or medical doctor that the illness would 

have resulted in the employee not being able to come to work, shall have the period 

of illness charged against sick leave and not vacation leave. 
 

D. Sick Leave Cash Out 

  Sick Leave may not be cashed out. 

 

 

VII. HOLIDAYS 

 

 A. Schedule 

There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

                     

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *    

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   10/11/    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/       

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. 

Holidays listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  

Holidays occurring on a Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

Holiday time will be for the regularly scheduled shift time.  For example, if the 

regularly scheduled shift is 8.5 hours, employee will receive 8.5 hours of 

holiday time.  If the regularly scheduled shift is 6 hours, employee will receive 

6 hours of holiday time. 

 

In addition, offices located at the Community Center or at City Hall will be 

closed for one week during the Christmas holidays during which employees 

affected by the closure will be permitted to use vacation, personal holidays or sick 



 

 
11   

leave in order not to lose compensation. All other City offices and programs shall 

remain open during this period.  

 

B. Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year. 

Unused Personal Holidays are not cumulative. shall be used by the employee no 

later than December 31st of each year and non-cumulative. 

 

C. Holiday Hours Bank 

Police Clerks, Parking Enforcement Officers, Administrative Records Analyst and 

the Police Department Administrative Assistant shall receive a bank of holiday 

hours, based upon eight (8) hours for each holiday, to be taken in the same manner 

as Police Officers. 

 

 

D. Public Works Holidays 

 

1. The following holidays will be considered work days for the Public Works 

Department. 

 

• Memorial Day 

• Independence Day 

• Labor Day 

 

Public works employees will report to work on those days at their normal shift 

time, unless time off has been previously approved.  Requests for time off on 

these three days will not be approved until required staffing has been met.  

Public Works employees working on these holidays will be able to “bank” their 

holiday time for the day and use it as approved leave at a future date but no later 

than December 31st of each year.  Public Works employees that receive 

approval for time off must use the holiday time on the date.   

 

Public Works employees may be required to work holidays.  Employees 

who work on any holidays will use holiday time on the holiday and it will 

count as hours work.  Actual hours worked will be in addition and will 

considered overtime if hours meet the weekly overtime threshold. The City 

reserves the right to change Public Works Employees hours in order to 

cover Holidays in accordance with Section II F. 1 of this MOU. 

 

 

VIII.  BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

 

Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this 

section shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For 

purposes of this section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-

father, husband, wife, domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, 

daughter, step-daughter, brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-



 

 
12   

law, mother-in-law, father-in-law and grandparents, and any individual to whom an 

employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 

IX.  JURY DUTY 

  

Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent 

traveling from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be 

deposited with the City Treasurer.  

 

X.  LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY 

 

A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

XI.  ACCRUALS AFTER DATE OF SEPARATION 

 

An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may 

extend the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly 

allotment.  “Yearly allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was 

entitled to accrue in his/her last year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state 

law, none of the following accrue after the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal 

holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the 

insurance premiums described in Section XIII.A. below. 

 

XII.  BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 

Sick leave benefits are described in Section VI above. 

 

XIII.  FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

A. The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on 

behalf of each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those 

employees who have selected health coverage through CalPERS, from the monthly 

contribution set forth herein, $112 effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective 

January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 2013 will be paid to CalPERS 

for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This amount is the 

minimum amount required by CalPERS, recognizing that state law may increase 

this minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s 

maximum contribution below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For 

all employees the City will no longer charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck 

plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period in July 2012 the contribution, for full-

time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July, 2013, the full time regular employees shall 

be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 



 

 
13   

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 

 
Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $718 
 Employee +1  $921 
 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $735 
 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $754 
 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $773 
 Employee +1  $992 
 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

 

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum contribution 

(inclusive of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800.00 $1150.00 $1400.00 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824.00 $1250.00 $1500.00 

 

 

B.       Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent 

group health coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain 

in effect until the next enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of 

$250.00 per month. will be eligible for a cash payment based on the following 

schedule.  Current employee is defined as an employee hired prior to the 

ratification of MOU amendment.  Current employees who choose health 

coverage, will no longer be eligible for current employee cash payment 

amount. 

 
Effective Dates Current Employee New Employee 

First full pay period in 

July 2018  

$773.00 $250.00 

; or who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not 

use their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits 

other than medical (including dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for 

the “Employee only” contribution amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included 

in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 



 

 
14   

C. The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as 

they may become available.  The City will enable interested employees to 

participate in union sponsored medical plans.   The City reserves the right to change 

providers at any time. If the City determines that the CalPERS PEMHCA plans do 

not provide affordable or beneficial options for County employees for any 

subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right to exit CalPERS and change 

providers. 

 

D.  The City will allow, and to a minor degree facilitate, the LIUNA Health Care Health 

Care plan availability to the represented membership.  This benefit shall be at no 

cost to the City, with the exception of a minor amount of staff time, as may be 

determined by the City Manager, to administer the disbursements of premium 

payments.   

 

E.  The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as 

they may become available. 

 

XIV.  RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

 

 A. CalPERS 

The City participates in the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 

(CalPERS) operated by the State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in 

separate publications, depending upon the plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 

Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, with the single-highest year option. The 

City’s contribution toward the combined employer and employee cost of PERS 

retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the actual 

PERS contribution rate exceeds 16.488% of reportable salary for any fiscal year, 

the employee will pay the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be 

reported in accordance with the current CalPERS contract, i.e.: the employee 

portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap is reported to CalPERS as paid by the 

employee. 

 

  In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City  

  paying 8% of the normal member’s contributions as Employer Paid Member  

  Contributions (EPMC), with additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a  

  total of 16.259% through June 30, 2019.  The City agrees to report the value of  

  the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary for retirement benefit plan  

  purposes.    

 

Beginning July 1, 2018, all classic employees shall contribute 13.392% of 

their reportable salary to CalPERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced 

unless negotiated by the parties in future negotiations. 
 

 

For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS 

contribution rate shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable 

salary.  Once an employee hired on or after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of 

total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms that apply to all other current 

employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for employees hired 

after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 



 

 
15   

All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain 

as stated above at 16.488%. 

 

Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) for Miscellaneous Employees 

hired by the City on or after January 1, 2013 and do not qualify as Classic 

members as determined by CalPERS: For new miscellaneous employees hired by 

the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who do not qualify as classic 

members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 2.0% @ 

62 pension formula, based on a three-year average compensation. Employees in 

this category shall pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CalPERS. 
 

 B. LIUNA National Industry Pension 

General Government Employees: The City will contribute $0.25 per hour (not 

including overtime or compensatory time) each pay period to the LIUNA pension 

fund on behalf of each of the following classifications (which were formerly a 

separate unit with a separate MOU represented by LIUNA):  Mechanic, Parking 

Enforcement Officer, Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, II & III and 

Recreation Facility Custodian.  The compensation schedules attached hereto will 

be reduced $.25 per hour.  The City’s sole obligation shall be to forward designated 

amounts to the fund.  The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the City against 

any and all claims made as a result of the City’s actions pursuant to this section. 
 

Association of Capitola Employees: The City will allow the pretax contributions 

to LIUNA National Industry Pension for the following classifications formerly 

comprising the separate ACE Unit in the same manner as the General 

Government Employees when, and if past service credit benefit again becomes 

available:  Account Technician, Accounts Receivable/Payable Clerk, Accountant 

I, & II, Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Building Inspector I, Building Inspector II, Class 

Coordinator, Development Services  Technician, Data Entry Clerk, Information 

Systems Specialist, Museum Curator, Assistant Planner, Receptionist, Records 

Clerk, Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Recreation Assistant 

and Recreation Receptionist,  Sports Coordinator. 

 

Account Technician, Accountant I, Accountant II, Accounts Clerk, 

Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Assistant Planner, Building Inspector I, Building 

Inspector II, Data Entry Clerk, Development Services Technician, Equipment 

Operator, Maintenance Worker I, Maintenance Worker II, Maintenance Worker 

III, Mechanic, Museum Curator, Parking Enforcement Officer, Receptionist, 

Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Records Technician, 

Recreation Assistant,  Recreation Coordinator, Recreation Facility Custodian, 

Recreation Receptionist 

 

 

 

 

XV.  PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS 
 



 

 
16   

The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide a bi-annual 

physical examination for employee.  Public Works employees may have the physical on 

an annual basis. The City will pay the amount not covered by the health care program. 

 

XVI.  LIFE INSURANCE 

 

The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

 

XVII.  MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 

 

Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

XVIII.  UNIFORMS 

 

City will purchase uniforms for newly hired police department employees and will repair 

or replace uniforms on an as needed basis.  In addition City will cover the cost of reasonable 

cleaning of police department authorized uniforms.  Employees will be responsible for 

delivering uniforms to, and retrieving uniforms from, the employer designated cleaning 

establishment. 

 

XIX.  SHOES, APPAREL AND EQUIPMENT REIMBURSEMENTS 

 

A. Parking Code Enforcement Officers:  The City will also cover the cost of needed 

uniform item replacements, including shoes and will provide needed wheelchair 

repair and maintenance.  Necessity will be reasonably determined by employer.  

Wheelchairs provided by the City shall remain property of the City. 

 

B. Safety Shoes and Apparel: Equipment Operator, Mechanic, Maintenance Worker 

and Recreation Facility Custodian will each calendar year receive: one pair of 

approved safety shoes, up to five city-logoed shirts, and up to five pairs of denims. 

The Public Works Director shall determine replacement frequency and kind. 

 

XX.  INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

  

 A. Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base 

pay shall be increased as follows: 

 

  1. 15 years' continuous service – 5.0% 

  2. 20 years' continuous service - an additional 5.0%, which shall be   

   compounded with the 15-year recognition. 
 

 B.    Education Reimbursement Program 

For employees who received advance approval from the City Manager prior to 

October 12, 2006, the City will reimburse employees for tuition and textbooks upon 

the completion of courses approved in advance by the City Manager in accordance 

with the following schedule: 

 



 

 
17   

State supported California colleges and universities - 100% tuition and textbook 

reimbursement. 

 

 Private colleges and universities - 100% of tuition or the tuition of the University 

of California whichever is less. Textbook reimbursement will be at 100%. 

 

The grandfathered employees are listed in Attachment 2 to this MOU. 

 

For all other employees, the City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the 

completion of courses approved in advance by the City Manager up to a maximum 

of $500 $1000.00 per calendar year for classes completed in that same calendar 

year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 

 C. Bilingual Pay 

Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to 

five (5%) percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

  1. Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as    

  administered by the Personnel Department on an annual basis to   

  maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive the annual   

  testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the   

  department head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

 2. The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and   

  ongoing basis, as certified by the Department Head.  

 

XXI.  PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS 

 

For probationary employees, a performance evaluation is required, at a minimum, every 

three months. 

 

For permanent employees, a performance evaluation is required annually.  The completed 

evaluation should be submitted ten working days before the annual due date.  Nothing in 

this provision shall prevent departments from issuing performance evaluations more 

frequently than the required time period. 

 

Merit pay increases will go into effect on a timely basis, unless the performance evaluation 

of less than “meets standards” has been completed at least two weeks prior to the 

anniversary date. 

 

If an employee does not agree with an evaluation, the employee may prepare a written 

response to the evaluation which shall be kept in the employee’s personnel file with the 

contested evaluation.  The employee also may request a meeting with the City Manager to 

discuss the evaluation. 

 

XXII.  LUNCH AND REST PERIODS 

 

Full-time employees shall be entitled to an unpaid lunch period of thirty (30) minutes at or 

about the mid-point of their workday.  If an emergency occurs such that there is a need for 



 

 
18   

the employee to work during the employee’s lunch period, the employee will be 

compensated for the lunch period. 

Employees shall be allowed a 15 minute rest period during each four hours of work.  An 

exception to this general rule is that the rest periods may be combined and scheduled as 

mutually agreed to by an employee and supervisor.  In addition, the City reserves the right 

in emergency situations to require employees to work through rest periods. 

 

Rest periods shall be considered compensable work time. 

 

XXIII.  EMERGENCY MEALS 

 

The City shall arrange for meals for employees assigned to work four (4) or more hours 

contiguous to the employee’s shift when the employee is not provided notice of the need 

to work the overtime at least 12 hours prior to either commencing the overtime work or 

shift. 

 

XXIV.  LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT 

 

An employee who has been cleared by a physician to return to work with specified medical 

restrictions, may return to work within those restrictions, at the City’s discretion.  The 

release must be in writing.  Nothing in this section is intended to imply that an employee 

has a right to a light duty assignment.  All such assignments are temporary assignments 

and are subject to the Department Head’s periodic review of the employee’s continued 

need for limited duty and the City’s ability to continue the employee in the assignment.  

No change in base pay will result from this assignment. 

 

XXV.  PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

 

Regular Appointment Following Probationary Period.  All original and promotional 

appointments shall be tentative and subject to an initial probationary period of six (6) 

months actual service, as may be adjusted for approved leave, to be determined for each 

class by the Personnel Officer.  The Department Head may recommend and the Personnel 

Officer may approve an extension of the initial probationary period up to six (6) 

additional months.  The Probationary employee shall be informed three (3) weeks prior to 

the expiration of any probationary period, that the probationary period will be extended, 

and reasons shall be given for the extension. 

 

The Department Head shall file with the Personnel Officer a Personnel Action Form that 

either (1) the service of the probationary employees has been satisfactory and that 

retention in the competitive service of such employee is denied; (2) the probationary 

period should be extended; or (3) the service of the employee has been unsatisfactory and 

his/her employment should be terminated.  If at anytime during the probationary period 

the department head notifies the Personnel Officer that performance is less than 

satisfactory, the Personnel Officer will communicate that less than satisfactory 

performance to the appointing authority who may give or cause to be given to the 

employee a notice of immediate termination. 

 

Objective of Probationary Period:  The probationary period shall be regarded as part of 

the examination process and shall be utilized for closely observing the employee’s actual 

performance and for securing the most effective adjustment of a new employee to his/her 

position. 



 

 
19   

 

Rejection of Probationer:  During the probationary period, an employee may be rejected 

at any time by the appointing authority and without the right of appeal.  Written 

notification of rejection by the appointing authority shall be served on the probationer. 
 

Rejection Following Promotion:  The rules and rights afforded employees rejected during 

or at the conclusion of the probationary period following a promotional assignment shall 

be as set forth in the City’s Personnel Rules. 
 

XXVI.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

A. Definition of a Grievance:  A grievance is defined as an allegation presented in 

writing by an employee or group of employees that the City has failed to provide 

a condition of employment, which is established by law, Memorandum of 

Understanding, by written City or departmental rules, provided that the enjoyment 

of both such right is not made subject to the discretion of the Department Head or 

the City by the terms of law, Memorandum of Understanding, or by written City 

or departmental rules and, provided further, that the conditions of employment 

which are the subject matter within the scope of representation as defined in 

California Government Code Section 3504.  Notwithstanding the above, excluded 

from this grievance procedure are employee evaluations, and any other matter that 

is assigned its own appeal procedure such as discipline and an alleged violation of 

the harassment policy. 

 

B. Right to Representation:  An employee having a grievance shall have the right to 

consult with and be assisted by a representative of his/her own choice throughout 

the grievance process.  In those cases in which an employee elects to represent 

him/herself or arranges for other representation, the Union shall have the right to 

participate in the grievance procedure to the extent necessary to protect the 

interest of its members in negotiated conditions of employment. 

 

C. Limitations on Money Damages:  In no event shall any grievance include a claim 

for money relief for more than the twenty-one day period plus such reasonable 

discovery period, unless otherwise provided by law. 

 

D. Procedure: Failure of the employee to timely file a grievance and/or comply with 

the time limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall constitute an 

abandonment of the grievance.  Failure of the employer to respond within the time 

limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall result in an automatic 

advancement of the grievance to the next step.  The parties may mutually agree to 

extend the time permitted under any of the steps 

 

Step 1 

A grievance must be presented to the grievant’s supervisor within twenty-one (21) 

calendar days from the day upon which the City allegedly failed to provide a condition of 

employment, or within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the time in which an 

employee might reasonably have been expected to have learned of such alleged failure to 

provide.  The written grievance shall include the following: 

 

a) Date of submission; 

b) Signature of employee or employees; 



 

 
20   

c) The MOU provision, Personnel Rule, Administrative Policy or other rule 

or policy allegedly violated; 

d) A description of the relevant facts, including specifically how, when and 

by whom the grieved condition of employment was violated; 

e) The requested resolution or remedy; and  

f) The name of any representative chosen by the grievant. 

 

The supervisor shall provide the grievant with a written response within seven (7) actual 

working days. 

 

Step 2 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the employee shall have seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the supervisor’s Step 1 response to file an appeal with the 

Department Head.  The Department Head may, but is not required to, meet with the 

grievant to discuss the grievance.  The Department Head shall have seven (7) actual 

working days from either receipt of the appeal, or the meeting with the grievant, 

whichever is later, to provide the grievant with a written response. 

 

Step 3 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the employee shall have seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the Department Head’s Step 2 response to file an appeal 

with the City Manager.  The City Manager shall meet with the grievant and other persons 

the City Manager believes would be useful to the City Manager’s consideration of the 

grievance within seven (7) actual working days after receipt of the grievant’s appeal.  The 

City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from the date of the meeting with 

the grievant to provide the grievant with a written decision. 

 

The Union may, in its own name, file a grievance with the City Manager alleging that the 

City has failed to provide it some organizational right which is established by law, 

provided that such right is not made subject to the discretion of the City.  Such Union 

grievance shall be filed with the City Manager and heard and determined pursuant to the 

provisions of this step of the grievance procedure.  The City Manager shall meet with the 

Union and other persons the City Manager believes would be useful to the City 

Manager’s consideration of the grievance within (7) actual working days after receipt of 

the Union’s grievance.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from 

the date of the meeting with the Union to provide the Union with a written decision. 

 

 

 

Step 4 

An employee dissatisfied with the City Manager’s decision on the employee’s Step 3 

grievance may appeal the grievance to the City Council within (7) seven actual working 

days of receipt of the City Manager’s decision. The City Council will schedule a hearing 

within a reasonable time period after receipt of the appeal.  The decision of the City 

Council following the hearing shall be final. 

 

XXVII. LAYOFFS 

 

Layoffs shall be governed by Personnel Rule 12.  The City will make its best efforts to 

provide an additional 30 days of EAP benefits to employees who are laid off to assist them 

in their transition.  If continued EAP benefits are not available, the City will meet with the 



 

 
21   

Union to discuss the possibility of the City providing laid off workers with guidance on 

resume writing, conducting a job search, job interviewing, coping with stress and/or 

unemployment insurance benefits. 

 

XXVIII. SAFETY 

 

The City and employees shall comply with all Federal, State and local health and safety 

laws and regulations and the City’s “Loss Control, Injury and Illness Prevention Safety 

Program.”  At least two employees within this bargaining unit shall be permitted to serve 

on the City-wide safety committee called for in the City’s “Loss Control, Injury and Illness 

Prevention Safety Program.” 

  

 

XXIX.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating 

individual contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of 

situations in which the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating 

his/her employment or temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting 

provision does not purport to affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

 A. Legal Defense 

Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding 

described in Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or 

proceeding described in Section 995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding 

described in Government Code Section 995.8.  "Proceeding" as used in this section 

is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, but not filed, if a 

reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a 

defense, but a court or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, 

preclude City payments for defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, 

and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset any such amounts against compensation 

otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

 B. Use of Employer Facilities 

Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made 

available, upon timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity 

representing the employees.  Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, 

other than the lunch period.  Application for such use shall be made to the 

management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

 C. Bargaining Time 

   A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the 

bargaining unit shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a 

reasonable period without loss of pay, for the purpose of participating in contract 

negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege to participate in any 

meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for review 

of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

 D. Re-opener 



 

 
22   

This Agreement may be reopened upon written request to discuss only health care 

and/or CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total 

combined miscellaneous PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available 

city sponsored health plans for an Employee plus 2 increases by 25% over the 

current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this agreement obligates the City to commit to 

any increases. The parties agree that all other terms and conditions of the agreement 

are not subject to the reopener clause. 

 

 D. Required Meetings 

Administrative staff members covered under this MOU who are required to attend 

meetings outside their regular work schedules will be paid at the overtime rate (1.5) 

for two hours, or for the hours actually worked, whichever is greater. 

 

 E. Disciplinary Appeal 

Employees of this unit shall have available to them the predisciplinary Skelly 

meeting for any discipline that results in a suspension of one day without pay or 

more. In addition, all disciplinary matters of three days suspension without pay or 

greater shall be subject to Personnel Rule 11, section 7.a. for post discipline appeals. 

 

 

 

F. Personnel Rules 

The City retains the right to amend and create personnel rules, provided they are 

not in conflict with specific provisions of this MOU.  Where appropriate, City will 

meet and confer with applicable employee group or groups (Government Code 

Section 3300 and following), before amending or creating new personnel rules 

 

G. Fair Labor Standards Act 

All positions included in this Memorandum of Understanding are covered by 

appropriate sections of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1935, as amended. 

 

I.  Me Too Clause: If during the effective time period of this agreement, the Police 

Officers Association receives a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in 

an amount greater than the terms included in this agreement, the members of ACE 

shall receive the same COLA and/or Flex Plan increase at the same time.  

 

H. Compensation Study: The parties agree to begin meeting once per month, 

beginning in January 2019 to attempt reach agreement on the comparable 

agencies, bench mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation 

study in preparation for successor contract negotiations of this MOU.  The 

Union and the City agree to meet at least 5 times. Should agreement be made, 

the City agrees to prepare the data and present to the Union at least 180 

calendar days prior to the expiration of the MOU.  Implementation of any 

results is subject to the bargaining process for successor MOU.  The data shall 

be reverified and updated to ensure that it is current and relevant for the 

purposes of the study.        

 

 
 
 

 



 

 
23   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES 

      

 

__________________________  __________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein                 Ryan Heron, UPEC, Local 792 

City Manager    Labor Representative 

 

 

________________________  __________________________________ 

Larry Laurent    Jesse Franchi 

Assistant to the City Manager      

   

     __________________________________ 

     Denice Pearson 

 

 

     __________________________________ 

     Matt Orbach 

 

      

                    __________________________________    

     Chris Macias 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:  

1. Salary Schedule 

 



 

 
24   

               

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1: Salary Schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

          

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES’ AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD 7/01/2018 – 6/30/2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

                          Page 

SECTION I WAGE SCHEDULES/EMPLOYMENT STATUS………………    1 

 Service……. ………………………………………………………………… 2       
 Acting Appointment Compensation……………………..……………………    2 

 Overtime……………………..……………………………………..…………    2 

 Effective Date of Pay Increase…………………..……………………………    2 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .   .   .   .     2 

 Vacation ………………………………………………………………………. 2 

 Sick……………………………………………………………………………. 3  

 Administrative Leave…………………………………………………………… 3 

 Personal Holidays……………………………………………………………… 4 

 Bereavement…………………………………………………………………… 4 

 FMLA & CFRA……………………………………………………………….. 4 

 Holiday Schedule………………………………………………………………… 4 

 Jury Duty………………………………………………………………………. 4 

 Leave of Absence without pay…………………………………………………. 5 

 Accruals after date of separation…………………………………………………. 5 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS ………………………………………………………….. 5 

 Flexible Spending……………………………………………………………… 5 

Retirement……………………………………………………………………… 6 

 Physical Exams………………………………………………………………… 7 

 Insurance………………………………………………………………………. 7 

 Mileage Reimbursement…………………………………………….…………. 7 

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  …………………………………….… 7 

 Longevity……………………………………………………………………... 7 

 Education……………………………………………………………………… 7 

 Bilingual Pay………………………………………………………………….. 7 

 

SECTION V: MISCELLANEOUS  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 8 

 FLSA………………………………………………………………………  8 

 Legal Defense……………………………………………………………..  8 

 Use of Employer Facilities……………………………………………….  8 

 Bargaining Time……………………………………………………………  8 

 Me Too Clause...............................................................................................  9 

 Reopener Clause..............................................................................................          9



   

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and the Confidential employees, who are: City Clerk, 

Assistant to the City Manager, Information Systems Specialist and Executive Assistant to the City 

Manager. This MOU covers the period beginning 07/01/2012 – 06/30/2018.  07/01/2018 – 

06/30/2020. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

SECTION I.  Wage Schedules/Hourly Rates/Employment Status 

 

The wage schedule attached to this Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, 

subject to such adjustments (such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  

Letters  “A” to “E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include overtime or 

benefits. 

 

The City will compile and average the San Francisco – Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price 

Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for January 2013 through October* 2013 See a below.  

If the resulting figure for averaged CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the 

percentage for salary increase for members of the unit, effective the first full pay period in 

January 2014 through the pay period ending July 5th 2014. 
 

 a. Effective the first full pay period of July 2014, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be readjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2013. 

 

 b. Effective the first full pay period in July 2015, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2014 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 



   

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

Whenever it is necessary to compute an hourly pay rate to apply a provision of this MOU, that will 

be done by multiplying the monthly rate by 12 to derive an annual rate, and dividing the annual 

rate by 2080 (or proportionate number of hours for part time positions, e.g., 1040 for a half-time 

position). 

 

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council approval of the 

successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

 

1.  Service 

 The word "service" as used in this MOU means continuous full-time service in the position 

in which the employee is being considered for salary advancement, service in a higher position, or 

service in a position allocated to the same salary schedule and having generally similar duties and 

requirements.  A lapse of service of any employee for a period of time longer than thirty days by 

reason of resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the accumulated length of service time 

of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the service of the City shall be considered 

as a new employee, unless another standard is established by the personnel rules, in which case 

that standard shall apply. 

 

2.  Types of Appointment: For all types of appointments refer to the personnel rules except for 

Acting Appointments. 

 Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by the City 

Manager. An acting appointment occurs when an employee is temporarily assigned to, and 

performs all duties of a position other than the position he/she normally occupies or when an 

employee is assigned an acting appointment pending evaluation of the employee’s ability to 

perform the duties of the position.  While serving under an acting appointment, an employee will 

receive additional compensation as determined by the City Manager.  Such pay will be no less than 

5% above the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be up to, but ordinarily will not be in 

excess of the first step of the position occupied. 

 

3. Overtime 

Confidential employees are exempt under FLSA, and therefore not entitled to overtime 

compensation.  

 

4.  Effective Date of Pay Increase 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 



   

All other pay rate changes, except those given a specific calendar date herein, shall become 

effective at the beginning of a two week pay period as approved by the City Manager. 

 

5. Signing Bonus 

 

Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018 which is ratified by the 

membership.  All full-time employees at the time of ratification in the Confidential 

bargaining unit shall receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The 

one-time signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the Capitola 

City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time shall receive a prorated 

signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week shall receive a one-time $1125 signing 

bonus, employees working 20 hours per week shall receive a one-time $750 signing bonus). 

 

6. Total Compensation Study 

 

The parties agree to meet up to five meetings within the period of 270 -180 calendar days 

prior to the expiration of the contract to reach agreement on the comparable agencies, bench 

mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation study in preparation for successor 

contract negotiation post June 30, 2020.  If the parties are unable to reach agreement on the 

comparable agencies, benchmark classes and survey elements of a total compensation by 180 

calendar days of the expiration of the contract, the parties are free to conduct their own 

respective total compensation study.  Implementation of any results is subject to the 

bargaining process for successor contract negotiations post June 30, 2020.        

 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS 

 

1.  Vacation  

 

     a.  Vacation Accrual 

 Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of accrual are 

as follows: 

 

   Years of Employment  Vacation Days 

      1 and 2    12 

      3 and 4    14 

      5 through 9    17 

      10 through 19   22 

      20 and higher   27 

 

     b. Accumulation 

An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must cash out 

pursuant to Section d, below, all accumulated vacation in excess of 360 hours;  

 

     c.   Vacation Cash Out On Termination 



   

 Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the 

separation date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate. Alternatively, an 

employee may individually contractually establish, in writing, with the City Manager, 

mutually agreeable provisions regarding the timing and terms of the cash pay out. 

 

     d.  Vacation- Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate for 

all hours in excess of  360 such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation 

accrual amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first 

full pay period in May.       

 

    e. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

 In any calendar year an employee may cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated   vacation. 

 

2. Sick Leave 

      a.  Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days accrue 

each calendar year. 

 

      b.   Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in accordance with 

the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 
 

       c. Sick Leave Cash Out; 

 Sick Leave may not be cashed out. 

 

3.   Administrative Leave Accrual 

 As exempt employees, the Confidential Employees are entitled to ten days per year of 

administrative time off. Administrative Leave is non-cumulative. It may not be converted to cash. 

One year’s worth of Administrative Leave becomes available on the first day of the calendar year. 

The exception is persons hired mid-year, in which case administrative leave is prorated for the 

applicable period.  

 

4.  Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year.  Unused 

Personal Holidays are not cumulative.  

 

5.  Bereavement Leave 

  Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this section 

shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For purposes of 

this section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-father, husband, wife, 

domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, daughter, step-daughter, 

brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-

law, grandparents and any individual to whom an employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 



   

6.  FMLA and CFRA 

 The City shall follow the provisions provided for family leave as specified in the federal 

Family & Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) as 

they apply to public employers. 

 

7.  Holiday Schedule 

  There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

 

                   

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *   

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   *    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/    

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. Holidays 

listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  Holidays occurring on a 

Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

In addition, City Hall will be closed for one week during the Christmas holidays during 

which employees affected by the closure will be permitted to use vacation, personal 

holidays or sick leave in order not to lose compensation. 

 

8.  Jury Duty  

  Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent traveling 

from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be deposited with the 

City Treasurer.  

 

9. Leave of Absence Without Pay 

 A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

10.  Accruals after Date of Separation 

 An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may extend 

the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly allotment.  “Yearly 



   

allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was entitled to accrue in his/her last 

year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state law, none of the following accrue after 

the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, 

Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the insurance premiums described in Section III.5 below. 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS 

 

(Regarding benefits available to part-time employees’, see Section 2, above.) 

 

1.  Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

 The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf of 

each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those employees who have 

selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly contribution set forth herein, $112 

effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 

2013 will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This 

amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing that state law may increase this 

minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s maximum contribution 

below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For all employees the City will no longer 

charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period in July 

2012 the contribution, for full-time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July 2013 the contribution for full-time regular employees 

shall be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 
 

Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $718 

 Employee +1  $921 
 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $735 

 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $754 

 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $773 

 Employee +1  $992 



   

 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

Proposed increases below is contingent upon agreement to changes to the City’s OPT 

language in Paragraph A below and modification to paragraph B below.  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum 

contribution (inclusive 

of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800.00 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824.00 $1,339 $1,751 

 

A. Opt Out  

 Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent group health 

coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain in effect until the next 

enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month. ; or who purchase a 

CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use their entire monthly 

contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other than medical (including 

dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for the “Employee only” contribution 

amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the 

CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 

B.     The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they may 

become available.  The City will enable interested employees to participate in union sponsored 

medical plans.    

 

2. Retirement Benefits CalPERS  

 The City participates in the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) 

operated by the State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications, 

depending upon the plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, 

with the single-highest year option. The City’s contribution toward the combined employer and 

employee cost of PERS retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the 

actual PERS contribution rate exceeds 16.488%  of reportable salary for any fiscal year, the 

employee will pay the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be reported in accordance 

with the current CalPERS contract, i.e. the employee portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap 

is reported to PERS as paid by the employee. 

 

Beginning July 1, 2018, all classic employees in this bargaining unit shall contribute 

13.392% of their reportable salary to CalPERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced 

unless negotiated by the parties in future negotiations. 

  

In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City paying 8% of the 

normal members contributions as Employer Paid Member Contributions (EPMC), with 



   

additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a total of 16.259% through June 30, 

2019.  The City agrees to report the value of the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary 

for retirement benefit plan purposes.    
 

 For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS contribution rate 

shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable salary.  Once an employee hired on or 

after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms 

that apply to all other current employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for 

employees hired after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain as 

stated above at 16.488%. 

 

 California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) For new miscellaneous 

employees hired by the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who do not qualify as 

classic members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 2.0% @ 62 

pension formula, based on a three year average compensation. Employees in this category shall 

pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CalPERS. 
 

3.  Physical Examinations 

The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide a biannual 

physical examination for employee.    The City will pay the amount not covered by the health 

care program. 

 

4.  Insurance. 

The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

5.  Mileage Reimbursement 

 Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

 

1.  Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base pay shall 

be increased as follows: 

 

     a. 15 years' continuous service - 5% 

b.      20 years' continuous service - an additional 5%, which shall be compounded   

with the 15 year recognition. 
 

2.   Education Reimbursement Program  

The City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the completion of courses approved in 

advance by the City Manager up to a maximum of $500 per calendar year for classes completed 

in that same calendar year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 



   

3. Bilingual Pay 

Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to five (5%) 

percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

a. Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as administered by the Personnel 

Department on an annual basis to maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive 

the annual testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the department 

head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

b. The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and ongoing basis, as 

certified by the Department Head.  

 

SECTION V: MISCELLANEOUS 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating individual 

contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of situations in which 

the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating his/her employment or 

temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting provision does not purport to 

affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

1. Fair Labor Standards Act 

 All positions included in this Compensation Plan are covered by appropriate sections of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act of 1935, and are specifically subject to Rule No. 54.118 (salaried 

executive employees are not paid at a higher rate for what might otherwise be labeled "overtime", 

correspondingly, their salary is not reduced "for any week in which (s)he performs any work 

without regard to the number of days or hours worked."  Accordingly, bi-weekly time sheets will 

not result in adjustments to the compensation for the period, but merely for yearly evaluation of 

whether the position is, after factoring in administrative leave, over or under staffed.  However, 

time off for sick leave purposes shall be reported and reflected in the accumulated sick leave 

calculations.   

 

2.   Legal Defense 

 Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding described in 

Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or proceeding described in Section 

995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding described in Government Code Section 995.8.  

"Proceeding" as used in this section is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, 

but not filed, if a reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a defense, but a court 

or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, preclude City payments for 

defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset 

any such amounts against compensation otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

3.  Use of Employer Facilities.   

 Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made available, upon 

timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity representing the employees.  



   

Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, other than the lunch period.  Application for 

such use shall be made to the management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

4.  Bargaining Time.   

A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the bargaining unit 

shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a reasonable period without loss of pay, 

for the purpose of participating in contract negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege 

to participate in any meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for 

review of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

5. Me Too Clause:  
 If during the effective time period of this agreement, if any other bargaining units  receives 

a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in an amount greater than the terms included in 

this agreement, the members of Confidential shall receive the same COLA and/or Flex Plan 

increase at the same time.  
 

6. Re-Opener: 

 This Agreement may be reopened  upon written request to discuss only health care and/or 

CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total combined 

miscellaneous PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available city sponsored health 

plans for an Employee plus 2 increases by 25% over the current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this 

agreement obligates the City to commit to any increases. The parties agree that all other terms and 

conditions of the agreement are not subject to the reopener clause. 

 

7. Severability: 

If any of the provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by reason 

of any State or Federal legislation, or by ruling of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 

invalidation of such part or portion of this Memorandum of Agreement shall not invalidate 

the remaining portions hereof, and they shall remain in full force and effect, insofar as such 

remaining portions are severable. 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   CONFIDENTIAL  EMPLOYEES 

 

________________________  ________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein    Liz Nichols 

City Manager 

      ________________________________ 

_________________________  Linda Fridy  

    

       
       



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

MID-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD   

7/01/2018 to 6/30/2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                          Page 

SECTION I WAGE SCHEDULES/EMPLOYMENT STATUS………………    1 

 Service……. ………………………………………………………………… 2       
 Acting Appointment Compensation……………………..……………………    2 

 Overtime……………………..……………………………………..…………    3 

 Effective Date of Pay Increase…………………..……………………………    3 

 Signing Bonus………………………………………………………………… 4 

 Total Compensation Study……………………………………………………. 4 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .   .   .   .     4 

 Vacation ………………………………………………………………………. 4 

 Sick……….……………………………………………………………………. 5  

 Personal Holidays……………………………………………………………… 5 

 Bereavement…………………………………………………………………… 5 

 Holiday Schedule………………………………………………………………… 6 

 Jury Duty………………………………………………………………………. 6 

 Leave of Absence without pay…………………………………………………. 7 

 Accruals after date of separation…………………………………………………. 8 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS ………………………………………………………….. 8 

 Flexible Spending……………………………………………………………… 8 

Retirement……………………………………………………………………… 8 

 Shoes & Apparel…………………………………………………………….… 9 

 Physical Exams………………………………………………………………… 9 

 Insurance………………………………………………………………………. 9 

 Mileage Reimbursement…………………………………………….…………. 10 

  

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  …………………………………….… 10 

 Longevity……………………………………………………………………... 10 

 Education……………………………………………………………………… 10 

 Bilingual Pay……………………………………………………………….. …        10 

SECTION V: EMERGENCY MEALS    .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 10 

SECTION VI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES  .   .   .    .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 10 

SECTION VII: LAYOFFS……………..  .   .   .    .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 12 

SECTION VIII: MISCELLANEOUS  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .  .    . 12 

 Legal Defense……….………………………………………………...........  12 

 Use of Employer Facilities………………………………………………....  13 

 Bargaining Time…………………………………………………………..… 13 



2 

 

 Re-opener…………………………………………………………………….. 13 

 Required Meeting…………………………………………………………….. 15 

 Emergency Call Back…………………………….…………………………… 15 

 POA “Me Too” Clause…………………………….…………………………… 14 

 Severability……………………………………………………………………... 16 

                    



3 

 

MIDDLE MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES 

 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and the Mid-Management employees.   Classifications 

covered by this MOU are:  Associate Planner, Public Works Project Manager, Senior Planner, 

Maintenance Superintendent, Field Supervisor, Recreation Supervisor, Building Official, 

Environmental Projects Manager, and Senior Accountant.  This MOU shall be in effect for the 

period beginning on July 1, 2018 and ending on June 30, 2020 and shall be effective upon 

ratification by the bargaining unit and approval by the Capitola City Council. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

SECTION I.  WAGE SCHEDULES/HOURLY RATES/EMPLOYEE STATUS 

 

The wage schedule attached to this Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, 

subject to such adjustments (such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  

Letters  “A” to “E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include overtime or 

benefits.  

 

The City will compile and average the San Francisco – Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price 

Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for January 2013 through October  2013* See a below.  

If the resulting figure for averaged CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the 

percentage for salary increase for members of the unit, effective first full pay period in July, 

2014 through the pay period ending July 5th 2014. 

 

   a. Effective the first full pay period of July 2014, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be readjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2013. 

 

 b. Effective the first full pay period in July 2015, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2014 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  



4 

 

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council approval of the 

successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

C. Merit Pay 

 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

 When an employee has not been approved for advancement to the next higher wage step, 

the employee shall be reconsidered for such advancement after the completion of either three 

months of additional service, or after a period of three to six months of additional service if the 

supervisor concludes that three months will be insufficient time to evaluate whether the 

performance deficiencies that led to the denial of the step increase have been adequately 

addressed.  At the time a step increase is denied, the supervisor shall identify in writing the 

timing of reconsideration of the step increase.  An employee whose step increase is denied shall 

also be advised in writing (typically in a performance evaluation) of the reason(s) why the step 

increase was denied.  Grants and denials of step increases shall be on a merit basis only. 

 

 Regardless of whether subsequent reconsideration of a denial of a step increase does or 

does not result in a step increase, the employee’s annual review date shall be as originally 

designated. 

 

1.  Service 

 The word "service" as used in this Memorandum of Understanding means continuous full-

time service in the position in which the employee is being considered for salary advancement, 

service in a higher position, or service in a position allocated to the same salary schedule and 

having generally similar duties and requirements.  A lapse of service of any employee for a period 

of time longer than thirty days by reason of resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the 

accumulated length of service time of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the 

service of the City shall be considered as a new employee, unless another standard is established 

by the personnel rules, in which case that standard shall apply. 

 

2.  Types of Appointment: For all types of appointments refer to the personnel rules except for 

Acting Appointments and Equipment Operator 

A. Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by the City 

Manager. An acting appointment occurs when an employee is temporarily assigned to, and 



5 

 

performs all duties of a position other than the position he/she normally occupies or when 

an employee is assigned an acting appointment pending evaluation of the employee’s 

ability to perform the duties of the position.  While serving under an acting appointment, 

an employee will receive additional compensation as determined by the City Manager.  

Such pay will be no less than 5% above the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be 

up to, but ordinarily will not be in excess of the first step of the position occupied. 

 

B. If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department Head’s 

designee to perform the duties of an Equipment Operator on the following 

equipment;  

• Ten-yard Truck and Trailer (license required) 

• Sweeper 

• Bull Dozer 

• Front Loader 

 

that employee shall receive a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked. 

 

3.  Overtime 

All employees within the Mid-Management unit except for the position of Building 

Official, Public Works Project Manager, Environmental Projects Manager, Senior Planner 

and Senior Accountant which are exempt from FLSA, are hourly employees and can accrue 

overtime subject to the laws, rules, regulations and any other MOU provisions of the City, state 

and federal government. 

 

 The normal regular work week commences on Sunday and consist of forty (40) hours 

except that the regular work week of public works department personnel engaged in maintenance 

activities shall be as approved by the City Manager.  Except for employees exempt under the 

FLSA, overtime will be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times the base rate of pay for 

all hours worked over 40 hours per week in a workweek.  Such additional compensation shall, at 

the employee’s election, be either in cash or compensatory time off, in accordance with Labor 

Code section 204.3.   

 

 With regard to this section “hours worked” shall not include sick leave.  Nor shall such a 

definition include vacation or compensated leave time off not scheduled in advance by at least ten 

working days.  “Hours Worked” shall also not include workers compensation time off unless 

immediate treatment is required on the date of injury for the injury incurred, in which case overtime 

is allowed providing the overtime accrued is an extension of the workday and the hours worked 

for the week exceed 40 hours. 

 

 The position of Building Official, Public Works Project Manager, Environmental Projects 

Manager, Senior Planner, and Senior Accountant are professional positions exempt under FLSA, 

and therefore not entitled to overtime compensation.  An Employee filling exempt positions are 

entitled to ten days per year of administrative time off.  Administrative leave is non-cumulative.  

It may not be converted to cash.  One year’s worth of Administrative Leave becomes available on 

the first day of the calendar year.  The exception is persons hired mid-year, in which case 

administrative leave is prorated for the applicable period. (Reso. #3486) 



6 

 

 

4.  Effective Date of Pay Increase 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

 Any other mid-pay period payroll adjustments will occur at the beginning of the pay period 

in which the adjustments fall for all odd numbered calendar years; and, at the beginning of the 

following pay period for the even number calendar years 
 

5. Signing Bonus 

 

Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018 which is ratified by the 

membership.  All full-time employees at the time of ratification in the Mid-Management 

bargaining unit shall receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The 

one-time signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the 

Capitola City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time shall receive a 

prorated signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week shall receive a one-time 

$1125 signing bonus, employees working 20 hours per week shall receive a one-time $750 

signing bonus). 

 

6. Total Compensation Study 

 

The parties agree to meet up to five meetings within the period of 270 -180 calendar days 

prior to the expiration of the contract to reach agreement on the comparable agencies, 

bench mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation study in preparation for 

successor contract negotiation post June 30, 2020.  If the parties are unable to reach 

agreement on the comparable agencies, benchmark classes and survey elements of a total 

compensation by 180 calendar days of the expiration of the contract, the parties are free to 

conduct their own respective total compensation study.  Implementation of any results is 

subject to the bargaining process for successor contract negotiations post June 30, 2020.        
 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS 

 

1.  Vacation  

     a.  Vacation Accrual 

 

 Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of accrual are 

as follows: 

 

   Years of Employment  Vacation Days 

      1 and 2    12 

      3 and 4    14 

      5 through 9    17 

      10 through 19   22 

      20 and higher   27 

 

     b. Accumulation 



7 

 

 An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must cash out 

pursuant to Section 12.d, below, all accumulated vacation in excess of 360 hours. 

 

     c.   Vacation Cash Out On Termination 

 Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the separation 

date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate. Alternatively, an employee may 

individually contractually establish, in writing, with the City Manager, mutually agreeable 

provisions regarding the timing and terms of the cash pay out. 

 

     d.  Vacation- Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate for 

all hours in excess of 360 such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation 

accrual amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first full 

pay period in May.       

 

    e. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

 

 In any calendar year an employee may cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated   vacation. 

 

2.  Sick Leave 

      a.  Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days accrue 

each calendar year. 

 

      b.   Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in accordance with 

the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 

 

c. An employee who becomes ill or is hospitalized while on vacation and provides a written 

statement from a licensed physician or medical doctor that the illness would have resulted 

in the employee not being able to come to work, shall have the period of illness charged 

against sick leave and not vacation leave. 
 

       d. Sick Leave Cash Out 

 Employees may not cash out sick leave. 

 

3.  Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year. Unused 

Personal Holidays are not cumulative shall be used by the employee no later than December 

31st of each year and are not cumulative. 

 

 

4.   Bereavement Leave 

 Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this section 

shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For purposes of this 



8 

 

section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-father, husband, wife, 

domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, daughter, step-daughter, 

brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-

law and grandparents, and any individual to whom an employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 

5.  A. Holiday Schedule 

 There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

 

                   

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *    

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   10/11/    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/    

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. Holidays 

listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  Holidays occurring on a 

Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

Holiday time will be for the regularly scheduled shift time.  For example, if the 

regularly scheduled shift is 8.5 hours, employee will receive 8.5 hours of holiday time.  

If the regularly scheduled shift is 6 hours, employee will receive 6 hours of holiday 

time. 

 

In addition, offices located at the Community Center or at City Hall will be closed for 

one week during the Christmas holidays during which employees affected by the closure 

will be permitted to use vacation, personal holidays or sick leave in order not to lose 

compensation. All other City offices and programs shall remain open during this 

period. 

 

B. Public Works employees may be required to work holidays. Employees who work on 

any holidays will use holiday time on the holiday and it will count as hours work. 

Actual hours will be in addition and will considered overtime if hours meet the weekly 

overtime threshold. 

   

 

6.   Jury Duty  



9 

 

 Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent traveling 

from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be deposited with the City 

Treasurer.  

 

7. Leave of Absence Without Pay 

 A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

 

8.  Accruals after Date of Separation 

 An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may extend 

the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly allotment.  “Yearly 

allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was entitled to accrue in his/her last 

year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state law, none of the following accrue after 

the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, 

Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the insurance premiums described in Section III.1 below. 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS 

(Regarding benefits available to part-time employees, see Section I.2, above.) 

 

1.  Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

 The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf of 

each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those employees who have 

selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly contribution set forth herein, $112 

effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 

2013 will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This 

amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing that state law may increase this 

minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s maximum contribution 

below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For all employees the City will no 

longer charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period 

in July 2012 the contribution, for full-time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July 2013 the contribution for full-time regular employees 

shall be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 
 

Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $718 

 Employee +1  $921 



10 

 

 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $735 

 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $754 

 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $773 

 Employee +1  $992 
 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

Proposed increases below is contingent upon agreement to changes to the City’s OPT 

language in Paragraph A below and modification to paragraph B below.  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum 

contribution (inclusive 

of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824 $1,339 $1,751 

 

A. Opt Out  

 Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent group health 

coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain in effect until the next 

enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month. ; or who purchase a 

CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use their entire monthly 

contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other than medical (including 

dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for the “Employee only” contribution 

amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the 

CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 

B.     The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they may 

become available.  The City will enable interested employees to participate in union sponsored 

medical plans.   The City reserves the right to change providers at any time. If the City determines 

that the CaLPERS PEMHCA plans do not provide affordable or beneficial options for County 

employees for any subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right to exit CaLPERS and change 

providers. The City reserves the right to change providers in accordance with CalPERS noticing 

requirement.  If the City determines that the CalPERS PEMHCA plans do not provide affordable 

or beneficial options for City employees for any subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right 

to exit CalPERS and change providers. 



11 

 

 

 

2.  Retirement Benefits PERS 

 

A. Classic Employees: 

 

 The City participates in the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) operated by the 

State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications, depending upon the 

plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, with the single-

highest year option. The City’s contribution toward the combined employer and employee cost of 

PERS retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the actual PERS 

contribution rate exceeds 16.488% of reportable salary for any fiscal year, the employee will pay 

the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be reported in accordance with the current 

CalPERS contract, ie: the employee portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap is reported to 

PERS as paid by the employee. 

 In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City paying 8% 

of the normal member’s contributions as Employer Paid Member Contributions (EPMC), with 

additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a total of 16.259% through June 30, 

2019.  The City agrees to report the value of the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary 

for retirement benefit plan purposes.    

 For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS contribution rate 

shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable salary.  Once an employee hired on or 

after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms 

that apply to all other current employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for 

employees hired after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain as 

stated above at 16.488%. 

 

Beginning June 21, 2018, all classic employees shall contribute 13.392% of their reportable 

salary to PERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced unless negotiated by the parties in 

future negotiations. 

 

  B.  PEPRA Employees: 

Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act for Miscellaneous Employees hired by the City on or 

after January 1, 2013 and do not qualify as Classic members as determined by CalPERS: For 

new miscellaneous employees hired by the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who 

do not qualify as classic members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 

2.0% @ 62 pension formula, based on a three-year average compensation. Employees in this 

category shall pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CALPERS. 
  

3. Shoes, and Apparel Reimbursements: 

 Each calendar year the Park Maintenance Field Supervisor and Street Maintenance 

Supervisor shall receive:  one pair of approved safety shoes, up to 5 city-logoed shirts, and up to 

5 pairs of denims.  Each calendar year the Maintenance Superintendent shall receive one pair of 

steel-toed boots, and a maximum of two pairs of pants.  The Public Works Director shall determine 

replacement frequency and kind. 



12 

 

 

4.  Physical Examinations 

 The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide an annual 

physical examination for employee.    The City will pay the amount not covered by the health care 

program. 

 

5.  Insurance. 

 The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

6.  Mileage Reimbursement 

  Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

 

1.  Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base pay shall 

be increased as follows: 

 

     a. 15 years' continuous service - 5% 

b.  20 years' continuous service - an additional 5%, which shall be compounded with the 15-

year recognition. 
 

2.   Education Reimbursement Program  

   

 The City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the completion of courses approved in 

advance by the City Manager up to a maximum of $500 per calendar year for classes completed 

in that same calendar year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 

3. Bilingual Pay 

 Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to    five 

(5%) percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

a) Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as administered by the Personnel 

Department on an annual basis to maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive 

the annual testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the department 

head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

b) The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and ongoing basis, as 

certified by the Department Head.  

 

SECTION V: EMERGENCY MEALS 

 



13 

 

The City shall arrange for meals for employees assigned to work four (4) or more hours contiguous 

to the employee’s shift when the employee is not provided notice of the need to work the overtime 

at least 12 hours prior to either commencing the overtime work or shift. 

 

SECTION VI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

A. Definition of a Grievance:  A grievance is defined as an allegation presented in writing 

by an employee or group of employees that the City has failed to provide a condition of 

employment, which is established by law, Memorandum of Understanding, by written City or 

departmental rules, provided that the enjoyment of both such right is not made subject to the 

discretion of the Department Head or the City by the terms of law, Memorandum of 

Understanding, or by written City or departmental rules and, provided further, that the conditions 

of employment which are the subject matter within the scope of representation as defined in 

California Government Code Section 3504.  Notwithstanding the above, excluded from this 

grievance procedure are employee evaluations, and any other matter that is assigned its own 

appeal procedure such as discipline and an alleged violation of the harassment policy. 

 

B. Right to Representation:  An employee having a grievance shall have the right to consult 

with and be assisted by a representative of his/her own choice throughout the grievance process.  

In those cases in which an employee elects to represent him/herself or arranges for other 

representation, the Union shall have the right to participate in the grievance procedure to the 

extent necessary to protect the interest of its members in negotiated conditions of employment. 

 

C. Limitations on Money Damages:  In no event shall any grievance include a claim for 

money relief for more than the twenty-one day period plus such reasonable discovery period, 

unless otherwise provided by law. 

 

D. Procedure: Failure of the employee to timely file a grievance and/or comply with the time 

limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall constitute an abandonment of the grievance.  

Failure of the employer to respond within the time limits at any step of this grievance procedure 

shall result in an automatic advancement of the grievance to the next step.  The parties may 

mutually agree to extend the time permitted under any of the steps 

 

Step 1 

A grievance must be presented to the grievant’ s supervisor within twenty-one (21) calendar days 

from the day upon which the City allegedly failed to provide a condition of employment, or 

within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the time in which an employee might reasonably have 

been expected to have learned of such alleged failure to provide.  The written grievance shall 

include the following: 

 

 a) Date of submission; 

 b) Signature of employee or employees; 

 c) The MOU provision, Personnel Rule, Administrative Policy or other rule   

 or policy allegedly violated; 

 d) A description of the relevant facts, including specifically how, when and   

 by whom the grieved condition of employment was violated; 



14 

 

 e) The requested resolution or remedy; and  

 f) The name of any representative chosen by the grievant. 

 

The supervisor shall provide the grievant with a written response within seven (7) actual working 

days. 

 

Step 2 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the employee shall have seven (7) actual working days 

after receipt of the supervisor’s Step 1 response to file an appeal with the Department Head.  The 

Department Head may, but is not required to, meet with the grievant to discuss the grievance.  

The Department Head shall have seven (7) actual working days from either receipt of the appeal, 

or the meeting with the grievant, whichever is later, to provide the grievant with a written 

response. 

 

Step 3 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the employee shall have seven (7) actual working days 

after receipt of the Department Head’s Step 2 response to file an appeal with the City Manager.  

The City Manager shall meet with the grievant and other persons the City Manger believes 

would be useful to the City Manager’s consideration of the grievance within seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the grievant’s appeal.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) 

actual working days from the date of the meeting with the grievant to provide the grievant with a 

written decision. 

 

The Mid-Management Group may, in its own name, file a grievance with the City Manager 

alleging that the City has failed to provide it some organizational right which is established by 

law, provided that such right is not made subject to the discretion of the City.  Such Union 

grievance shall be filed with the City Manager and heard and determined pursuant to the 

provisions of this step of the grievance procedure.  The City Manager shall meet with the Mid-

Management Group representative and other persons the City Manager believes would be useful 

to the City Manager’s consideration of the grievance within (7) actual working days after receipt 

of the Union’s grievance.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from the 

date of the meeting with the Mid-Management Group representative to provide the Mid-

Management Group with a written decision. 

 

Step 4 

An employee dissatisfied with the City Manager’s decision on the employee’s Step 3 grievance 

may appeal the grievance to the City Council within (7) seven actual working days of receipt of 

the City Manager’s decision. The City Council will schedule a hearing within a reasonable time 

period after receipt of the appeal.  The decision of the City Council following the hearing shall 

be final. 

 

SECTION VII: LAYOFFS 

 Layoffs shall be governed by Personnel Rule 12.  The City will make its best efforts to 

provide an additional 30 days of EAP benefits to employees who are laid off to assist them in their 

transition.  If continued EAP benefits are not available, the City will meet with the Union to discuss 



15 

 

the possibility of the City providing laid off workers with guidance on resume writing, conducting 

a job search, job interviewing, coping with stress and/or unemployment insurance benefits. 

 

SECTION VIII: MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating 

individual contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of situations 

in which the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating his/her employment 

or temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting provision does not purport to 

affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

1.   Legal Defense 

 Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding described in 

Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or proceeding described in Section 

995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding described in Government Code Section 995.8.  

"Proceeding" as used in this section is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, 

but not filed, if a reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a defense, but a court 

or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, preclude City payments for 

defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset 

any such amounts against compensation otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

2.  Use of Employer Facilities.   

 Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made available, upon 

timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity representing the employees.  

Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, other than the lunch period.  Application for 

such use shall be made to the management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

3.  Bargaining Time.   

A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the bargaining unit 

shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a reasonable period without loss of pay, 

for the purpose of participating in contract negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege 

to participate in any meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for 

review of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

4.  Reopener 
 This Agreement may be reopened to upon written request to discuss only health care and/or 

CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total combined miscellaneous 

PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available city sponsored health plans for an Employee plus 

2 increases by 25% over the current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this agreement obligates the City to commit 

to any increases. The parties agree that All other terms and conditions of the agreement are not subject to 

the reopener clause. 

 

5.  Required Meetings 



16 

 

 Administrative staff members covered under this MOU who are required to attend 

meetings outside their regular work schedules will be paid at the overtime rate (1.5) for two hours, 

or for the hours actually worked, whichever is greater. 

 

6.  Emergency Call-Back Compensation 

a. “Call-back” refers to a situation where an employee has completed his/her regular work 

day without knowing that he/she would be called back to work, by his/her supervisor or as 

a result of emergency circumstances, during hours of the day not occurring during the 

employee’s regular workday.  An employee who is required to come to work not more than 

one hour early, but is not thereafter released from work before the start of the regular work 

day is not on “call-back.” 

 

b. Employees called back to work shall be treated as having worked at least two hours, even 

if actual time is less. 

 

c. Public Works:  The rate of pay for Public Works Dept. employees in the Mid-Management 

Group during call-back hours is as follows: 

 

(1) Two and one half times the employee’s hourly base rate for hours served 

between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.; or 

(2) Two times the hourly base rate for hours served during other times of the day. 

  

d. For all employees not covered by subsection c, call-back hours will be paid the same as 

overtime. 

e. Time spent traveling to and from the place of call-back work is not counted in applying the 

provisions of this section, or Section 8 above.  

f. Units of time that are both call-back and overtime will receive the most favorable of the 

two treatments, but no single unit of time will be treated as both call-back and overtime. 

 

7.   Me Too Clause: If during the effective time period of this agreement, the Police Officers 

Association receives a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in an amount greater than 

the terms included in this agreement, the members of Mid-Manager shall receive the same COLA 

and/or Flex Plan increase at the same time.  

 

8. Severability. If any of the provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by 

reason of any State or Federal legislation, or by ruling of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such invalidation of such part or portion of this Memorandum of Agreement shall not 

invalidate the remaining portions hereof, and they shall remain in full force and effect, 

insofar as such remaining portions are severable. 

 

 

  



17 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   MID-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES 

 

________________________  ____________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein     

City Manager     ____________________________________ 

       

________________________   

Larry Laurent     ____________________________________ 

Assistant to the City Manager               

      ____________________________________ 

             

      ____________________________________ 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
 



 
 

City of Capitola 
Department Head’s and Chief of Police 

Compensation and Benefits Plan 
 

 
Effective July 1, 2018 
 
Purpose and Intent 

 This Compensation and Benefits Plan (Plan) is intended to establish compensation, 
benefits and terms and conditions of employment for Department Heads and the Chief of Police. 
The City Manager has the authority to hire Department Heads and the Chief of Police, and to 
adjust their compensation consistent with this Plan. Department Heads and Chief of Police are 
exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), are at will employees, serve at the pleasure 
of the City Manager and can be terminated with or without notice or cause and with no rights of 
appeal.   

1) SALARY SCHEDULE 

a) This Plan covers positions in the job classes and salary schedule set forth in Attachment 
A, incorporated in and made a part of this document.  

b) Longevity: 5% base pay increase following 12 full years of employment. (Does not apply 
to Chief of Police) 

2) SEVERANCE PAY 

If a Department Head is terminated by the City Manager, the City will pay the Department 
Head an amount equal to four months salary and four months Flexible Spending 
Arrangement Contribution benefits. Additionally, the Department Head will receive 
payment for all vacation leave accrued to the date of separation.  The same terms apply 
to the Chief of Police with the exception of six months' salary and Flexible Spending 
Arrangement Contribution. However, if an employee is terminated because of conviction 
of any criminal offense or “for cause”, the City shall have no obligation to continue the 
employment of the Department Head or pay severance pay. 

3) ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE ACCRUAL 

80 hours per calendar year, prorated depending upon date of hire.  No accumulation and 
may not be converted to cash. 

4) PERSONAL HOLIDAYS 

Three personal holidays per calendar year, prorated depending upon date of hire. No 
accumulation and may not be converted to cash. 

5) VACATION 
a) Vacation Accrual:   

Years of Employment Vacation Days 

1 and 2 12 

3 and 4 14 

5 through 9 17 

10 through 19 22 

20 and higher 27 

 
b) The City Manager has the authority to place a new Department Head or Police Chief at a 

specific accrual rate. 



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 2 

 

c) Upon termination, payment will be made for all accumulated vacation to the separation 
date, at a rate equal to 100% of the current hourly pay rate. 

d) Vacation Cap: All hours in excess of 360 hours on the last pay period of April of any year 
will be cashed out. Exception will be for any employee under a previous agreement who 
has accumulated more than 360 hours as of January 1, 2011; employee may maintain 
that level of 504 hours provided however if that if accumulated vacation falls below 504 at 
anytime during the year, then that will be the new allowable level until employee reaches 
360 hours. 

e) Optional Vacation Cash Out: In any calendar year, Department Head or Police Chief may 
cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated vacation. 
 

6) SICK LEAVE  

Sick leave will accrue at a rate of 12 days per year.  Unlimited accumulation and may not 
be converted to cash. 

 
7) FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 

a) Employees are eligible to enroll in a CalPERS medical plan, Dental and Vision Plan. The 
City makes a contribution on behalf of each qualified employee (Attachment A). 

b) Cash Out: Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have group health 
coverage for medical (including dental and vision), which will remain in effect until the next 
enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month.  Employees 
who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use 
their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other 
than medical (including dental and vision) coverage.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not 
included in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement plan). 
 

8) FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS 

The City offers a Healthcare Spending Account with an annual election limit of $2,500 and 
a Dependent Care Spending Account with annual election limit of $5,000. 
 

9) RETIREMENT 

a) CalPERS Retirement Benefits for Classic Members:  

i) Miscellaneous Classic Employees: The City participates in the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (PERS). Benefits provided are detailed in separate 
publications. The City agrees to provide 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for eligible classic 
miscellaneous employees in the Unit and the single-highest-year option. 

Effective July 1, 2018, Miscellaneous classic employees will contribute 13.392% 
of their reportable salary to PERS. 

ii) Safety Classic Employees: The City participates in the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS). Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications. 
The City agrees to provide 3.0% at 50 Retirement Plan for eligible classic Safety 
employees in the Unit and the single-highest-year option. 

Effective July 1, 2018, sworn classic employees will contribute 14.974% of their 
reportable salary to PERS. 

b) CalPERS PEPRA Employees:  



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 3 

 

i) Individuals that have never been a member of any public retirement system prior to 
January 1, 2013, or 

ii) Individuals who moved between retirement systems with more than a six month break 
in service; and 

iii) In compliance with the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013, 
(PEPRA), new members will receive a Local Miscellaneous benefit formula of 2% @ 
62, Sworn will receive a benefit of 2.7% @ 55.  Employees will contribute 50% of the 
normal cost as determined by CalPERS.  The employee contribution from pay is on a 
pre-tax basis pursuant to 414(h)(2).  Final compensation, for purposes of calculating 
the retirement benefit, is calculated on the highest average pensionable compensation 
earned by a member during a period of 36-consecutive months.  This is also referred 
to as the 3-year average. 
 

10) HOLIDAYS 
12 Holidays per calendar year, as follows: New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King, Lincoln’s 
Birthday, Washington’s Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Columbus Day, Veteran’s Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday following Thanksgiving, 
Christmas Day.  In addition, City Hall will be closed for one week during the Christmas 
holidays during which employees are permitted to use vacation, personal holiday or sick 
leave in order not to lose compensation. 

 
11)  INSURANCE  

The City provides short-term disability for non-sworn and long-term disability insurance for 
both as well as term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 
 

12)  VEHICLE USE 

The Chief of Police will be provided with a is entitled to use a spare Captain’s vehicle 
for commuting to and from work within Santa Cruz County and for business purposes. 
 

13)  UNIFORM 

Chief of Police: City will purchase the initial uniform at a cost not to exceed $2,500.  City 
will pay for reasonable cleaning of the uniform at a cost not to exceed $250/yr. 

 
 

14) POLICE CHIEF DEFFERED COMPENSATION 

The City may make contributions to a 457 Deferred Compensation Account (or equivalent 
account as determined by the City Manager) up to 8.267% of employee's regular salary 
(not including Flex Credit, cell phone allowance, or other compensation.). These 
contributions shall not be considered pay rate or special compensation and are not to be 
reported to PERS as such. 

 
15) POLICE CHIEF RECRUITMENT 

The City Council shall approve the recruitment process for the Police Chief at a City 
Council meeting as recommended by the City Manager.  
 

16) ONE-TIME BONUS 

 



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 4 

 

City Manager is authorized to issue to full-time employees covered by this agreement on 

June 28, 2018, a one-time $1500.00 bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The one-time bonus 

shall be paid the first full pay period after approval by the Capitola City Council.  
 
 
Attachment: Exhibit A – Job Classes and Salary Schedule 
 
 

DEPARTMENT HEADS AND CHIEF OF POLICE  
JOB CLASSES AND SALARY SCHEDULE 
 
EFFECTIVE July 1, 2018 

 
Positions covered by Plan 
 
Chief of Police 
Director of Public Works 
Director of Finance 
Community Development Director 
Administrative Services Director 

 
Salary Schedule 

POSITION Minimum Maximum 

Chief of Police  $        11203   $    13,612  

Department Heads  $         6,959   $    12,495  

 
Salary: Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) 

a) COLA: Cost of Living Adjustment shall be as follows: 

 Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 
 

Flexible Spending Arrangement Contribution:  

The contribution for full-time regular employees is: 
 
 
 
Effective 7/1/2018 

Employee Only $800.00 

Employee + 1 $1,300.00 

Employee +2 or more $1,700.00 

 
Effective 7/1/2019 

Employee Only $824.00 

Employee + 1 $1,339.00 

Employee +2 or more $1,751.00 

 



 

1 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO 

 

CITY MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 This Third Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“Third 

Amendment”) is entered into on June 28, 2018 with an effective date of July 1, 2018 (the 

“Effective Date”) by and between the City of Capitola, a municipal corporation (hereinafter 

referred to as “City”), and Jamie Goldstein, an individual (hereinafter referred to as 

“Employee”), and is intended to amend that particular City Manager Employment 

Agreement (the “Original Agreement”) dated July 12, 2010, as previously amended by that 

certain First Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“First Amendment”) 

entered into on July 1, 2012, and that certain Second Amendment to City Manager 

Employment Agreement (“Second Amendment”) entered into on May 14, 2015, and that 

certain Third Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“Second 

Amendment”) entered into on December 8, 2016 (the Original Agreement, First, Second, 

and Third Amendments are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Agreement”). 

 

Now, therefore City and Employee agree as follows: 

 

1. Section 6—Salary of the Original Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

Section 6. Salary 

 

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council 

approval of the successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary 

range for each classification shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each 

classification shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

2.          Section 9.A of the Original Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

  Effective July 1, 2018, Miscellaneous classic employees will contribute 13.392% 

of their reportable salary to PERS. 

 

3.  Section 9.D shall be changed to 9.c and is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

 Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

        The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf 

of each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those 

employees who have selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly 

contribution set forth herein, effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month 

contribution will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer 

contribution”. This amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing 

that state law may increase this minimum from time to time requiring compliance by 

City.  The City’s maximum contribution below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA 



 

2 

minimum. 

 

 

  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum contribution 

(inclusive of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824 $1,339 $1,751 

 

Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have group health 

coverage for medical (including dental and vision), which will remain in effect until 

the next enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month.  

Employees who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but 

do not use their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase 

benefits other than medical (including dental and vision) coverage.  (If a cash payment 

is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement 

plan). 

 

 

The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they 

may become available 

 

2. Except as hereinabove stated, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 

remain in full force and effect, are hereby re-stated and are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference as if fully set forth. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this First Amendment to the 

City Manager Employment Agreement the day and year written above. 

 

 

Dated:        CITY OF CAPITOLA  

    

 

       By: __________________________ 

              Michael Termini, Mayor 

 

 

 

Dated:        EMPLOYEE 

 

 

       By: __________________________ 

                                                 Jamie Goldstein 













 

          

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES 

AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD   7/01/2018 to 6/30/2020 

     TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                              Page 

 

SECTION I: UNION RECOGNITION.………………………...……………………….1 

 

SECTION II: WAGE ………………………...…………………………………………...4 

 A. Wage Schedule and Wage Increases………………………...…………………..4       
 B. Specialty Pay for Police Department Administrative Assistant.…………………5 

 C. Conversion to Hourly Rate………………………...…………………………….5 

 D. Service…………………..……………………………………………………….5 

 E. Types of Appointments…………..………………………………………………5 

 F. Public Works Employees, Shift Changes, Shift Differential..…………………   6 

 G. Emergency Call Back Compensation………………………….………………...6  

 H. Parking Enforcement Officers…………………………….……..………………7 

 I. License and Certification Reimbursement…………. ……………………………7 

 

SECTION III: OVERTIME………………………...……………………………………7 

 

SECTION IV: MERIT PAY AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF INCREASES ………….8 

 

SECTION V: VACATION………………………...………………………………………8 

 A. Accrual..…………………………………………………………………………..8 

 B. Accumulation.…………………………………………………………………….8  

 C. Scheduling.………………………………………………………………………..8 

 D. Vacation Cash Out On Termination………………………………………………9 

 E. Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination………………………………………...9 

 F. Optional Vacation Cash Out.……………………………………………………..9 

 

SECTION VI: SICK LEAVE.………………………...……………………………………9 

 A. Sick Leave Accrual.……………………………………………………………….9 

 B. Sick Leave – Family Care…………………………………………………………9 

 C. Sick While on Vacation.…………………………………………………………...9 

 D. Sick Leave Cash Out.……………..……………………………………………….9 

 

SECTION VII: HOLIDAYS………………………...……………………………………...10 

 A. Schedule…….……………………………………………………………………..10 

 B. Personal Holidays...………………………………………………………………..10 

 C. Holiday Hours Bank……………………………………………………………….10 

 

SECTION VIII: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE  ………………………...………………….10 

 

SECTION IX: JURY DUTY ………………………………………………………………11 

 

SECTION X: LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY……………………………………..11 



   

 

SECTION XI: ACCRUALS AFTER DATE OF SEPARATION……………………………11 

 

SECTION XII: BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES……………………………...11 

 

SECTION XIII: FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTION…………11 

 

SECTION XIV: RETIREMENT BENEFITS.………………………………………………....12 

 A. CalPERS………..……………………………………………………………………..12 

B. LIUNA National Industry Pensions……………………………………………...……..13 

 

SECTION XV: PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS..………………………………..….….……....14 

 

SECTION XVI: LIFE INSURANCE.…………...………………………………..….…….…....14 

 

SECTION XVII: MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT…………….………………….………......14 

 

SECTION XVIII: UNIFORMS…………………..……………………………….…….…..…....14 

 

SECTION XIX: SHOES, APPAREL AND EQUIPMENT REIMBURSEMENT………......14 

 

SECTION XX: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS...…………………..…………………………..….14 

 A. Longevity Pay Incentive…………………………………………………………...……14 

 B. Education Reimbursement Program……………………………………. …………...…15 

 C. Bilingual Pay………………………………………………………………………...…..15 

 

SECTION XXI: PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS..…………………………………….….…..15 

 

SECTION XXII: LUNCH AND REST PERIODS……….…………………………..…….…16 

 

SECTION XXIII: EMERGENCY MEALS…..……………………………….………..….…..16 

 

SECTION XXIV: LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT.……………………………………..….….16 

 

SECTION XXV: PROBATIONARY PERIOD…………..……………….……….…………..16 

 A. Regular Appointment Following Probationary Period……………………….….….…..16 

 B. Objective of Probationary Period…..………………………………………….….….…17 

 C. Rejection of Probationer………………………………………………... …….…….….17 

 D. Rejection following Promotion………………………...……………………….……….17 

 

SECTION XXVI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE……………..……………….……….….…..17 

 A. Definition of a Grievance………………………………………………………...….….17 

 B. Right to Representation……………..………………………………………….….……17 

 C. Limitations on Money Damages……………………………………….….……….……17 

 D. Procedure………………………………………….……………………………….……17 

 

SECTION XXVII: LAYOFFS……………………………………….…………………………..19 

 

SECTION XXVIII: SAFETY……………………………………………………………..…..…20 

 

SECTION XXIX: MISCELLANEOUS ..   .    .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .   . . 20 



   

 A. Legal Defense…………………………………………………………………………....21 

 B. Use of Employer Facilities…………………………………………………………....…21 

 C. Bargaining Time………………………………………………………… ….……….......21 

 D. Re-opener.……………………………………………………………………………......20 

 D. Required Meetings……………………………………………………… …….…...........21 

 E. Disciplinary Appeal……...………………………………………………………….........22 

 F. Personnel Rules…………………………………………………………...………...........22 

 G. Fair Labor Standards Act...……………………………………………………...........….22 

 I. POA “Me Too” Clause...……………………………………………………................….20 

 H. Compensation Study……………………………………………………………………..22 

 



 

 
1   

 

ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and Laborers International of North American 

(LIUNA) Local 792 (herein referred to as “the union”) for the Association of Capitola Employees 

(ACE) for and on behalf of its members identified.  This agreement shall cover the period from 

July 1, 2012 through June 30 2015, July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2020 amended on 12/12/2013 

extending the term through June 30, 2018, and shall be effective upon ratification by the bargaining 

unit and approval by the Capitola City Council. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

The City’s “Standard MOU Provisions” and “Additional MOU Provisions” are hereby 

incorporated into this MOU by this reference.  To the extent there is a conflict between either the 

Standard MOU Provisions or Additional MOU Provisions with this MOU, this MOU shall govern.  

The City and Union agree that, prior to March 31, 2007, they shall incorporate provisions from the 

Standard MOU Provisions and Additional MOU Provisions not specifically set forth in this MOU 

into this MOU, so long as incorporation does not result in a substantive change in the terms and 

conditions of employees covered by this MOU. 

 

I.  UNION RECOGNITION 

 

1. Pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act and the City’s Employer-Employee 

Relations Resolution, the Union, affiliated with Laborer’s International Union of 

North America, Local792, is hereby recognized as the exclusively recognized 

employee organization of the General Government Employees and Association of 

Capitola Employees bargaining unit.  Classifications in the bargaining unit are 

listed in Section I.16 below.  Pursuant to language in the Employee-Employer 

Relations Ordinance, this list can be amended from time to time. 

2. The parties hereto recognize that membership in the Union is not compulsory, that 

employees have the right to join, not join, maintain, or drop their membership in 

the Union and that neither party shall exert any pressure on or discriminate 

against an employee regarding such matters.  In light of the agency fee provisions 

contained in this section, the Union agrees that it is obligated to represent all of 

the employees in the bargaining unit fairly and equally, without regard to whether 

or not an employee is a member of the Union.  (Government Code Section 3502) 

3. Effective 30 days after the effective date of this MOU, in accordance with 

Government Code Section 3502.5, employees who are members of the bargaining 

unit represented by the Union, as a condition of continued employment, shall be 

required to either belong to the Union or to pay to the Union an amount equal to a 

service fee in an amount not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues, 

and general assessments for the Union.  (Government Code Section 3502.5(a))  

The Union shall notify the City in writing as to the amount of the service fee.   



 

 
2   

4. Any employee of the City subject to this MOU who is a member of a bona fide 

religion, body or sect that has historically held conscientious objections to joining 

or financially supporting a public employee organization will, upon presentation 

of verification of active membership in such religion, body or sect be permitted to 

make a charitable contribution equal to the service fee in lieu of Union 

membership or service fee payment.   

Declarations of or applications for religious exemption and any supporting 

documentation will be forwarded to the Union within fifteen days of receipt by 

the City.  The Union will have fifteen days after receipt of a request for religious 

exemption to challenge any exemption that the City grants.  If challenged, the 

deduction to the charity of the employee’s choice will commence but will be held 

in escrow pending resolution of the challenge.  Charitable contributions will be by 

regular payroll deduction only.  For purposes of this paragraph, charitable 

deduction means a contribution to a non-religious and non-labor charitable 

organization exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the IRS Code 

chosen by the employee.  (Government Code Section 3502.5(c)) 

5. The City shall notify new employees that the Union is the exclusive recognized 

bargaining representative for employees in the bargaining unit and provide new 

employees with a copy of the current Memorandum of Understanding.  Within 30 

days after employment, new employees shall, as a condition of continued 

employment, be required to either belong to the Union or to pay to the Union an 

amount equal to a service fee in an amount not to exceed the standard initiation 

fee, periodic dues, and general assessments for the Union.  (Government Code 

Section 3502.5(a)) 

6. This section of the MOU shall not apply to supervisory employees.  (Government 

Code Section 3502.5(e)) 

7. The City shall make available payroll deductions for unit members for both 

regular Union dues and for payment of the service fee to the Union pursuant to an 

appropriate authorization form signed by the employee or the provisions of this 

Section.  Those funds shall be remitted to the Union on a monthly basis.  An 

employee’s earnings must be regularly sufficient after other legal and required 

deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues or service fee.  When an 

employee is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no withholding will be 

made to cover the pay period from future earnings.  In the case of an employee 

who is in a non-pay status during only part of the pay period, and the salary is not 

sufficient to cover the full dues or service fee, no deduction shall be made.  In 

addition, all other legal and required deductions have priority over Union dues 

and the service fee.   

8. The Union shall keep an adequate itemized record of its financial transactions and 

shall make available annually, to the City and to the employees who are members 

of the Union, within 60 days after the end of its fiscal year, a detailed written 

financial report in the form of a balance sheet and an operating statement, certified 

as to accuracy by its president and treasurer or corresponding principal officer, or 

by a certified public accountant.  The Union, if it is required to file financial reports 

under the Labor-Management Disclosure Act of 1959 or required to file financial 

reports under Government Code Section 3546.5, may satisfy this financial reporting 



 

 
3   

requirement by providing the City with a copy of those financial reports. 

(Government Code §3502.5(f)) 

9. The Union shall indemnify, defend and hold the City, its employees, officials, 

representatives and agents harmless against any claims made, and against any suit 

instituted against the City on account of payroll deductions made pursuant to this 

Section for dues or service fees.  In addition, the Union shall refund to the City any 

amount paid to it in error upon presentation of supporting evidence. 

10. Any dispute between the Union and any employee on the interpretation or 

application of this Section shall, at the request of the Union or the affected 

employee, be decided by final and binding arbitration under the rules of the 

American Arbitration Association.  The Union and the employee shall each bear 

one half the cost of the arbitration, including the fee of the American Arbitration 

Association, the arbitrator and any court reporter fees and costs.  The City will not 

protest or interfere with any final and binding decision under this Section. 

11. Union Notification.  The City shall give reasonable written notice to Union when it 

is affected by any ordinance, rule, resolution, or regulation proposed to be adopted 

and directly relating to matters within the scope of representation.  

12. Bulletin Boards.  The Union shall be provided a bulletin board in the employee 

break room.  The Union agrees that notices posted on the bulletin boards shall not 

contain anything that may be construed as maligning or derogatory to the City or 

its representatives.  The Union shall be responsible for maintaining the bulletin 

board in a business-like manner.  The Union shall be responsible for placement of 

and removal of outdated material.  However, the City shall retain the right to 

remove maligning, derogatory, or inappropriate or outdated material. 

13. Time Off for Union Officials.  During the term of this agreement, two employees 

from the unit shall be allowed a reasonable amount of paid release time off for 

“meet and confer” or “meet and consult” sessions scheduled with the City’s 

designated representatives, providing there is no disruption of work.  The Union 

shall notify the City Manager in advance of the meeting of the specific members 

who will be in attendance.  Union members shall obtain permission through 

supervisory channels before leaving their work or work locations. 

14. Time Off Without Loss of Pay.  The Union may request, and the City may grant, 

time off without loss of pay to Union representatives to assist the City in the 

formulation of policies and procedures mutually beneficial to the City and the 

Union.  However, such time off shall be at the discretion of the City Manager. 

15. Union Stewards.  The unit shall be authorized to designate two employees within 

the unit as stewards and must furnish a list of these stewards to the City Manager 

within five working days after appointment or election.  One steward at a time shall 

be allowed a reasonable amount of paid release time for the purpose to representing 

a unit employee within the steward’s area of representation in the filing or 

processing of grievances or disciplinary appeals, as long as there is no interruption 

of work in the employee’s division.  Stewards must first obtain permission. 

16. Represented Employees.  This unit represents the following classifications:  

Accounts Receivable/Payable Clerk, Account Technician, Accountant I, 



 

 
4   

Accountant II, Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative 

Clerk II, Administrative Records Analyst, Building Inspector I, Building Inspector 

II, Class Coordinator, Development Services Technician, Data Entry Clerk, 

Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, II III, Mechanic,  Museum Curator, 

Parking Enforcement Officer, Assistant Planner, Receptionist, Records Clerk, 

Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Recreation Assistant, 

Recreation Facility Custodian, Recreation Receptionist, and Sports Coordinator.   

Account Technician, Accountant I, Accountant II, Accounts Clerk, 

Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Assistant Planner, Building Inspector I, 

Building Inspector II, Data Entry Clerk, Development Services Technician, 

Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, Maintenance Worker II, 

Maintenance Worker III, Mechanic, Museum Curator, Parking Enforcement 

Officer, Receptionist, Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, 

Records Technician, Recreation Assistant,  Recreation Coordinator, 

Recreation Facility Custodian, Recreation Receptionist 

17. When a new position is created by the City that is not managerial, supervisory or 

confidential, the City will provide the Union with a position description and will 

advise the Union as to whether or not, in its judgment, the position is appropriate 

for inclusion in the bargaining unit.  If the Union disagrees with the City’s 

decision, it will notify the City, and the City and the Union will meet to resolve 

the disagreement. 

II.  WAGES  

   

A. Wage Schedule and Wage Increases:  The wage schedule attached to this 

Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, subject to such adjustments 

(such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  Letters “A” to 

“E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include 

overtime or benefits. The City will compile and average the San Francisco – 

Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for 

January 2013 through October 2013* See (a).  If the resulting figure for averaged 

CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the percentage for salary increase 

for members of the unit, effective the first full pay period in  January, 2014 through 

the pay period ending July 5th 2014.  A 5% salary increase shall be made for the 

Administrative Assistant and the Mechanic effective first full pay period in July, 

2012. 

 a. Effective the first pay period after union ratification of the MOU and 

Council approval of the successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, 

the salary range for each classification in this Unit shall be readjusted by 

2.25%. 

 b. Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for 

each classification in this Unit shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each 

classification in this Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price 

Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban Consumers, Annual Average January 



 

 
5   

- December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a maximum of 3.5%.  

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each 

classification in this Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, 

Bureau of Labor Statistics, San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price 

Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban Consumers, Annual Average January 

- December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a maximum of 3.5%.  

 

B. Police Department Administrative Assistant:  The Police Department 

Administrative Assistant will be granted a specialty pay increase of 5% when 

certified by POST to conduct back ground investigations.  This pay will be 

retroactive to the time of certification. In addition, in 2012 a compensation analysis 

was conducted for the Police Department Administrative Assistant. The result is 

the Police Department Administrative Assistant will be granted an increase of 5% 

for recognition of an equity adjustment effective the first full pay period in July, 

2012. 

 

C. Conversion To Hourly Rate:  Whenever it is necessary to compute an hourly pay 

rate in order to apply any provision of this MOU, that will be done by multiplying 

any monthly rate by 12 in order to derive an annual rate, and dividing the annual 

rate by 2080 (or proportionate number of hours for part time positions, e.g., 1040 

for a half-time position). 

 

D. Service: The word "service" as used in this MOU means continuous full-time 

service in the position in which the employee is being considered for salary 

advancement, service in a higher position, or service in a position allocated to the 

same salary schedule and having generally similar duties and requirements.  A lapse 

of service of any employee for a period of time longer than thirty days by reason of 

resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the accumulated length of service 

time of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the service of the City 

shall be considered as a new employee, unless another standard is established by 

the personnel rules, in which case that standard shall apply. 

 

E. Types of Appointment 

For all types of appointments, refer to the personnel rules, except for Acting 

Appointments. 

   

 1. Acting Appointments 

Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by 

the City Manager.  An acting appointment occurs when an employee is 

temporarily appointed to a higher-class position.  While serving under an 

acting appointment, an employee will receive additional compensation as 

determined by the City Manager.  Such pay will be no less than 5% above 

the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be up to, but ordinarily will 

not be in excess of the first step of the position occupied.  Such pay shall 

begin on the first work day of the appointment. 

 

  2. Work Out of Class 

Work out of class occurs when an employee is designated to work in a 

higher classification and actually performs or is responsible for 



 

 
6   

performing the majority of duties of the higher classification.  If an 

employee works out of class for four or more consecutive hours, the 

employee will receive work out of class pay for all hours worked out of 

class.  The employee shall receive either 5.0% above the employee’s usual 

rate of pay, or pay at the next highest pay step in the out of class job 

classification, whichever is greater.  

 

  3. Acting Supervisors Pay for Public Works 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department 

Head’s designee to perform the duties of Park’s Maintenance Supervisor 

or Facilities and Street Maintenance Supervisor for a period of three 

consecutive days, with Fridays and Mondays being consecutive days, then 

that employee shall receive a 10% increase to his or her salary for all such 

hours worked. 

 

  4. Equipment Operators Pay 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department 

Head’s designee to perform the duties of an Equipment Operator for a 

period of at least four consecutive hours or longer, then that employee shall 

receive a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked. 

 

If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the 

Department Head’s designee to perform the duties of an Equipment 

Operator on the following equipment;  

 

• Five-yard and above size truck and trailer (license required). 

• Sweeper 

• Bull Dozer 

• Large Front Loader 

 

then that employee shall receive a 5% increase to salary for all such 

hours worked.  

 

 

 F. Public Works Employees, Shift Changes Shift Differential 

1. Shift Changes: In order to provide necessary services, the hours of Public 

Works employees may be adjusted from time to time.  However, when a 

change in a schedule occurs within the given two-week pay period, all non-

overtime hours worked outside of the pre-adjustment work schedule shall 

be additionally compensated at a rate equal to 5% of base wage rate. 

 

2. Shift Differential: Employees who are required to report to work two or 

more hours before the employee’s regular time to begin work, shall receive 

a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked prior to regular work 

hours. 

 

Employees who are required to report to work two four or more hours before 

the employee’s regular time to begin work, shall receive a 5% 7% increase 

to salary for all such hours worked prior to regular work hours. 

 



 

 
7   

 

G. Emergency Call Back Compensation 

1. “Call back” refers to a situation where an employee has completed his/her 

regular work day without knowing that he/she would be called back (by 

his/her superior or as a result of emergency circumstances) to work during 

hours of the day not occurring during the employee’s regular workday.  An 

employee who is required to come to work not more than one hour early, 

but is not thereafter released from work before the start of the regular 

workday is not on “call back”. 

 

2. Employees called back to work shall be treated as having worked at least 

two three hours, even if actual time is less. 

 

3. Public Works: The rate of pay for Public Works department employees 

covered by this agreement (except the department head and the 

Maintenance Superintendent) call back hours is as follows 

 

i. Two and a half times the employee’s hourly base rate for hours 

served between the hours of 10pm and 6 am; or 

 

ii. Two times hourly base rate for hours served during other times of 

the day. 

4. For all employees not covered by subsection, (c) (except those in the 

management bargaining unit) call back hours will be paid the same as 

overtime. 

 

5. Time spent traveling to and from the place of call back work is not counted 

in applying the provisions of this section, or XXIX. E.  

 

6. Units of time that are both call back and overtime will receive the most 

favorable of the two treatments, but no single unit of time will be treated as 

both call back and overtime. 

 

H. Parking Enforcement Officers: Parking enforcement officers shall receive a 

minimum of 4 hours pay for court appearances that are not scheduled as part of 

their regular workday. 

 

I. License and Certificate Reimbursement:  The City will reimburse employees for 

the cost of specialized licenses and certificates required to perform their job. 

 

J.  Signing Bonus: Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018.  All 

full-time employees at the time of ratification in the ACE bargaining unit shall 

receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The one-time 

signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the 

Capitola City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time 

shall receive a prorated signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week 

shall receive a one-time $1125 signing bonus, employees working 20 hours per 

week shall receive a one-time $750 signing bonus). 

 

III.  OVERTIME 



 

 
8   

All employees within the Union are hourly employees and can accrue overtime subject to 

the laws, rules, regulations and any other MOU provisions of the City, state and federal 

government.  The normal regular work week commences on Sunday and consists of forty 

(40) hours except that the regular work week of public works department personnel 

engaged in maintenance activities shall be as approved by the City Manager.  Except for 

employees exempt under the FLSA, overtime will be compensated at the rate of one and 

one-half times the base rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 hours per week in a 

workweek.  Such additional compensation shall, at the employee’s election, be either in 

cash or compensatory time off, in accordance with Labor Code section 204.3.  The 

Department Head must approve overtime. 

  

“Hours worked” shall not include sick leave,  Nor shall such a definition include vacation, 

or compensated leave time off not scheduled in advance by at least ten working days.  

“Hours Worked” shall also not include workers compensation time off unless immediate 

treatment is required on the date of injury for the injury incurred, in which case overtime 

is allowed providing the overtime accrued is an extension of the workday and the hours 

worked for the week exceed 40 hours. 

 

 

 

 

IV.  MERIT PAY AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF INCREASES 

 

A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

Any other mid-pay period payroll adjustments will occur at the beginning of the pay period 

in which the adjustments falls for all odd numbered calendar years; and, at the beginning 

of the following pay period for the even number calendar years. 

 

When an employee has not been approved for advancement to the next higher wage step, 

the employee shall be reconsidered for such advancement after the completion of either 

three months of additional service, or after a period of three to six months of additional 

service if the supervisor concludes that three months will be insufficient time to evaluate 

whether the performance deficiencies that led to the denial of the step increase have been 

adequately addressed.  At the time a step increase is denied, the supervisor shall identify 

in writing the timing of reconsideration of the step increase.  An employee whose step 

increase is denied shall also be advised in writing (typically in a performance evaluation) 

of the reason(s) why the step increase was denied.  Grants and denials of step increases 

shall be on a merit basis only. 

 

Regardless of whether subsequent reconsideration of a denial of a step increase does or 

does not result in a step increase, the employee’s annual review date shall be as originally 

designated.  
 

V.  VACATION 

 A. Accrual 

Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of 

accrual are as follows: 

 

  Years of Employment  Vacation Days 



 

 
9   

  1 and 2    12 

  3 and 4    14 

  5 through 9   17 

  10 through 19   22 

  20 and higher   27 

 B. Accumulation 

1. An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must 

cash out pursuant to Section V.E. below, all accumulated vacation in 

excess of 360 hours; except that  

 

2. An employee who had accumulated more than 360 hours as of January 1, 

2011 may maintain that level: provided, however, that if accumulated 

vacation falls below 360 hours, the provisions of Section V.B.1, above, 

shall thereafter apply. 

 

 C. Scheduling 

Vacations shall be scheduled upon the request of the employee and the approval 

of the Department.  The Department shall consider both the desire of the 

employee and the needs of the Department in deciding whether to approve or 

deny a vacation request. 

 

Vacation sign-ups shall be on a first come first serve basis.  If more employees 

request vacation for a given time than can be accommodated by the Department, 

the more senior employee shall be given the time off.  Nothing herein shall 

require the cancellation of an already approved vacation for a less senior 

employee upon the request of a more senior employee.  “Seniority” as used in this 

section shall mean length of continuous employment in a paid status in a regular 

position. 

 

 D. Vacation Cash Out On Termination 

Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the 

separation date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate.  

Alternatively, an employee may individually contractually establish, in writing, 

with the City Manager, mutually agreeable provisions regarding the timing and 

terms of the cash payout. 

 

 E. Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours or who is subject to a 

higher accumulation level under Section V(B)(2),as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly 

pay rate for all hours in excess of 360 or that applicable higher accumulation level 

except that such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation accrual 

amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first 

full pay period in May. 

 

 F. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

In any calendar year, an employee may cash out up to 40 hours of accumulated 

vacation. 

 

VI.  SICK LEAVE 

 



 

 
10   

 A. Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days 

accrue each calendar year.  Parking Enforcement Officers working a 4/10 shift shall 

accrue 120 hours per calendar year. 

  

B  Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in 

accordance with the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 

 

C. An employee who becomes ill or is hospitalized while on vacation and provides a 

written statement from a licensed physician or medical doctor that the illness would 

have resulted in the employee not being able to come to work, shall have the period 

of illness charged against sick leave and not vacation leave. 
 

D. Sick Leave Cash Out 

  Sick Leave may not be cashed out. 

 

 

VII. HOLIDAYS 

 

 A. Schedule 

There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

                     

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *    

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   10/11/    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/       

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. 

Holidays listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  

Holidays occurring on a Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

Holiday time will be for the regularly scheduled shift time.  For example, if the 

regularly scheduled shift is 8.5 hours, employee will receive 8.5 hours of 

holiday time.  If the regularly scheduled shift is 6 hours, employee will receive 

6 hours of holiday time. 

 

In addition, offices located at the Community Center or at City Hall will be 

closed for one week during the Christmas holidays during which employees 

affected by the closure will be permitted to use vacation, personal holidays or sick 



 

 
11   

leave in order not to lose compensation. All other City offices and programs shall 

remain open during this period.  

 

B. Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year. 

Unused Personal Holidays are not cumulative. shall be used by the employee no 

later than December 31st of each year and non-cumulative. 

 

C. Holiday Hours Bank 

Police Clerks, Parking Enforcement Officers, Administrative Records Analyst and 

the Police Department Administrative Assistant shall receive a bank of holiday 

hours, based upon eight (8) hours for each holiday, to be taken in the same manner 

as Police Officers. 

 

 

D. Public Works Holidays 

 

1. The following holidays will be considered work days for the Public Works 

Department. 

 

• Memorial Day 

• Independence Day 

• Labor Day 

 

Public works employees will report to work on those days at their normal shift 

time, unless time off has been previously approved.  Requests for time off on 

these three days will not be approved until required staffing has been met.  

Public Works employees working on these holidays will be able to “bank” their 

holiday time for the day and use it as approved leave at a future date but no later 

than December 31st of each year.  Public Works employees that receive 

approval for time off must use the holiday time on the date.   

 

Public Works employees may be required to work holidays.  Employees 

who work on any holidays will use holiday time on the holiday and it will 

count as hours work.  Actual hours worked will be in addition and will 

considered overtime if hours meet the weekly overtime threshold. The City 

reserves the right to change Public Works Employees hours in order to 

cover Holidays in accordance with Section II F. 1 of this MOU. 

 

 

VIII.  BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

 

Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this 

section shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For 

purposes of this section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-

father, husband, wife, domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, 

daughter, step-daughter, brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-



 

 
12   

law, mother-in-law, father-in-law and grandparents, and any individual to whom an 

employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 

IX.  JURY DUTY 

  

Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent 

traveling from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be 

deposited with the City Treasurer.  

 

X.  LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY 

 

A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

XI.  ACCRUALS AFTER DATE OF SEPARATION 

 

An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may 

extend the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly 

allotment.  “Yearly allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was 

entitled to accrue in his/her last year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state 

law, none of the following accrue after the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal 

holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the 

insurance premiums described in Section XIII.A. below. 

 

XII.  BENEFITS FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 

Sick leave benefits are described in Section VI above. 

 

XIII.  FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

A. The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on 

behalf of each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those 

employees who have selected health coverage through CalPERS, from the monthly 

contribution set forth herein, $112 effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective 

January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 2013 will be paid to CalPERS 

for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This amount is the 

minimum amount required by CalPERS, recognizing that state law may increase 

this minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s 

maximum contribution below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For 

all employees the City will no longer charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck 

plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period in July 2012 the contribution, for full-

time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July, 2013, the full time regular employees shall 

be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 



 

 
13   

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 

 
Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $718 
 Employee +1  $921 
 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $735 
 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $754 
 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 

 Employee Only  $773 
 Employee +1  $992 
 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

 

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum contribution 

(inclusive of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800.00 $1150.00 $1400.00 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824.00 $1250.00 $1500.00 

 

 

B.       Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent 

group health coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain 

in effect until the next enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of 

$250.00 per month. will be eligible for a cash payment based on the following 

schedule.  Current employee is defined as an employee hired prior to the 

ratification of MOU amendment.  Current employees who choose health 

coverage, will no longer be eligible for current employee cash payment 

amount. 

 
Effective Dates Current Employee New Employee 

First full pay period in 

July 2018  

$773.00 $250.00 

; or who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not 

use their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits 

other than medical (including dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for 

the “Employee only” contribution amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included 

in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 



 

 
14   

C. The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as 

they may become available.  The City will enable interested employees to 

participate in union sponsored medical plans.   The City reserves the right to change 

providers at any time. If the City determines that the CalPERS PEMHCA plans do 

not provide affordable or beneficial options for County employees for any 

subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right to exit CalPERS and change 

providers. 

 

D.  The City will allow, and to a minor degree facilitate, the LIUNA Health Care Health 

Care plan availability to the represented membership.  This benefit shall be at no 

cost to the City, with the exception of a minor amount of staff time, as may be 

determined by the City Manager, to administer the disbursements of premium 

payments.   

 

E.  The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as 

they may become available. 

 

XIV.  RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

 

 A. CalPERS 

The City participates in the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 

(CalPERS) operated by the State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in 

separate publications, depending upon the plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 

Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, with the single-highest year option. The 

City’s contribution toward the combined employer and employee cost of PERS 

retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the actual 

PERS contribution rate exceeds 16.488% of reportable salary for any fiscal year, 

the employee will pay the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be 

reported in accordance with the current CalPERS contract, i.e.: the employee 

portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap is reported to CalPERS as paid by the 

employee. 

 

  In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City  

  paying 8% of the normal member’s contributions as Employer Paid Member  

  Contributions (EPMC), with additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a  

  total of 16.259% through June 30, 2019.  The City agrees to report the value of  

  the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary for retirement benefit plan  

  purposes.    

 

Beginning July 1, 2018, all classic employees shall contribute 13.392% of 

their reportable salary to CalPERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced 

unless negotiated by the parties in future negotiations. 
 

 

For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS 

contribution rate shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable 

salary.  Once an employee hired on or after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of 

total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms that apply to all other current 

employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for employees hired 

after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 



 

 
15   

All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain 

as stated above at 16.488%. 

 

Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) for Miscellaneous Employees 

hired by the City on or after January 1, 2013 and do not qualify as Classic 

members as determined by CalPERS: For new miscellaneous employees hired by 

the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who do not qualify as classic 

members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 2.0% @ 

62 pension formula, based on a three-year average compensation. Employees in 

this category shall pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CalPERS. 
 

 B. LIUNA National Industry Pension 

General Government Employees: The City will contribute $0.25 per hour (not 

including overtime or compensatory time) each pay period to the LIUNA pension 

fund on behalf of each of the following classifications (which were formerly a 

separate unit with a separate MOU represented by LIUNA):  Mechanic, Parking 

Enforcement Officer, Equipment Operator, Maintenance Worker I, II & III and 

Recreation Facility Custodian.  The compensation schedules attached hereto will 

be reduced $.25 per hour.  The City’s sole obligation shall be to forward designated 

amounts to the fund.  The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the City against 

any and all claims made as a result of the City’s actions pursuant to this section. 
 

Association of Capitola Employees: The City will allow the pretax contributions 

to LIUNA National Industry Pension for the following classifications formerly 

comprising the separate ACE Unit in the same manner as the General 

Government Employees when, and if past service credit benefit again becomes 

available:  Account Technician, Accounts Receivable/Payable Clerk, Accountant 

I, & II, Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Building Inspector I, Building Inspector II, Class 

Coordinator, Development Services  Technician, Data Entry Clerk, Information 

Systems Specialist, Museum Curator, Assistant Planner, Receptionist, Records 

Clerk, Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Recreation Assistant 

and Recreation Receptionist,  Sports Coordinator. 

 

Account Technician, Accountant I, Accountant II, Accounts Clerk, 

Administrative Assistant, Administrative Clerk I, Administrative Clerk II, 

Administrative Records Analyst, Assistant Planner, Building Inspector I, Building 

Inspector II, Data Entry Clerk, Development Services Technician, Equipment 

Operator, Maintenance Worker I, Maintenance Worker II, Maintenance Worker 

III, Mechanic, Museum Curator, Parking Enforcement Officer, Receptionist, 

Records Coordinator, Records Management Clerk, Records Technician, 

Recreation Assistant,  Recreation Coordinator, Recreation Facility Custodian, 

Recreation Receptionist 

 

 

 

 

XV.  PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS 
 



 

 
16   

The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide a bi-annual 

physical examination for employee.  Public Works employees may have the physical on 

an annual basis. The City will pay the amount not covered by the health care program. 

 

XVI.  LIFE INSURANCE 

 

The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

 

XVII.  MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 

 

Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

XVIII.  UNIFORMS 

 

City will purchase uniforms for newly hired police department employees and will repair 

or replace uniforms on an as needed basis.  In addition City will cover the cost of reasonable 

cleaning of police department authorized uniforms.  Employees will be responsible for 

delivering uniforms to, and retrieving uniforms from, the employer designated cleaning 

establishment. 

 

XIX.  SHOES, APPAREL AND EQUIPMENT REIMBURSEMENTS 

 

A. Parking Code Enforcement Officers:  The City will also cover the cost of needed 

uniform item replacements, including shoes and will provide needed wheelchair 

repair and maintenance.  Necessity will be reasonably determined by employer.  

Wheelchairs provided by the City shall remain property of the City. 

 

B. Safety Shoes and Apparel: Equipment Operator, Mechanic, Maintenance Worker 

and Recreation Facility Custodian will each calendar year receive: one pair of 

approved safety shoes, up to five city-logoed shirts, and up to five pairs of denims. 

The Public Works Director shall determine replacement frequency and kind. 

 

XX.  INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

  

 A. Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base 

pay shall be increased as follows: 

 

  1. 15 years' continuous service – 5.0% 

  2. 20 years' continuous service - an additional 5.0%, which shall be   

   compounded with the 15-year recognition. 
 

 B.    Education Reimbursement Program 

For employees who received advance approval from the City Manager prior to 

October 12, 2006, the City will reimburse employees for tuition and textbooks upon 

the completion of courses approved in advance by the City Manager in accordance 

with the following schedule: 

 



 

 
17   

State supported California colleges and universities - 100% tuition and textbook 

reimbursement. 

 

 Private colleges and universities - 100% of tuition or the tuition of the University 

of California whichever is less. Textbook reimbursement will be at 100%. 

 

The grandfathered employees are listed in Attachment 2 to this MOU. 

 

For all other employees, the City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the 

completion of courses approved in advance by the City Manager up to a maximum 

of $500 $1000.00 per calendar year for classes completed in that same calendar 

year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 

 C. Bilingual Pay 

Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to 

five (5%) percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

  1. Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as    

  administered by the Personnel Department on an annual basis to   

  maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive the annual   

  testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the   

  department head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

 2. The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and   

  ongoing basis, as certified by the Department Head.  

 

XXI.  PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS 

 

For probationary employees, a performance evaluation is required, at a minimum, every 

three months. 

 

For permanent employees, a performance evaluation is required annually.  The completed 

evaluation should be submitted ten working days before the annual due date.  Nothing in 

this provision shall prevent departments from issuing performance evaluations more 

frequently than the required time period. 

 

Merit pay increases will go into effect on a timely basis, unless the performance evaluation 

of less than “meets standards” has been completed at least two weeks prior to the 

anniversary date. 

 

If an employee does not agree with an evaluation, the employee may prepare a written 

response to the evaluation which shall be kept in the employee’s personnel file with the 

contested evaluation.  The employee also may request a meeting with the City Manager to 

discuss the evaluation. 

 

XXII.  LUNCH AND REST PERIODS 

 

Full-time employees shall be entitled to an unpaid lunch period of thirty (30) minutes at or 

about the mid-point of their workday.  If an emergency occurs such that there is a need for 



 

 
18   

the employee to work during the employee’s lunch period, the employee will be 

compensated for the lunch period. 

Employees shall be allowed a 15 minute rest period during each four hours of work.  An 

exception to this general rule is that the rest periods may be combined and scheduled as 

mutually agreed to by an employee and supervisor.  In addition, the City reserves the right 

in emergency situations to require employees to work through rest periods. 

 

Rest periods shall be considered compensable work time. 

 

XXIII.  EMERGENCY MEALS 

 

The City shall arrange for meals for employees assigned to work four (4) or more hours 

contiguous to the employee’s shift when the employee is not provided notice of the need 

to work the overtime at least 12 hours prior to either commencing the overtime work or 

shift. 

 

XXIV.  LIGHT DUTY ASSIGNMENT 

 

An employee who has been cleared by a physician to return to work with specified medical 

restrictions, may return to work within those restrictions, at the City’s discretion.  The 

release must be in writing.  Nothing in this section is intended to imply that an employee 

has a right to a light duty assignment.  All such assignments are temporary assignments 

and are subject to the Department Head’s periodic review of the employee’s continued 

need for limited duty and the City’s ability to continue the employee in the assignment.  

No change in base pay will result from this assignment. 

 

XXV.  PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

 

Regular Appointment Following Probationary Period.  All original and promotional 

appointments shall be tentative and subject to an initial probationary period of six (6) 

months actual service, as may be adjusted for approved leave, to be determined for each 

class by the Personnel Officer.  The Department Head may recommend and the Personnel 

Officer may approve an extension of the initial probationary period up to six (6) 

additional months.  The Probationary employee shall be informed three (3) weeks prior to 

the expiration of any probationary period, that the probationary period will be extended, 

and reasons shall be given for the extension. 

 

The Department Head shall file with the Personnel Officer a Personnel Action Form that 

either (1) the service of the probationary employees has been satisfactory and that 

retention in the competitive service of such employee is denied; (2) the probationary 

period should be extended; or (3) the service of the employee has been unsatisfactory and 

his/her employment should be terminated.  If at anytime during the probationary period 

the department head notifies the Personnel Officer that performance is less than 

satisfactory, the Personnel Officer will communicate that less than satisfactory 

performance to the appointing authority who may give or cause to be given to the 

employee a notice of immediate termination. 

 

Objective of Probationary Period:  The probationary period shall be regarded as part of 

the examination process and shall be utilized for closely observing the employee’s actual 

performance and for securing the most effective adjustment of a new employee to his/her 

position. 



 

 
19   

 

Rejection of Probationer:  During the probationary period, an employee may be rejected 

at any time by the appointing authority and without the right of appeal.  Written 

notification of rejection by the appointing authority shall be served on the probationer. 
 

Rejection Following Promotion:  The rules and rights afforded employees rejected during 

or at the conclusion of the probationary period following a promotional assignment shall 

be as set forth in the City’s Personnel Rules. 
 

XXVI.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

A. Definition of a Grievance:  A grievance is defined as an allegation presented in 

writing by an employee or group of employees that the City has failed to provide 

a condition of employment, which is established by law, Memorandum of 

Understanding, by written City or departmental rules, provided that the enjoyment 

of both such right is not made subject to the discretion of the Department Head or 

the City by the terms of law, Memorandum of Understanding, or by written City 

or departmental rules and, provided further, that the conditions of employment 

which are the subject matter within the scope of representation as defined in 

California Government Code Section 3504.  Notwithstanding the above, excluded 

from this grievance procedure are employee evaluations, and any other matter that 

is assigned its own appeal procedure such as discipline and an alleged violation of 

the harassment policy. 

 

B. Right to Representation:  An employee having a grievance shall have the right to 

consult with and be assisted by a representative of his/her own choice throughout 

the grievance process.  In those cases in which an employee elects to represent 

him/herself or arranges for other representation, the Union shall have the right to 

participate in the grievance procedure to the extent necessary to protect the 

interest of its members in negotiated conditions of employment. 

 

C. Limitations on Money Damages:  In no event shall any grievance include a claim 

for money relief for more than the twenty-one day period plus such reasonable 

discovery period, unless otherwise provided by law. 

 

D. Procedure: Failure of the employee to timely file a grievance and/or comply with 

the time limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall constitute an 

abandonment of the grievance.  Failure of the employer to respond within the time 

limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall result in an automatic 

advancement of the grievance to the next step.  The parties may mutually agree to 

extend the time permitted under any of the steps 

 

Step 1 

A grievance must be presented to the grievant’s supervisor within twenty-one (21) 

calendar days from the day upon which the City allegedly failed to provide a condition of 

employment, or within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the time in which an 

employee might reasonably have been expected to have learned of such alleged failure to 

provide.  The written grievance shall include the following: 

 

a) Date of submission; 

b) Signature of employee or employees; 



 

 
20   

c) The MOU provision, Personnel Rule, Administrative Policy or other rule 

or policy allegedly violated; 

d) A description of the relevant facts, including specifically how, when and 

by whom the grieved condition of employment was violated; 

e) The requested resolution or remedy; and  

f) The name of any representative chosen by the grievant. 

 

The supervisor shall provide the grievant with a written response within seven (7) actual 

working days. 

 

Step 2 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the employee shall have seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the supervisor’s Step 1 response to file an appeal with the 

Department Head.  The Department Head may, but is not required to, meet with the 

grievant to discuss the grievance.  The Department Head shall have seven (7) actual 

working days from either receipt of the appeal, or the meeting with the grievant, 

whichever is later, to provide the grievant with a written response. 

 

Step 3 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the employee shall have seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the Department Head’s Step 2 response to file an appeal 

with the City Manager.  The City Manager shall meet with the grievant and other persons 

the City Manager believes would be useful to the City Manager’s consideration of the 

grievance within seven (7) actual working days after receipt of the grievant’s appeal.  The 

City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from the date of the meeting with 

the grievant to provide the grievant with a written decision. 

 

The Union may, in its own name, file a grievance with the City Manager alleging that the 

City has failed to provide it some organizational right which is established by law, 

provided that such right is not made subject to the discretion of the City.  Such Union 

grievance shall be filed with the City Manager and heard and determined pursuant to the 

provisions of this step of the grievance procedure.  The City Manager shall meet with the 

Union and other persons the City Manager believes would be useful to the City 

Manager’s consideration of the grievance within (7) actual working days after receipt of 

the Union’s grievance.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from 

the date of the meeting with the Union to provide the Union with a written decision. 

 

 

 

Step 4 

An employee dissatisfied with the City Manager’s decision on the employee’s Step 3 

grievance may appeal the grievance to the City Council within (7) seven actual working 

days of receipt of the City Manager’s decision. The City Council will schedule a hearing 

within a reasonable time period after receipt of the appeal.  The decision of the City 

Council following the hearing shall be final. 

 

XXVII. LAYOFFS 

 

Layoffs shall be governed by Personnel Rule 12.  The City will make its best efforts to 

provide an additional 30 days of EAP benefits to employees who are laid off to assist them 

in their transition.  If continued EAP benefits are not available, the City will meet with the 



 

 
21   

Union to discuss the possibility of the City providing laid off workers with guidance on 

resume writing, conducting a job search, job interviewing, coping with stress and/or 

unemployment insurance benefits. 

 

XXVIII. SAFETY 

 

The City and employees shall comply with all Federal, State and local health and safety 

laws and regulations and the City’s “Loss Control, Injury and Illness Prevention Safety 

Program.”  At least two employees within this bargaining unit shall be permitted to serve 

on the City-wide safety committee called for in the City’s “Loss Control, Injury and Illness 

Prevention Safety Program.” 

  

 

XXIX.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating 

individual contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of 

situations in which the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating 

his/her employment or temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting 

provision does not purport to affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

 A. Legal Defense 

Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding 

described in Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or 

proceeding described in Section 995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding 

described in Government Code Section 995.8.  "Proceeding" as used in this section 

is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, but not filed, if a 

reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a 

defense, but a court or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, 

preclude City payments for defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, 

and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset any such amounts against compensation 

otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

 B. Use of Employer Facilities 

Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made 

available, upon timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity 

representing the employees.  Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, 

other than the lunch period.  Application for such use shall be made to the 

management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

 C. Bargaining Time 

   A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the 

bargaining unit shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a 

reasonable period without loss of pay, for the purpose of participating in contract 

negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege to participate in any 

meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for review 

of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

 D. Re-opener 



 

 
22   

This Agreement may be reopened upon written request to discuss only health care 

and/or CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total 

combined miscellaneous PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available 

city sponsored health plans for an Employee plus 2 increases by 25% over the 

current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this agreement obligates the City to commit to 

any increases. The parties agree that all other terms and conditions of the agreement 

are not subject to the reopener clause. 

 

 D. Required Meetings 

Administrative staff members covered under this MOU who are required to attend 

meetings outside their regular work schedules will be paid at the overtime rate (1.5) 

for two hours, or for the hours actually worked, whichever is greater. 

 

 E. Disciplinary Appeal 

Employees of this unit shall have available to them the predisciplinary Skelly 

meeting for any discipline that results in a suspension of one day without pay or 

more. In addition, all disciplinary matters of three days suspension without pay or 

greater shall be subject to Personnel Rule 11, section 7.a. for post discipline appeals. 

 

 

 

F. Personnel Rules 

The City retains the right to amend and create personnel rules, provided they are 

not in conflict with specific provisions of this MOU.  Where appropriate, City will 

meet and confer with applicable employee group or groups (Government Code 

Section 3300 and following), before amending or creating new personnel rules 

 

G. Fair Labor Standards Act 

All positions included in this Memorandum of Understanding are covered by 

appropriate sections of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1935, as amended. 

 

I.  Me Too Clause: If during the effective time period of this agreement, the Police 

Officers Association receives a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in 

an amount greater than the terms included in this agreement, the members of ACE 

shall receive the same COLA and/or Flex Plan increase at the same time.  

 

H. Compensation Study: The parties agree to begin meeting once per month, 

beginning in January 2019 to attempt reach agreement on the comparable 

agencies, bench mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation 

study in preparation for successor contract negotiations of this MOU.  The 

Union and the City agree to meet at least 5 times. Should agreement be made, 

the City agrees to prepare the data and present to the Union at least 180 

calendar days prior to the expiration of the MOU.  Implementation of any 

results is subject to the bargaining process for successor MOU.  The data shall 

be reverified and updated to ensure that it is current and relevant for the 

purposes of the study.        

 

 
 
 

 



 

 
23   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   ASSOCIATION OF CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES 

      

 

__________________________  __________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein                 Ryan Heron, UPEC, Local 792 

City Manager    Labor Representative 

 

 

________________________  __________________________________ 

Larry Laurent    Jesse Franchi 

Assistant to the City Manager      

   

     __________________________________ 

     Denice Pearson 

 

 

     __________________________________ 

     Matt Orbach 

 

      

                    __________________________________    

     Chris Macias 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments:  

1. Salary Schedule 

 



 

 
24   

               

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 1: Salary Schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

MID-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD   

7/01/2018 to 6/30/2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                          Page 

SECTION I WAGE SCHEDULES/EMPLOYMENT STATUS………………    1 

 Service……. ………………………………………………………………… 2       
 Acting Appointment Compensation……………………..……………………    2 

 Overtime……………………..……………………………………..…………    3 

 Effective Date of Pay Increase…………………..……………………………    3 

 Signing Bonus………………………………………………………………… 4 

 Total Compensation Study……………………………………………………. 4 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .   .   .   .     4 

 Vacation ………………………………………………………………………. 4 

 Sick……….……………………………………………………………………. 5  

 Personal Holidays……………………………………………………………… 5 

 Bereavement…………………………………………………………………… 5 

 Holiday Schedule………………………………………………………………… 6 

 Jury Duty………………………………………………………………………. 6 

 Leave of Absence without pay…………………………………………………. 7 

 Accruals after date of separation…………………………………………………. 8 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS ………………………………………………………….. 8 

 Flexible Spending……………………………………………………………… 8 

Retirement……………………………………………………………………… 8 

 Shoes & Apparel…………………………………………………………….… 9 

 Physical Exams………………………………………………………………… 9 

 Insurance………………………………………………………………………. 9 

 Mileage Reimbursement…………………………………………….…………. 10 

  

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  …………………………………….… 10 

 Longevity……………………………………………………………………... 10 

 Education……………………………………………………………………… 10 

 Bilingual Pay……………………………………………………………….. …        10 

SECTION V: EMERGENCY MEALS    .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 10 

SECTION VI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES  .   .   .    .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 10 

SECTION VII: LAYOFFS……………..  .   .   .    .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 12 

SECTION VIII: MISCELLANEOUS  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .  .    . 12 

 Legal Defense……….………………………………………………...........  12 

 Use of Employer Facilities………………………………………………....  13 

 Bargaining Time…………………………………………………………..… 13 



2 

 

 Re-opener…………………………………………………………………….. 13 

 Required Meeting…………………………………………………………….. 15 

 Emergency Call Back…………………………….…………………………… 15 

 POA “Me Too” Clause…………………………….…………………………… 14 

 Severability……………………………………………………………………... 16 

                    



3 

 

MIDDLE MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES 

 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and the Mid-Management employees.   Classifications 

covered by this MOU are:  Associate Planner, Public Works Project Manager, Senior Planner, 

Maintenance Superintendent, Field Supervisor, Recreation Supervisor, Building Official, 

Environmental Projects Manager, and Senior Accountant.  This MOU shall be in effect for the 

period beginning on July 1, 2018 and ending on June 30, 2020 and shall be effective upon 

ratification by the bargaining unit and approval by the Capitola City Council. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

SECTION I.  WAGE SCHEDULES/HOURLY RATES/EMPLOYEE STATUS 

 

The wage schedule attached to this Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, 

subject to such adjustments (such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  

Letters  “A” to “E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include overtime or 

benefits.  

 

The City will compile and average the San Francisco – Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price 

Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for January 2013 through October  2013* See a below.  

If the resulting figure for averaged CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the 

percentage for salary increase for members of the unit, effective first full pay period in July, 

2014 through the pay period ending July 5th 2014. 

 

   a. Effective the first full pay period of July 2014, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be readjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2013. 

 

 b. Effective the first full pay period in July 2015, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2014 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  



4 

 

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council approval of the 

successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

C. Merit Pay 

 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

 When an employee has not been approved for advancement to the next higher wage step, 

the employee shall be reconsidered for such advancement after the completion of either three 

months of additional service, or after a period of three to six months of additional service if the 

supervisor concludes that three months will be insufficient time to evaluate whether the 

performance deficiencies that led to the denial of the step increase have been adequately 

addressed.  At the time a step increase is denied, the supervisor shall identify in writing the 

timing of reconsideration of the step increase.  An employee whose step increase is denied shall 

also be advised in writing (typically in a performance evaluation) of the reason(s) why the step 

increase was denied.  Grants and denials of step increases shall be on a merit basis only. 

 

 Regardless of whether subsequent reconsideration of a denial of a step increase does or 

does not result in a step increase, the employee’s annual review date shall be as originally 

designated. 

 

1.  Service 

 The word "service" as used in this Memorandum of Understanding means continuous full-

time service in the position in which the employee is being considered for salary advancement, 

service in a higher position, or service in a position allocated to the same salary schedule and 

having generally similar duties and requirements.  A lapse of service of any employee for a period 

of time longer than thirty days by reason of resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the 

accumulated length of service time of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the 

service of the City shall be considered as a new employee, unless another standard is established 

by the personnel rules, in which case that standard shall apply. 

 

2.  Types of Appointment: For all types of appointments refer to the personnel rules except for 

Acting Appointments and Equipment Operator 

A. Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by the City 

Manager. An acting appointment occurs when an employee is temporarily assigned to, and 



5 

 

performs all duties of a position other than the position he/she normally occupies or when 

an employee is assigned an acting appointment pending evaluation of the employee’s 

ability to perform the duties of the position.  While serving under an acting appointment, 

an employee will receive additional compensation as determined by the City Manager.  

Such pay will be no less than 5% above the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be 

up to, but ordinarily will not be in excess of the first step of the position occupied. 

 

B. If an employee is designated by the Department Head or the Department Head’s 

designee to perform the duties of an Equipment Operator on the following 

equipment;  

• Ten-yard Truck and Trailer (license required) 

• Sweeper 

• Bull Dozer 

• Front Loader 

 

that employee shall receive a 5% increase to salary for all such hours worked. 

 

3.  Overtime 

All employees within the Mid-Management unit except for the position of Building 

Official, Public Works Project Manager, Environmental Projects Manager, Senior Planner 

and Senior Accountant which are exempt from FLSA, are hourly employees and can accrue 

overtime subject to the laws, rules, regulations and any other MOU provisions of the City, state 

and federal government. 

 

 The normal regular work week commences on Sunday and consist of forty (40) hours 

except that the regular work week of public works department personnel engaged in maintenance 

activities shall be as approved by the City Manager.  Except for employees exempt under the 

FLSA, overtime will be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times the base rate of pay for 

all hours worked over 40 hours per week in a workweek.  Such additional compensation shall, at 

the employee’s election, be either in cash or compensatory time off, in accordance with Labor 

Code section 204.3.   

 

 With regard to this section “hours worked” shall not include sick leave.  Nor shall such a 

definition include vacation or compensated leave time off not scheduled in advance by at least ten 

working days.  “Hours Worked” shall also not include workers compensation time off unless 

immediate treatment is required on the date of injury for the injury incurred, in which case overtime 

is allowed providing the overtime accrued is an extension of the workday and the hours worked 

for the week exceed 40 hours. 

 

 The position of Building Official, Public Works Project Manager, Environmental Projects 

Manager, Senior Planner, and Senior Accountant are professional positions exempt under FLSA, 

and therefore not entitled to overtime compensation.  An Employee filling exempt positions are 

entitled to ten days per year of administrative time off.  Administrative leave is non-cumulative.  

It may not be converted to cash.  One year’s worth of Administrative Leave becomes available on 

the first day of the calendar year.  The exception is persons hired mid-year, in which case 

administrative leave is prorated for the applicable period. (Reso. #3486) 



6 

 

 

4.  Effective Date of Pay Increase 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 

 Any other mid-pay period payroll adjustments will occur at the beginning of the pay period 

in which the adjustments fall for all odd numbered calendar years; and, at the beginning of the 

following pay period for the even number calendar years 
 

5. Signing Bonus 

 

Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018 which is ratified by the 

membership.  All full-time employees at the time of ratification in the Mid-Management 

bargaining unit shall receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The 

one-time signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the 

Capitola City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time shall receive a 

prorated signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week shall receive a one-time 

$1125 signing bonus, employees working 20 hours per week shall receive a one-time $750 

signing bonus). 

 

6. Total Compensation Study 

 

The parties agree to meet up to five meetings within the period of 270 -180 calendar days 

prior to the expiration of the contract to reach agreement on the comparable agencies, 

bench mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation study in preparation for 

successor contract negotiation post June 30, 2020.  If the parties are unable to reach 

agreement on the comparable agencies, benchmark classes and survey elements of a total 

compensation by 180 calendar days of the expiration of the contract, the parties are free to 

conduct their own respective total compensation study.  Implementation of any results is 

subject to the bargaining process for successor contract negotiations post June 30, 2020.        
 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS 

 

1.  Vacation  

     a.  Vacation Accrual 

 

 Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of accrual are 

as follows: 

 

   Years of Employment  Vacation Days 

      1 and 2    12 

      3 and 4    14 

      5 through 9    17 

      10 through 19   22 

      20 and higher   27 

 

     b. Accumulation 



7 

 

 An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must cash out 

pursuant to Section 12.d, below, all accumulated vacation in excess of 360 hours. 

 

     c.   Vacation Cash Out On Termination 

 Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the separation 

date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate. Alternatively, an employee may 

individually contractually establish, in writing, with the City Manager, mutually agreeable 

provisions regarding the timing and terms of the cash pay out. 

 

     d.  Vacation- Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate for 

all hours in excess of 360 such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation 

accrual amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first full 

pay period in May.       

 

    e. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

 

 In any calendar year an employee may cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated   vacation. 

 

2.  Sick Leave 

      a.  Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days accrue 

each calendar year. 

 

      b.   Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in accordance with 

the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 

 

c. An employee who becomes ill or is hospitalized while on vacation and provides a written 

statement from a licensed physician or medical doctor that the illness would have resulted 

in the employee not being able to come to work, shall have the period of illness charged 

against sick leave and not vacation leave. 
 

       d. Sick Leave Cash Out 

 Employees may not cash out sick leave. 

 

3.  Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year. Unused 

Personal Holidays are not cumulative shall be used by the employee no later than December 

31st of each year and are not cumulative. 

 

 

4.   Bereavement Leave 

 Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this section 

shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For purposes of this 



8 

 

section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-father, husband, wife, 

domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, daughter, step-daughter, 

brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-

law and grandparents, and any individual to whom an employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 

5.  A. Holiday Schedule 

 There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

 

                   

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *    

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   10/11/    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/    

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. Holidays 

listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  Holidays occurring on a 

Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

Holiday time will be for the regularly scheduled shift time.  For example, if the 

regularly scheduled shift is 8.5 hours, employee will receive 8.5 hours of holiday time.  

If the regularly scheduled shift is 6 hours, employee will receive 6 hours of holiday 

time. 

 

In addition, offices located at the Community Center or at City Hall will be closed for 

one week during the Christmas holidays during which employees affected by the closure 

will be permitted to use vacation, personal holidays or sick leave in order not to lose 

compensation. All other City offices and programs shall remain open during this 

period. 

 

B. Public Works employees may be required to work holidays. Employees who work on 

any holidays will use holiday time on the holiday and it will count as hours work. 

Actual hours will be in addition and will considered overtime if hours meet the weekly 

overtime threshold. 

   

 

6.   Jury Duty  



9 

 

 Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent traveling 

from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be deposited with the City 

Treasurer.  

 

7. Leave of Absence Without Pay 

 A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

 

8.  Accruals after Date of Separation 

 An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may extend 

the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly allotment.  “Yearly 

allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was entitled to accrue in his/her last 

year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state law, none of the following accrue after 

the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, 

Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the insurance premiums described in Section III.1 below. 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS 

(Regarding benefits available to part-time employees, see Section I.2, above.) 

 

1.  Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

 The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf of 

each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those employees who have 

selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly contribution set forth herein, $112 

effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 

2013 will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This 

amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing that state law may increase this 

minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s maximum contribution 

below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For all employees the City will no 

longer charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period 

in July 2012 the contribution, for full-time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July 2013 the contribution for full-time regular employees 

shall be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 
 

Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $718 

 Employee +1  $921 



10 

 

 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $735 

 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $754 

 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $773 

 Employee +1  $992 
 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

Proposed increases below is contingent upon agreement to changes to the City’s OPT 

language in Paragraph A below and modification to paragraph B below.  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum 

contribution (inclusive 

of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824 $1,339 $1,751 

 

A. Opt Out  

 Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent group health 

coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain in effect until the next 

enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month. ; or who purchase a 

CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use their entire monthly 

contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other than medical (including 

dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for the “Employee only” contribution 

amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the 

CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 

B.     The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they may 

become available.  The City will enable interested employees to participate in union sponsored 

medical plans.   The City reserves the right to change providers at any time. If the City determines 

that the CaLPERS PEMHCA plans do not provide affordable or beneficial options for County 

employees for any subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right to exit CaLPERS and change 

providers. The City reserves the right to change providers in accordance with CalPERS noticing 

requirement.  If the City determines that the CalPERS PEMHCA plans do not provide affordable 

or beneficial options for City employees for any subsequent plan year, the City reserves the right 

to exit CalPERS and change providers. 



11 

 

 

 

2.  Retirement Benefits PERS 

 

A. Classic Employees: 

 

 The City participates in the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) operated by the 

State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications, depending upon the 

plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, with the single-

highest year option. The City’s contribution toward the combined employer and employee cost of 

PERS retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the actual PERS 

contribution rate exceeds 16.488% of reportable salary for any fiscal year, the employee will pay 

the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be reported in accordance with the current 

CalPERS contract, ie: the employee portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap is reported to 

PERS as paid by the employee. 

 In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City paying 8% 

of the normal member’s contributions as Employer Paid Member Contributions (EPMC), with 

additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a total of 16.259% through June 30, 

2019.  The City agrees to report the value of the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary 

for retirement benefit plan purposes.    

 For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS contribution rate 

shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable salary.  Once an employee hired on or 

after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms 

that apply to all other current employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for 

employees hired after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain as 

stated above at 16.488%. 

 

Beginning June 21, 2018, all classic employees shall contribute 13.392% of their reportable 

salary to PERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced unless negotiated by the parties in 

future negotiations. 

 

  B.  PEPRA Employees: 

Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act for Miscellaneous Employees hired by the City on or 

after January 1, 2013 and do not qualify as Classic members as determined by CalPERS: For 

new miscellaneous employees hired by the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who 

do not qualify as classic members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 

2.0% @ 62 pension formula, based on a three-year average compensation. Employees in this 

category shall pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CALPERS. 
  

3. Shoes, and Apparel Reimbursements: 

 Each calendar year the Park Maintenance Field Supervisor and Street Maintenance 

Supervisor shall receive:  one pair of approved safety shoes, up to 5 city-logoed shirts, and up to 

5 pairs of denims.  Each calendar year the Maintenance Superintendent shall receive one pair of 

steel-toed boots, and a maximum of two pairs of pants.  The Public Works Director shall determine 

replacement frequency and kind. 



12 

 

 

4.  Physical Examinations 

 The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide an annual 

physical examination for employee.    The City will pay the amount not covered by the health care 

program. 

 

5.  Insurance. 

 The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

6.  Mileage Reimbursement 

  Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

 

1.  Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base pay shall 

be increased as follows: 

 

     a. 15 years' continuous service - 5% 

b.  20 years' continuous service - an additional 5%, which shall be compounded with the 15-

year recognition. 
 

2.   Education Reimbursement Program  

   

 The City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the completion of courses approved in 

advance by the City Manager up to a maximum of $500 per calendar year for classes completed 

in that same calendar year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 

3. Bilingual Pay 

 Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to    five 

(5%) percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

a) Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as administered by the Personnel 

Department on an annual basis to maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive 

the annual testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the department 

head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

b) The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and ongoing basis, as 

certified by the Department Head.  

 

SECTION V: EMERGENCY MEALS 

 



13 

 

The City shall arrange for meals for employees assigned to work four (4) or more hours contiguous 

to the employee’s shift when the employee is not provided notice of the need to work the overtime 

at least 12 hours prior to either commencing the overtime work or shift. 

 

SECTION VI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

A. Definition of a Grievance:  A grievance is defined as an allegation presented in writing 

by an employee or group of employees that the City has failed to provide a condition of 

employment, which is established by law, Memorandum of Understanding, by written City or 

departmental rules, provided that the enjoyment of both such right is not made subject to the 

discretion of the Department Head or the City by the terms of law, Memorandum of 

Understanding, or by written City or departmental rules and, provided further, that the conditions 

of employment which are the subject matter within the scope of representation as defined in 

California Government Code Section 3504.  Notwithstanding the above, excluded from this 

grievance procedure are employee evaluations, and any other matter that is assigned its own 

appeal procedure such as discipline and an alleged violation of the harassment policy. 

 

B. Right to Representation:  An employee having a grievance shall have the right to consult 

with and be assisted by a representative of his/her own choice throughout the grievance process.  

In those cases in which an employee elects to represent him/herself or arranges for other 

representation, the Union shall have the right to participate in the grievance procedure to the 

extent necessary to protect the interest of its members in negotiated conditions of employment. 

 

C. Limitations on Money Damages:  In no event shall any grievance include a claim for 

money relief for more than the twenty-one day period plus such reasonable discovery period, 

unless otherwise provided by law. 

 

D. Procedure: Failure of the employee to timely file a grievance and/or comply with the time 

limits at any step of this grievance procedure shall constitute an abandonment of the grievance.  

Failure of the employer to respond within the time limits at any step of this grievance procedure 

shall result in an automatic advancement of the grievance to the next step.  The parties may 

mutually agree to extend the time permitted under any of the steps 

 

Step 1 

A grievance must be presented to the grievant’ s supervisor within twenty-one (21) calendar days 

from the day upon which the City allegedly failed to provide a condition of employment, or 

within twenty-one (21) calendar days from the time in which an employee might reasonably have 

been expected to have learned of such alleged failure to provide.  The written grievance shall 

include the following: 

 

 a) Date of submission; 

 b) Signature of employee or employees; 

 c) The MOU provision, Personnel Rule, Administrative Policy or other rule   

 or policy allegedly violated; 

 d) A description of the relevant facts, including specifically how, when and   

 by whom the grieved condition of employment was violated; 



14 

 

 e) The requested resolution or remedy; and  

 f) The name of any representative chosen by the grievant. 

 

The supervisor shall provide the grievant with a written response within seven (7) actual working 

days. 

 

Step 2 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the employee shall have seven (7) actual working days 

after receipt of the supervisor’s Step 1 response to file an appeal with the Department Head.  The 

Department Head may, but is not required to, meet with the grievant to discuss the grievance.  

The Department Head shall have seven (7) actual working days from either receipt of the appeal, 

or the meeting with the grievant, whichever is later, to provide the grievant with a written 

response. 

 

Step 3 

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2, the employee shall have seven (7) actual working days 

after receipt of the Department Head’s Step 2 response to file an appeal with the City Manager.  

The City Manager shall meet with the grievant and other persons the City Manger believes 

would be useful to the City Manager’s consideration of the grievance within seven (7) actual 

working days after receipt of the grievant’s appeal.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) 

actual working days from the date of the meeting with the grievant to provide the grievant with a 

written decision. 

 

The Mid-Management Group may, in its own name, file a grievance with the City Manager 

alleging that the City has failed to provide it some organizational right which is established by 

law, provided that such right is not made subject to the discretion of the City.  Such Union 

grievance shall be filed with the City Manager and heard and determined pursuant to the 

provisions of this step of the grievance procedure.  The City Manager shall meet with the Mid-

Management Group representative and other persons the City Manager believes would be useful 

to the City Manager’s consideration of the grievance within (7) actual working days after receipt 

of the Union’s grievance.  The City Manager shall have seven (7) actual working days from the 

date of the meeting with the Mid-Management Group representative to provide the Mid-

Management Group with a written decision. 

 

Step 4 

An employee dissatisfied with the City Manager’s decision on the employee’s Step 3 grievance 

may appeal the grievance to the City Council within (7) seven actual working days of receipt of 

the City Manager’s decision. The City Council will schedule a hearing within a reasonable time 

period after receipt of the appeal.  The decision of the City Council following the hearing shall 

be final. 

 

SECTION VII: LAYOFFS 

 Layoffs shall be governed by Personnel Rule 12.  The City will make its best efforts to 

provide an additional 30 days of EAP benefits to employees who are laid off to assist them in their 

transition.  If continued EAP benefits are not available, the City will meet with the Union to discuss 



15 

 

the possibility of the City providing laid off workers with guidance on resume writing, conducting 

a job search, job interviewing, coping with stress and/or unemployment insurance benefits. 

 

SECTION VIII: MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating 

individual contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of situations 

in which the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating his/her employment 

or temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting provision does not purport to 

affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

1.   Legal Defense 

 Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding described in 

Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or proceeding described in Section 

995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding described in Government Code Section 995.8.  

"Proceeding" as used in this section is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, 

but not filed, if a reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a defense, but a court 

or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, preclude City payments for 

defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset 

any such amounts against compensation otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

2.  Use of Employer Facilities.   

 Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made available, upon 

timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity representing the employees.  

Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, other than the lunch period.  Application for 

such use shall be made to the management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

3.  Bargaining Time.   

A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the bargaining unit 

shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a reasonable period without loss of pay, 

for the purpose of participating in contract negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege 

to participate in any meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for 

review of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

4.  Reopener 
 This Agreement may be reopened to upon written request to discuss only health care and/or 

CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total combined miscellaneous 

PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available city sponsored health plans for an Employee plus 

2 increases by 25% over the current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this agreement obligates the City to commit 

to any increases. The parties agree that All other terms and conditions of the agreement are not subject to 

the reopener clause. 

 

5.  Required Meetings 



16 

 

 Administrative staff members covered under this MOU who are required to attend 

meetings outside their regular work schedules will be paid at the overtime rate (1.5) for two hours, 

or for the hours actually worked, whichever is greater. 

 

6.  Emergency Call-Back Compensation 

a. “Call-back” refers to a situation where an employee has completed his/her regular work 

day without knowing that he/she would be called back to work, by his/her supervisor or as 

a result of emergency circumstances, during hours of the day not occurring during the 

employee’s regular workday.  An employee who is required to come to work not more than 

one hour early, but is not thereafter released from work before the start of the regular work 

day is not on “call-back.” 

 

b. Employees called back to work shall be treated as having worked at least two hours, even 

if actual time is less. 

 

c. Public Works:  The rate of pay for Public Works Dept. employees in the Mid-Management 

Group during call-back hours is as follows: 

 

(1) Two and one half times the employee’s hourly base rate for hours served 

between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.; or 

(2) Two times the hourly base rate for hours served during other times of the day. 

  

d. For all employees not covered by subsection c, call-back hours will be paid the same as 

overtime. 

e. Time spent traveling to and from the place of call-back work is not counted in applying the 

provisions of this section, or Section 8 above.  

f. Units of time that are both call-back and overtime will receive the most favorable of the 

two treatments, but no single unit of time will be treated as both call-back and overtime. 

 

7.   Me Too Clause: If during the effective time period of this agreement, the Police Officers 

Association receives a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in an amount greater than 

the terms included in this agreement, the members of Mid-Manager shall receive the same COLA 

and/or Flex Plan increase at the same time.  

 

8. Severability. If any of the provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by 

reason of any State or Federal legislation, or by ruling of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such invalidation of such part or portion of this Memorandum of Agreement shall not 

invalidate the remaining portions hereof, and they shall remain in full force and effect, 

insofar as such remaining portions are severable. 

 

 

  



17 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   MID-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES 

 

________________________  ____________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein     

City Manager     ____________________________________ 

       

________________________   

Larry Laurent     ____________________________________ 

Assistant to the City Manager               

      ____________________________________ 

             

      ____________________________________ 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
 



 

          

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES’ AND CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PERIOD 7/01/2018 – 6/30/2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

                          Page 

SECTION I WAGE SCHEDULES/EMPLOYMENT STATUS………………    1 

 Service……. ………………………………………………………………… 2       
 Acting Appointment Compensation……………………..……………………    2 

 Overtime……………………..……………………………………..…………    2 

 Effective Date of Pay Increase…………………..……………………………    2 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .   .   .   .     2 

 Vacation ………………………………………………………………………. 2 

 Sick……………………………………………………………………………. 3  

 Administrative Leave…………………………………………………………… 3 

 Personal Holidays……………………………………………………………… 4 

 Bereavement…………………………………………………………………… 4 

 FMLA & CFRA……………………………………………………………….. 4 

 Holiday Schedule………………………………………………………………… 4 

 Jury Duty………………………………………………………………………. 4 

 Leave of Absence without pay…………………………………………………. 5 

 Accruals after date of separation…………………………………………………. 5 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS ………………………………………………………….. 5 

 Flexible Spending……………………………………………………………… 5 

Retirement……………………………………………………………………… 6 

 Physical Exams………………………………………………………………… 7 

 Insurance………………………………………………………………………. 7 

 Mileage Reimbursement…………………………………………….…………. 7 

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  …………………………………….… 7 

 Longevity……………………………………………………………………... 7 

 Education……………………………………………………………………… 7 

 Bilingual Pay………………………………………………………………….. 7 

 

SECTION V: MISCELLANEOUS  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .    .    .   .   .   .    .    .    . 8 

 FLSA………………………………………………………………………  8 

 Legal Defense……………………………………………………………..  8 

 Use of Employer Facilities……………………………………………….  8 

 Bargaining Time……………………………………………………………  8 

 Me Too Clause...............................................................................................  9 

 Reopener Clause..............................................................................................          9



   

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of 

Capitola (hereinafter referred to as “City”) and the Confidential employees, who are: City Clerk, 

Assistant to the City Manager, Information Systems Specialist and Executive Assistant to the City 

Manager. This MOU covers the period beginning 07/01/2012 – 06/30/2018.  07/01/2018 – 

06/30/2020. 

 

In exchange for the City moving the previously agreed upon COLA up to the first full pay period 

of January 2014, from July 2014, the Union has agreed to extend the existing terms and conditions 

of the agreement an additional three years with the same salary and health care increases as the 

Police Officers Association’s Memorandum of Understanding which expires on June 30, 2018.  

 

SECTION I.  Wage Schedules/Hourly Rates/Employment Status 

 

The wage schedule attached to this Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the base pay, 

subject to such adjustments (such as longevity pay) as are specifically set forth in this MOU.  

Letters  “A” to “E” have been used to designate the respective pay steps for each position.   The 

rates contained in the wage schedule are base salary rates and do not include overtime or 

benefits. 

 

The City will compile and average the San Francisco – Oakland – San Jose Consumer Price 

Index (all urban consumers) reported CPI for January 2013 through October* 2013 See a below.  

If the resulting figure for averaged CPI is greater than 0%, that figure shall be used as the 

percentage for salary increase for members of the unit, effective the first full pay period in 

January 2014 through the pay period ending July 5th 2014. 
 

 a. Effective the first full pay period of July 2014, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be readjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2013. 

 

 b. Effective the first full pay period in July 2015, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2014 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 c. Effective the first full pay period in July 2016, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2015 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

 d. Effective the first full pay period in July 2017, the salary range for each classification in this 

Unit shall be adjusted based on the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, San 



   

Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Consumer Price Index, All Items 1982-84 = 100 for All Urban 

Consumers, Annual Average January - December changes for calendar year 2016 up to a 

maximum of 3.5%.  

Whenever it is necessary to compute an hourly pay rate to apply a provision of this MOU, that will 

be done by multiplying the monthly rate by 12 to derive an annual rate, and dividing the annual 

rate by 2080 (or proportionate number of hours for part time positions, e.g., 1040 for a half-time 

position). 

 

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council approval of the 

successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

 

1.  Service 

 The word "service" as used in this MOU means continuous full-time service in the position 

in which the employee is being considered for salary advancement, service in a higher position, or 

service in a position allocated to the same salary schedule and having generally similar duties and 

requirements.  A lapse of service of any employee for a period of time longer than thirty days by 

reason of resignation or discharge shall serve to eliminate the accumulated length of service time 

of such employee, and any such employee re-entering the service of the City shall be considered 

as a new employee, unless another standard is established by the personnel rules, in which case 

that standard shall apply. 

 

2.  Types of Appointment: For all types of appointments refer to the personnel rules except for 

Acting Appointments. 

 Acting appointment may be either full-time or part-time, as established by the City 

Manager. An acting appointment occurs when an employee is temporarily assigned to, and 

performs all duties of a position other than the position he/she normally occupies or when an 

employee is assigned an acting appointment pending evaluation of the employee’s ability to 

perform the duties of the position.  While serving under an acting appointment, an employee will 

receive additional compensation as determined by the City Manager.  Such pay will be no less than 

5% above the employee’s regular compensation.  It may be up to, but ordinarily will not be in 

excess of the first step of the position occupied. 

 

3. Overtime 

Confidential employees are exempt under FLSA, and therefore not entitled to overtime 

compensation.  

 

4.  Effective Date of Pay Increase 

 A merit pay advancement for an employee shall become effective on the first day of the 

pay period in which the minimum length of service has been satisfactorily completed.   

 



   

All other pay rate changes, except those given a specific calendar date herein, shall become 

effective at the beginning of a two week pay period as approved by the City Manager. 

 

5. Signing Bonus 

 

Contingent upon a tentative agreement by June 28, 2018 which is ratified by the 

membership.  All full-time employees at the time of ratification in the Confidential 

bargaining unit shall receive a one-time $1500 signing bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The 

one-time signing bonus shall be paid the first full pay period after ratification by the Capitola 

City Council.  Employees in the group working less than full-time shall receive a prorated 

signing bonus (Employees working 30 hours per week shall receive a one-time $1125 signing 

bonus, employees working 20 hours per week shall receive a one-time $750 signing bonus). 

 

6. Total Compensation Study 

 

The parties agree to meet up to five meetings within the period of 270 -180 calendar days 

prior to the expiration of the contract to reach agreement on the comparable agencies, bench 

mark classes and survey elements of a total compensation study in preparation for successor 

contract negotiation post June 30, 2020.  If the parties are unable to reach agreement on the 

comparable agencies, benchmark classes and survey elements of a total compensation by 180 

calendar days of the expiration of the contract, the parties are free to conduct their own 

respective total compensation study.  Implementation of any results is subject to the 

bargaining process for successor contract negotiations post June 30, 2020.        

 

 

SECTION II: LEAVE PROVISIONS 

 

1.  Vacation  

 

     a.  Vacation Accrual 

 Vacation accrues on a prorated basis, based upon a 30-day month. The rates of accrual are 

as follows: 

 

   Years of Employment  Vacation Days 

      1 and 2    12 

      3 and 4    14 

      5 through 9    17 

      10 through 19   22 

      20 and higher   27 

 

     b. Accumulation 

An employee may not accumulate more than, but instead each year must cash out 

pursuant to Section d, below, all accumulated vacation in excess of 360 hours;  

 

     c.   Vacation Cash Out On Termination 



   

 Upon termination, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated vacation to the 

separation date, at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate. Alternatively, an 

employee may individually contractually establish, in writing, with the City Manager, 

mutually agreeable provisions regarding the timing and terms of the cash pay out. 

 

     d.  Vacation- Mandatory Cash Out Before Termination 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours as of the last pay period in April 

of any year shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly pay rate for 

all hours in excess of  360 such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation 

accrual amount.  These cash out payments will be included with the paycheck for the first 

full pay period in May.       

 

    e. Optional Vacation Cash Out 

 In any calendar year an employee may cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated   vacation. 

 

2. Sick Leave 

      a.  Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave accrues on a pro-rated basis, based upon a 30-day month. Twelve days accrue 

each calendar year. 

 

      b.   Sick Leave-Family Care 

Sick leave may be used to care for members of the immediate family in accordance with 

the FMLA and CFRA, or as approved by the City Manager. 
 

       c. Sick Leave Cash Out; 

 Sick Leave may not be cashed out. 

 

3.   Administrative Leave Accrual 

 As exempt employees, the Confidential Employees are entitled to ten days per year of 

administrative time off. Administrative Leave is non-cumulative. It may not be converted to cash. 

One year’s worth of Administrative Leave becomes available on the first day of the calendar year. 

The exception is persons hired mid-year, in which case administrative leave is prorated for the 

applicable period.  

 

4.  Personal Holidays 

All regular positions are entitled to three (3) personal holidays per calendar year.  Unused 

Personal Holidays are not cumulative.  

 

5.  Bereavement Leave 

  Leave of absence with pay because of death in the immediate family of an employee shall 

be granted for a period not to exceed three days.  Entitlement to leave of absence under this section 

shall be in addition to any other entitlement for sick leave, or any other leave.  For purposes of 

this section, "immediate family" means mother, step-mother, father, step-father, husband, wife, 

domestic partner as defined by the State of California, son, step-son, daughter, step-daughter, 

brother, sister, foster parent, foster child, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-

law, grandparents and any individual to whom an employee is serving in Loco Parentis. 

 



   

6.  FMLA and CFRA 

 The City shall follow the provisions provided for family leave as specified in the federal 

Family & Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) as 

they apply to public employers. 

 

7.  Holiday Schedule 

  There shall be twelve (12) holidays granted annually for the term of the MOU.  The 

holidays to be observed during calendar year are set forth below.   

 

                   

  

 New Year’s Day   1/01/               

 Martin Luther King Day  *    

 Lincoln’s Birthday   *   

 Washington’s Birthday  *    

 Memorial Day    *    

 Independence Day   7/4/      

 Labor Day    *   

 Columbus Day   *    

 Veterans’ Day    11/11/   

 Thanksgiving Day   *   

 Friday Following Thanksgiving *   

 Christmas Day    12/25/    

  

* These holidays shall be taken at the same time as the federal holidays are taken. Holidays 

listed above occurring on a Saturday shall be observed on Friday.  Holidays occurring on a 

Sunday shall be observed on Monday. 

 

In addition, City Hall will be closed for one week during the Christmas holidays during 

which employees affected by the closure will be permitted to use vacation, personal 

holidays or sick leave in order not to lose compensation. 

 

8.  Jury Duty  

  Leave of absence with pay shall be granted to an employee while serving on jury duty. 

Time spent commuting from home to and from jury duty is not compensable; time spent traveling 

from court to place of work is compensable. Any jury fee awarded shall be deposited with the 

City Treasurer.  

 

9. Leave of Absence Without Pay 

 A leave of absence without pay may be granted by the City Manager upon the request of 

the employee seeking such leave, but such leave shall not be for longer than one year. 

 

10.  Accruals after Date of Separation 

 An employee’s separation date is the last date actually worked, except that an employee 

who, as of the last day worked, has not used all of his/her yearly allotment of vacation may extend 

the separation date by the number of days necessary to reach the full yearly allotment.  “Yearly 



   

allotment” means the amount of vacation that the employee was entitled to accrue in his/her last 

year of employment.  Unless otherwise provided by state law, none of the following accrue after 

the date of separation:  sick leave, vacation, personal holidays, holiday pay, administrative leave, 

Flex Plan contributions, or payment of the insurance premiums described in Section III.5 below. 

 

SECTION III: BENEFITS 

 

(Regarding benefits available to part-time employees’, see Section 2, above.) 

 

1.  Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

 The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf of 

each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those employees who have 

selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly contribution set forth herein, $112 

effective January 1, 2012 and $115 effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month contribution 

2013 will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer contribution”. This 

amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing that state law may increase this 

minimum from time to time requiring compliance by City.  The City’s maximum contribution 

below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA minimum.  For all employees the City will no longer 

charge to the employee the $1.50 per paycheck plan fee.   Effective the first full pay period in July 

2012 the contribution, for full-time regular employees shall be: 

Employee Only:                     $675 per month 

Employee + 1                     $849 per month 

Employee + 2 or more $1049 per month 

 

Effective the first full pay period in July 2013 the contribution for full-time regular employees 

shall be as follows: 

Employee Only:                $700 per month 

Employee + 1                $899 per month 

Employee + 2 or more      $1099 per month 
 

Effective July 1, 2014 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $718 

 Employee +1  $921 
 Employee+2 or more $1,126 

Effective July 1, 2015 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $735 

 Employee +1  $945 
 Employee+2 or more $1,155 

Effective July 1, 2016 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $754 

 Employee +1  $968 
 Employee+2 or more $1,184 

Effective July 1, 2017 the City will increase its contribution by 2.5% to: 
 Employee Only  $773 

 Employee +1  $992 



   

 Employee+2 or more $1,213 

Proposed increases below is contingent upon agreement to changes to the City’s OPT 

language in Paragraph A below and modification to paragraph B below.  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum 

contribution (inclusive 

of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800.00 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824.00 $1,339 $1,751 

 

A. Opt Out  

 Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have equivalent group health 

coverage for medical (including dental & vision), which will remain in effect until the next 

enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month. ; or who purchase a 

CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use their entire monthly 

contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other than medical (including 

dental & vision) coverage or take this amount in cash for the “Employee only” contribution 

amount.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the 

CalPERS retirement plan.) 

 

B.     The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they may 

become available.  The City will enable interested employees to participate in union sponsored 

medical plans.    

 

2. Retirement Benefits CalPERS  

 The City participates in the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) 

operated by the State of California.  Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications, 

depending upon the plan.  The City provides 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for non-sworn employees, 

with the single-highest year option. The City’s contribution toward the combined employer and 

employee cost of PERS retirement is capped at no more than 16.488% of reportable salary. If the 

actual PERS contribution rate exceeds 16.488%  of reportable salary for any fiscal year, the 

employee will pay the difference on a pre-tax basis. Contributions will be reported in accordance 

with the current CalPERS contract, i.e. the employee portion (8%) plus any amount above the cap 

is reported to PERS as paid by the employee. 

 

Beginning July 1, 2018, all classic employees in this bargaining unit shall contribute 

13.392% of their reportable salary to CalPERS.  This contribution shall not be reduced 

unless negotiated by the parties in future negotiations. 

  

In 2007, the City implemented a cost-sharing benefit that consists of the City paying 8% of the 

normal members contributions as Employer Paid Member Contributions (EPMC), with 



   

additional cost sharing contributions not to exceed a total of 16.259% through June 30, 

2019.  The City agrees to report the value of the Employer Paid Member Contributions as salary 

for retirement benefit plan purposes.    
 

 For all eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2012 the City’s PERS contribution rate 

shall be capped at no more than 11.488% of reportable salary.  Once an employee hired on or 

after July 1, 2012 accrues five (5) years of total service, s/he shall be entitled to the same terms 

that apply to all other current employees.   EPMC and the Value of EPMC will be the same for 

employees hired after July 1, 2012 as employees hired prior to that date.   

 All employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 the City’s contribution cap shall remain as 

stated above at 16.488%. 

 

 California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) For new miscellaneous 

employees hired by the City of Capitola on or after January 1, 2013 and who do not qualify as 

classic members as defined by CalPERS, CalPERS has by statute implement a 2.0% @ 62 

pension formula, based on a three year average compensation. Employees in this category shall 

pay 50% of the normal cost rate as determined by CalPERS. 
 

3.  Physical Examinations 

The City, for any employee receiving flex credit contributions, will provide a biannual 

physical examination for employee.    The City will pay the amount not covered by the health 

care program. 

 

4.  Insurance. 

The City will continue to provide term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 and long-

term disability insurance. 

 

5.  Mileage Reimbursement 

 Employees required to use their personal vehicles while on City business will be 

reimbursed at the rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.    

 

SECTION IV: INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

 

1.  Longevity Pay Incentive  

Upon completing continuous years of service with the City, an employee's base pay shall 

be increased as follows: 

 

     a. 15 years' continuous service - 5% 

b.      20 years' continuous service - an additional 5%, which shall be compounded   

with the 15 year recognition. 
 

2.   Education Reimbursement Program  

The City will reimburse employees for tuition upon the completion of courses approved in 

advance by the City Manager up to a maximum of $500 per calendar year for classes completed 

in that same calendar year.  Textbook reimbursement for courses approved in advance by the City 

Manager shall be at 100%. 

 



   

3. Bilingual Pay 

Employees proficient in the Spanish language shall receive premium pay equal to five (5%) 

percent of base salary in addition to their regular wage, if: 

 

a. Employee passes the City's bilingual competency test as administered by the Personnel 

Department on an annual basis to maintain the bonus pay.  The City Manager may waive 

the annual testing requirement for individuals upon recommendation of the department 

head.  Annual basis refers to the fiscal year; and      

 

b. The employee is required to serve as a translator on a regular and ongoing basis, as 

certified by the Department Head.  

 

SECTION V: MISCELLANEOUS 

Nothing in this plan will preclude the incumbents of any position from negotiating individual 

contractual provisions, provided that: such individual negotiations arise out of situations in which 

the employee has, or is negotiating towards, voluntarily terminating his/her employment or 

temporarily working in a higher paid position; and any resulting provision does not purport to 

affect the rights of any other member of the unit. 

 

1. Fair Labor Standards Act 

 All positions included in this Compensation Plan are covered by appropriate sections of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act of 1935, and are specifically subject to Rule No. 54.118 (salaried 

executive employees are not paid at a higher rate for what might otherwise be labeled "overtime", 

correspondingly, their salary is not reduced "for any week in which (s)he performs any work 

without regard to the number of days or hours worked."  Accordingly, bi-weekly time sheets will 

not result in adjustments to the compensation for the period, but merely for yearly evaluation of 

whether the position is, after factoring in administrative leave, over or under staffed.  However, 

time off for sick leave purposes shall be reported and reflected in the accumulated sick leave 

calculations.   

 

2.   Legal Defense 

 Except as provided in Government Code Section 995.2, City shall provide a defense 

including but not limited to legal counsel in:  a) any civil action or proceeding described in 

Government Code Section 995; b) any administrative action or proceeding described in Section 

995.6; or any criminal action or proceeding described in Government Code Section 995.8.  

"Proceeding" as used in this section is applicable to situations where a claim or action is threatened, 

but not filed, if a reasonable, prudent person would consult or retain counsel in response to the 

possibility of actual civil, administrative, or criminal action.  If City pays for a defense, but a court 

or tribunal issues a final ruling that would, under Section 995.2, preclude City payments for 

defense, employee shall immediately reimburse City, and if he/she fails to do so, City may offset 

any such amounts against compensation otherwise due employee under this contract. 

 

3.  Use of Employer Facilities.   

 Employer facilities, such as the City Hall Community Room, may be made available, upon 

timely application, for use by employees and the recognized entity representing the employees.  



   

Such use shall not occur during regular duty hours, other than the lunch period.  Application for 

such use shall be made to the management person under whose control the facility is placed. 

 

4.  Bargaining Time.   

A reasonable number of Employee members of the entity representing the bargaining unit 

shall be allowed time to absent themselves from duties for a reasonable period without loss of pay, 

for the purpose of participating in contract negotiations.  They shall be extended the same privilege 

to participate in any meetings mutually called by the parties during the term of this agreement for 

review of grievances and contract compliance questions. 

 

5. Me Too Clause:  
 If during the effective time period of this agreement, if any other bargaining units  receives 

a salary COLA or health care Flex Plan increase in an amount greater than the terms included in 

this agreement, the members of Confidential shall receive the same COLA and/or Flex Plan 

increase at the same time.  
 

6. Re-Opener: 

 This Agreement may be reopened  upon written request to discuss only health care and/or 

CalPERS rates July 1, 2016 under either of the following conditions: 1) Total combined 

miscellaneous PERS rates exceed 30% or 2) the average of the available city sponsored health 

plans for an Employee plus 2 increases by 25% over the current 2014 rates.      Nothing in this 

agreement obligates the City to commit to any increases. The parties agree that all other terms and 

conditions of the agreement are not subject to the reopener clause. 

 

7. Severability: 

If any of the provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by reason 

of any State or Federal legislation, or by ruling of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 

invalidation of such part or portion of this Memorandum of Agreement shall not invalidate 

the remaining portions hereof, and they shall remain in full force and effect, insofar as such 

remaining portions are severable. 

 

CITY OF CAPITOLA   CONFIDENTIAL  EMPLOYEES 

 

________________________  ________________________________ 

Jamie Goldstein    Liz Nichols 

City Manager 

      ________________________________ 

_________________________  Linda Fridy  

    

       
       



 
 

City of Capitola 
Department Head’s and Chief of Police 

Compensation and Benefits Plan 
 

 
Effective July 1, 2018 
 
Purpose and Intent 

 This Compensation and Benefits Plan (Plan) is intended to establish compensation, 
benefits and terms and conditions of employment for Department Heads and the Chief of Police. 
The City Manager has the authority to hire Department Heads and the Chief of Police, and to 
adjust their compensation consistent with this Plan. Department Heads and Chief of Police are 
exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), are at will employees, serve at the pleasure 
of the City Manager and can be terminated with or without notice or cause and with no rights of 
appeal.   

1) SALARY SCHEDULE 

a) This Plan covers positions in the job classes and salary schedule set forth in Attachment 
A, incorporated in and made a part of this document.  

b) Longevity: 5% base pay increase following 12 full years of employment. (Does not apply 
to Chief of Police) 

2) SEVERANCE PAY 

If a Department Head is terminated by the City Manager, the City will pay the Department 
Head an amount equal to four months salary and four months Flexible Spending 
Arrangement Contribution benefits. Additionally, the Department Head will receive 
payment for all vacation leave accrued to the date of separation.  The same terms apply 
to the Chief of Police with the exception of six months' salary and Flexible Spending 
Arrangement Contribution. However, if an employee is terminated because of conviction 
of any criminal offense or “for cause”, the City shall have no obligation to continue the 
employment of the Department Head or pay severance pay. 

3) ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE ACCRUAL 

80 hours per calendar year, prorated depending upon date of hire.  No accumulation and 
may not be converted to cash. 

4) PERSONAL HOLIDAYS 

Three personal holidays per calendar year, prorated depending upon date of hire. No 
accumulation and may not be converted to cash. 

5) VACATION 
a) Vacation Accrual:   

Years of Employment Vacation Days 

1 and 2 12 

3 and 4 14 

5 through 9 17 

10 through 19 22 

20 and higher 27 

 
b) The City Manager has the authority to place a new Department Head or Police Chief at a 

specific accrual rate. 



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 2 

 

c) Upon termination, payment will be made for all accumulated vacation to the separation 
date, at a rate equal to 100% of the current hourly pay rate. 

d) Vacation Cap: All hours in excess of 360 hours on the last pay period of April of any year 
will be cashed out. Exception will be for any employee under a previous agreement who 
has accumulated more than 360 hours as of January 1, 2011; employee may maintain 
that level of 504 hours provided however if that if accumulated vacation falls below 504 at 
anytime during the year, then that will be the new allowable level until employee reaches 
360 hours. 

e) Optional Vacation Cash Out: In any calendar year, Department Head or Police Chief may 
cash out up to 80 hours of accumulated vacation. 
 

6) SICK LEAVE  

Sick leave will accrue at a rate of 12 days per year.  Unlimited accumulation and may not 
be converted to cash. 

 
7) FLEXIBLE SPENDING ARRANGEMENT CONTRIBUTIONS 

a) Employees are eligible to enroll in a CalPERS medical plan, Dental and Vision Plan. The 
City makes a contribution on behalf of each qualified employee (Attachment A). 

b) Cash Out: Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have group health 
coverage for medical (including dental and vision), which will remain in effect until the next 
enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month.  Employees 
who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but do not use 
their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase benefits other 
than medical (including dental and vision) coverage.  (If a cash payment is taken, it is not 
included in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement plan). 
 

8) FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS 

The City offers a Healthcare Spending Account with an annual election limit of $2,500 and 
a Dependent Care Spending Account with annual election limit of $5,000. 
 

9) RETIREMENT 

a) CalPERS Retirement Benefits for Classic Members:  

i) Miscellaneous Classic Employees: The City participates in the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (PERS). Benefits provided are detailed in separate 
publications. The City agrees to provide 2.5% at 55 Retirement Plan for eligible classic 
miscellaneous employees in the Unit and the single-highest-year option. 

Effective July 1, 2018, Miscellaneous classic employees will contribute 13.392% 
of their reportable salary to PERS. 

ii) Safety Classic Employees: The City participates in the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS). Benefits provided are detailed in separate publications. 
The City agrees to provide 3.0% at 50 Retirement Plan for eligible classic Safety 
employees in the Unit and the single-highest-year option. 

Effective July 1, 2018, sworn classic employees will contribute 14.974% of their 
reportable salary to PERS. 

b) CalPERS PEPRA Employees:  



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 3 

 

i) Individuals that have never been a member of any public retirement system prior to 
January 1, 2013, or 

ii) Individuals who moved between retirement systems with more than a six month break 
in service; and 

iii) In compliance with the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013, 
(PEPRA), new members will receive a Local Miscellaneous benefit formula of 2% @ 
62, Sworn will receive a benefit of 2.7% @ 55.  Employees will contribute 50% of the 
normal cost as determined by CalPERS.  The employee contribution from pay is on a 
pre-tax basis pursuant to 414(h)(2).  Final compensation, for purposes of calculating 
the retirement benefit, is calculated on the highest average pensionable compensation 
earned by a member during a period of 36-consecutive months.  This is also referred 
to as the 3-year average. 
 

10) HOLIDAYS 
12 Holidays per calendar year, as follows: New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King, Lincoln’s 
Birthday, Washington’s Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Columbus Day, Veteran’s Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday following Thanksgiving, 
Christmas Day.  In addition, City Hall will be closed for one week during the Christmas 
holidays during which employees are permitted to use vacation, personal holiday or sick 
leave in order not to lose compensation. 

 
11)  INSURANCE  

The City provides short-term disability for non-sworn and long-term disability insurance for 
both as well as term life insurance in the amount of $50,000 
 

12)  VEHICLE USE 

The Chief of Police will be provided with a is entitled to use a spare Captain’s vehicle 
for commuting to and from work within Santa Cruz County and for business purposes. 
 

13)  UNIFORM 

Chief of Police: City will purchase the initial uniform at a cost not to exceed $2,500.  City 
will pay for reasonable cleaning of the uniform at a cost not to exceed $250/yr. 

 
 

14) POLICE CHIEF DEFFERED COMPENSATION 

The City may make contributions to a 457 Deferred Compensation Account (or equivalent 
account as determined by the City Manager) up to 8.267% of employee's regular salary 
(not including Flex Credit, cell phone allowance, or other compensation.). These 
contributions shall not be considered pay rate or special compensation and are not to be 
reported to PERS as such. 

 
15) POLICE CHIEF RECRUITMENT 

The City Council shall approve the recruitment process for the Police Chief at a City 
Council meeting as recommended by the City Manager.  
 

16) ONE-TIME BONUS 

 



Department Head’s and Chief of Police Compensation and Benefits Plan 

 4 

 

City Manager is authorized to issue to full-time employees covered by this agreement on 

June 28, 2018, a one-time $1500.00 bonus, minus applicable taxes.  The one-time bonus 

shall be paid the first full pay period after approval by the Capitola City Council.  
 
 
Attachment: Exhibit A – Job Classes and Salary Schedule 
 
 

DEPARTMENT HEADS AND CHIEF OF POLICE  
JOB CLASSES AND SALARY SCHEDULE 
 
EFFECTIVE July 1, 2018 

 
Positions covered by Plan 
 
Chief of Police 
Director of Public Works 
Director of Finance 
Community Development Director 
Administrative Services Director 

 
Salary Schedule 

POSITION Minimum Maximum 

Chief of Police  $        11203   $    13,612  

Department Heads  $         6,959   $    12,495  

 
Salary: Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) 

a) COLA: Cost of Living Adjustment shall be as follows: 

 Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each classification 

shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 
 

Flexible Spending Arrangement Contribution:  

The contribution for full-time regular employees is: 
 
 
 
Effective 7/1/2018 

Employee Only $800.00 

Employee + 1 $1,300.00 

Employee +2 or more $1,700.00 

 
Effective 7/1/2019 

Employee Only $824.00 

Employee + 1 $1,339.00 

Employee +2 or more $1,751.00 

 



 

1 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO 

 

CITY MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 This Third Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“Third 

Amendment”) is entered into on June 28, 2018 with an effective date of July 1, 2018 (the 

“Effective Date”) by and between the City of Capitola, a municipal corporation (hereinafter 

referred to as “City”), and Jamie Goldstein, an individual (hereinafter referred to as 

“Employee”), and is intended to amend that particular City Manager Employment 

Agreement (the “Original Agreement”) dated July 12, 2010, as previously amended by that 

certain First Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“First Amendment”) 

entered into on July 1, 2012, and that certain Second Amendment to City Manager 

Employment Agreement (“Second Amendment”) entered into on May 14, 2015, and that 

certain Third Amendment to City Manager Employment Agreement (“Second 

Amendment”) entered into on December 8, 2016 (the Original Agreement, First, Second, 

and Third Amendments are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Agreement”). 

 

Now, therefore City and Employee agree as follows: 

 

1. Section 6—Salary of the Original Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

Section 6. Salary 

 

A.  Effective the first pay period after association ratification and Council 

approval of the successor MOU in accordance with the Brown Act, the salary 

range for each classification shall be readjusted by 2.25%, 

 

B.  Effective the first full pay period of July 2019, the salary range for each 

classification shall be readjusted by 2.25%. 

 

2.          Section 9.A of the Original Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

  Effective July 1, 2018, Miscellaneous classic employees will contribute 13.392% 

of their reportable salary to PERS. 

 

3.  Section 9.D shall be changed to 9.c and is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

 Flexible Spending Arrangement Contributions 

 

        The City makes a flexible spending arrangement (“Flex Plan”) contribution on behalf 

of each qualified employee for medical, dental & vision coverage. For those 

employees who have selected health coverage through PERS, from the monthly 

contribution set forth herein, effective January 1, 2018 a $133.00 per month 

contribution will be paid to PERS for what is sometimes referred to as “employer 

contribution”. This amount is the minimum amount required by PERS, recognizing 

that state law may increase this minimum from time to time requiring compliance by 

City.  The City’s maximum contribution below is inclusive of the required PEMCHA 



 

2 

minimum. 

 

 

  

Effective Dates Employee Only Employee +1 Employee +2 

First full pay period in 

July 2018 the monthly 

maximum contribution 

(inclusive of PEMCHA 

minimum) 

$800 $1,300 $1,700 

First full pay period in 

July 2019 

$824 $1,339 $1,751 

 

Employees who can verify to the City’s satisfaction that: they have group health 

coverage for medical (including dental and vision), which will remain in effect until 

the next enrollment date will be eligible for a cash payment of $250.00 per month.  

Employees who purchase a CalPERS Health Plan and dental and vision coverage, but 

do not use their entire monthly contribution, may use the remaining funds to purchase 

benefits other than medical (including dental and vision) coverage.  (If a cash payment 

is taken, it is not included in the employee’s compensation for the CalPERS retirement 

plan). 

 

 

The City reserves the option of adding additional programs to the cafeteria plan, as they 

may become available 

 

2. Except as hereinabove stated, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 

remain in full force and effect, are hereby re-stated and are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference as if fully set forth. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this First Amendment to the 

City Manager Employment Agreement the day and year written above. 

 

 

Dated:        CITY OF CAPITOLA  

    

 

       By: __________________________ 

              Michael Termini, Mayor 

 

 

 

Dated:        EMPLOYEE 

 

 

       By: __________________________ 

                                                 Jamie Goldstein 


	Revised Agenda Packet
	Agenda Packet
	CLOSED SESSION
	1. LABOR NEGOTIATOR
	2. EXISTING LITIGATION
	3. INITIATION OF LITIGATION
	4. 

	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. Introduce New Sergeant
	Printout: Introduce New Sergeant

	B. Community Action Board Update
	Printout: Community Action Board Update


	3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
	4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	6. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS
	8. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS
	A. Review RTC Bicycle Advisory Committee Appointment
	Printout: Review RTC Bicycle Advisory Committee Appointment
	1. Michael Moore Application & Statement_Redacted


	9. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Approval of City Council Budget Minutes
	Printout: Approval of City Council Budget Minutes
	1. 5-30 joint budget minutes

	B. Approval of City Council Minutes
	Printout: Approval of City Council Minutes
	1. 6-14 draft minutes

	C. June 7, 2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes
	Printout: June 7, 2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes
	1. 06-07-2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes

	D. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 5/4/18 City Check Register
	2. 5/11/18 City Check Register
	3. 5/18/18 City Check Register
	4. 5/25/18 City Check Register

	E. Schedule 4015 Capitola Road Appeal
	Printout: Schedule 4015 Capitola Road Appeal

	F. 38th Avenue Sidewalk to bid
	Printout: 38th Avenue Sidewalk to bid
	1. 38th Avenue Plans
	2. 38th Avenue Cost Estimate

	G. Call the November 6, 2018, Election
	Printout: Call the November 6, 2018, Election
	1. Capitola General Municipal Election info sheet

	H. Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit
	Printout: Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit


	10. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Consider 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget
	Printout: Consider 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget
	1. Exhibit A - Changes to Proposed Budget
	2. Exhibit B - General Fund Summary
	3. Exhibit C - Fund Balance Summary

	B. Potential Ballot Measures
	Printout: Potential Ballot Measures

	C. Lilbrary Bid Update
	Printout: Lilbrary Bid Update

	D. First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance
	Printout: First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance
	1. Capitola Background Check Resolution

	E. Approve MOUs
	Printout: Approve MOUs

	F. Adopt FY 2018-19 Fee Schedule
	Printout: Adopt FY 2018-19 Fee Schedule
	1. Exhibit A 2018-19 Fee Schedule
	2. Exhibit B Animal Service Fees 18-19
	3. Fee Schedule Comparison


	11. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	2.A · Introduce New Sergeant
	2.B · Community Action Board Update
	8.A · Review RTC Bicycle Advisory Committee Appointment
	8.A.1 · Michael Moore Application & Statement_Redacted

	9.A · Approval of City Council Budget Minutes
	9.A.1 · 5-30 joint budget minutes

	9.B · Approval of City Council Minutes
	9.B.1 · 6-14 draft minutes

	9.C · June 7, 2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes
	9.C.1 · 06-07-2018 Planning Commission Action Minutes

	9.D · Approval of City Check Registers
	9.D.1 · 5/4/18 City Check Register
	9.D.2 · 5/11/18 City Check Register
	9.D.3 · 5/18/18 City Check Register
	9.D.4 · 5/25/18 City Check Register

	9.E · Schedule 4015 Capitola Road Appeal
	9.F · 38th Avenue Sidewalk to bid
	9.F.1 · 38th Avenue Plans
	9.F.2 · 38th Avenue Cost Estimate

	9.G · Call the November 6, 2018, Election
	9.G.1 · Capitola General Municipal Election info sheet

	9.H · Amend 5.24 Entertainment Permit
	10.A · Consider 2018/2019 Fiscal Year Budget
	10.A.1 · Exhibit A - Changes to Proposed Budget
	10.A.2 · Exhibit B - General Fund Summary
	10.A.3 · Exhibit C - Fund Balance Summary

	10.B · Potential Ballot Measures
	10.C · Lilbrary Bid Update
	10.D · First Reading Retail Marijuana Ordinance
	10.D.1 · Capitola Background Check Resolution

	10.E · Approve MOUs
	10.F · Adopt FY 2018-19 Fee Schedule
	10.F.1 · Exhibit A 2018-19 Fee Schedule
	10.F.2 · Exhibit B Animal Service Fees 18-19
	10.F.3 · Fee Schedule Comparison



	2018 - 2020 ACE MOU strikethrough
	2018-2020 Confidential employees MOU strikethrough
	2018-2020 Mid-Management MOU Strikethrough
	2018 Management Comp Plan 
	City Manager 4th Contract Ammendment
	Item 10.D additional material
	Item 10.E additional materials

